\mathcal{N}^{o} d'ordre :

REPUBLIQUE ALGERIENNE DEMOCRATIQUE & POPULAIRE

MINISTERE DE L'ENSEIGNEMENT SUPERIEUR & DE LA RECHERCHE SCIENTIFIQUE



UNIVERSITE DJILLALI LIABES ACULTE DES SCIENCES EXACTES SIDI BEL ABBÈS

THESE DE DOCTORAT

Présentée par

KADARI HALIMA

Spécialité : Mathématiques Option : Analyse Fonctionnelle

Intitulée

Problèmes aux limites avec des conditions en plusieurs points

Soutenue le.....

Devant le jury composé de :

Président : BENCHOHRA Mouffak, Pr, UDL SBA Examinateurs : LAZREG Jamal Eddine, MC (A), UDL SBA SLIMANI Boualam Attou, Pr, U.Tlemcen.

Directeur de thèse : OUMANSOUR Abdelrahmane, MC, A, UDL, SBA CO-Directeur de thèse : OUAHAB Abdelghani, Pr, UDL, SBA

Dédicace

Je dédie ce travail:

À mes chers parents, pour leur soutien, patience et leurs sacrifices durant mes ètudes et tout long de ce projet.

À mes fréres.

À mes sœurs.

À ma famille.

 $\grave{\mathbf{A}}$ mes amis...

Remerciements

Avant toute considération, je remercie le Grand Dieu le tout puissant qui, m'a aidé pour achever ce travail.

EN PREMIER LIEU, JE TIENS À REMERCIER MON DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE, MONSIEUR OUMANSOUR Abderrahmane Maître de conférences à l'université de Sidi Bel Abbès, pour la confiance qu'il m'a accordèe en acceptant d'encadrer ce travail doctoral, pour ses multiples conseils. Je voudrai aussi le remercier pour sa gentillesse. En fin, j'ai été extrêmement sensible à ses qualitès humaines d'ècoute et de comprèhension tout au long de ce travail doctoral.

JE DOIS BEAUCOUP À MON CO-DIRECTEUR DE THÈSE *Prof OUAHAB Abdelghani* qui a su me faire profiter de sa science. Il m'a offert son temps et sa patience. Je le remercie pour ses conseils, remarques et critiques qui ont toujours été une aide précieuse pour moi. J'ai eu un grand plaisir à travailler avec lui.

JE SUIS FLATTÉ DE L'HONNEUR QUE MONSIEUR LE *Professeur BEN-CHOHRA Mouffak* en prèside le jury de cette thèse, je lui exprime ma profonde reconnaissance. Je le remercie pour m'avoir illuminé les idées sur la théorie d'équations différentielles impulsives . Mes remerciements les plus respectueux vont aussi à Messieurs SLIMANI Boualam Attou professeur à l'université de Tlemcen, LAZREG Jamal Eddine Maître de conférences à l'université de Sidi Bel Abbès qui m'ont fait l'honneur de prendre connaissance de ce travail et d'en être examinateurs. Qu'ils trouvent ici l'expression de ma pronfonde reconnaissance.

Publications

• J. R. Graef, **H. Kadari**, A. Ouahab and A. Oumansour, Existence results for systems of second-order impulsive differential equations, *Acta Math. Uni Comenianae*, In press, pp. 1–16.

Contents

1			Introduction						
	Preliminaries								
	1.1	Some	notations and definitions	15					
	1.2	Leray-	Schauder degree	16					
	1.3	3 Coincidence degree theory							
		1.3.1	A construction of the degree mapping	17					
		1.3.2	The Leray- Schauder continuation theorem	18					
		1.3.3	Continuation theorems for $Lx = Nx$	19					
	1.4	Vector	metric space	19					
		1.4.1	Generalized metric space	20					
		1.4.2	Generalized Banach space	22					
		1.4.3	Properties and topological elements	23					
		1.4.4	Matrix convergent	30					
		1.4.5	Fixed point results	31					
	1.5	Krasr	nosel'skii fixed point theorem on cone	36					
2	Imp	oulsive	differential equations	37					
	2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditio								
	resonance								
		2.1.1	Fixed point operator	38					
		2.1.2	Existence Result	42					
		2.1.3	Example	47					

CONTENTS

	2.2	.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non loca					
		condit	ions at non resonance	48			
		2.2.1	Existence results	48			
		2.2.2	Example	56			
3	Systems of impulsive differential equations						
	3.1	Exister	nce results	59			
		3.1.1	Main Results	60			
		3.1.2	Examples	73			
	3.2	Positiv	ve solutions	75			
		3.2.1	Main results.	75			
		3.2.2	Examples	79			
	3.3	3.3 Multiple positive solutions for systems of impulsive different					
		tial eq	uation	83			
		3.3.1	Fixed point formulation	84			
		3.3.2	Existence of multiple positive solutions	90			
4	Systems of impulsive differential equations on un-bounded						
	dom	lomain					
	4.1	Main 1	esult	98			
	4.2	Examp	ble	111			
5	Implicit impulsive differential equations with non local						
	cond	conditions					
	5.1	An exi	stence result	116			
	5.2	An exa	ample	132			
Bibliography							

Introduction

The theory of impulsive differential equations have become important in some mathematical. Models of real processes and phenomena studies in physics, chimical technology, population dynamics, biotechnology and economics. The study of impulsive differential equations has initiated in the 1960's by Milman and Myshkis [74, 75]. After a period of active research, mostly in Eastern Europe from 1960-1970, culminating with the monograph by Halanay and Wexler [44].

Several mathematical schools were created, continuing the scientific research on the fundamental and qualitative theory of impulsive differential equations and their applications in the early eighties and then see for example the books [9, 32, 33, 61, 95, 111] and the papers [19, 31, 76, 77, 96, 102, 113, 115, 117].

Recently, systems of ordinary differential equations have been extensively studied. For instance, in [11, 78–81] the authors investigated the existence of solution for a system of differential equations by a means of a vector versions of fixed point theorems. Bolojan and Precup [11], studied implicit first order differential systems with nonlocal conditions by using a vector version of Krasnosel'skii's theorem, vector-valued norms, and matrices having spectral radius less than one.

Perov [86] is considere the Cauchy problem for a systems of a ordinary differential equation by using the Perov, Schauder, and Leray Schauder fixed point principles combined with a technique based on vector valued matrices that converge to zero.

Systems of ordinary impulsive boundary value problems have been stud-

ied by a number of aurhors such as, Berrezoug, Henderson and Ouahab [10], Bolojan and Precup [11], E.K. Lee and Y. H. Lee [63], Liu, Hu and Wu [69], Radhakrishnan and Balachandran [90], Sun, Chen, Nieto and M. Otero-Novoa [97].

In this thesis, we shall be concerned by boundary value problems and systems for impulsive differentiall equation, some existence results, among others things, are derived. Our results are based a vector version of fixed point theorems and degree theory.

We have arranged this thesis as follows:

In **Chapter 1**, we introduce notations, definitions, lemmas and fixed point theorems which are used throughout this thesis.

In **Chapter 2**, we prove the existence of solution for a impulsive differential equation with non local Boundary conditions at resonance:

$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(0.0.1)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.2}$$

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = J_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m,$$
(0.0.3)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (0.0.4)

where $J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_m\}, f = (f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n, I_k, J_k \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-) \text{ and } \Delta x'(t_k) = x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k^-), \text{ where } (x(t_k^+), (x'(t_k^+))) \text{ and } (x(t_k^-), x'(t_k^-)) \text{ represent the right and left hand limit of } (x(t), x'(t)) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively. Here } g = (g_1, g_2, \cdots, g_n) : J \to \mathbb{R}^n \text{ has a bounded variation satisfying}$

$$\int_0^1 dg_i(s) = 1, \ i = 1, 2, \cdots, n$$

This system is at resonance. Our analysis relies on the Leray-Schauder continuous theorem. The a priori estimates follow from the existence of an open bounded convex subset $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, such that, for each $t \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in \overline{C}$, the vector fields f(t, x, .) satisfy geometrical conditions on ∂C

The nonlocale boundary value problems of ordinary differential equations play an important role in both theory and application, and as a consequence, they have attracted a great deal of interest over the years. They

CONTENTS

are often used to model various phenomena in physics, biology, chemistry. Nonlocal problems for different classes of differential equations and systems are intensively studied in the literature by a variety of methods see for example ([14, 15, 20, 26, 27, 50, 51, 60, 82, 88, 104, 105]). Impulsive differential equations with nonlocal conditions have been studied by many authors, (see [8, 27, 28, 34, 52–54])and references therein.

In the second part of this chapter, we consider the impulsive differential equation at non resonance:

$$(p(t)x'(t))' = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \ t \in J', \tag{0.0.5}$$

$$\Delta x(t_k) = J_k(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m,$$
 (0.0.6)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = I_k(x'(t_k)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.7}$$

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (0.0.8)

where $J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_m\}, f = (f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n, p \in C^1(J, \mathbb{R}), I_k, J_k \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-) \text{ and } \Delta x'(t_k) = x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k^-), where (x(t_k^+), (x'(t_k^+)) \text{ and } (x(t_k^-), x'(t_k^-)) \text{ represent the right and left hand limits of } (x(t), x'(t)) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively, and } g = (g_1, g_2, \cdots, g_n) : J \to \mathbb{R}^n$ has bounded variation and $\int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s) = \left[\int_0^1 x'_1(s) dg_1(s), \cdots, \int_0^1 x'_n(s) dg_n(s)\right]$ and the integral is means in the Riemann - Stieljes sense, and

$$\int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} dg_i(s) \neq 1, \ i = 1, \cdots, n.$$

This systems is at non resonance. Our approach here is based on the degree theory.

In the first section of **chapter 3**, we present existence and uniquensse results for the the system of second-order impulsive differential equations with two boundary conditions:

$$-u_1''(t) = f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J', \tag{0.0.9}$$

$$-u_2''(t) = f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J', \tag{0.0.10}$$

$$-\Delta u_1' \mid_{t=t_k} = I_{1,k} u_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.11}$$

$$-\Delta u_2' \mid_{t=t_k} = I_{2,k} u_2(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.12}$$

$$-\Delta u'_2|_{t=t_k} = I_{2,k} u_2(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \quad (0.0.12)$$

$$\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u'_1(0) = 0, \quad \alpha u_2(0) - \beta u'_2(0) = 0, \quad (0.0.13)$$

$$\gamma u_1(1) + \delta u_1'(1) = 0, \ \gamma u_2(1) + \delta u_2'(1) = 0, \tag{0.0.14}$$

where α , β , γ , $\delta \ge 0$, $\rho = \beta \gamma + \alpha \gamma + \alpha \delta > 0$, J = [0,1], $0 < t_1 < 0$ $t_{2} < \cdots < t_{m} < 1, \ J' = J \setminus \{t_{1}, t_{2}, \cdots, t_{m}\}, \ f_{i} \in C(J \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}), \\ I_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}), \ i = 1, 2, \ k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, \ \Delta u' \mid_{t=t_{k}} = u_{1}(t_{k}^{+}) - u_{1}(t_{k}^{-}), \text{ and}$ $\Delta u'_2 \mid_{t=t_k} = u_2(t_k^+) - u_2(t_k^-)$ in which $u'_1(t_k^+), u'_2(t_k^+), u'_1(t_k^-), \text{ and } u'_2(t_k^-))$ denote the right and left hand limits of $u'_1(t)$ and $u'_2(t)$ at $t = t_k$, respectively. We set $J_0 = [0, t_1], J_k = (t_k, t_{k+1}], k = 1, \dots, m, t_{m+1} = 1$, and let y_k be the restriction of the function y to J_k an application of the Perov fixed point theorem and the nonlinear alternative of Leray-Schauder type. Both of these approaches make use of convergent matrices.

In the second section, we study the existence of positive solutions for the systems (0.0.9)-(0.0.14), we shall rely on the vector version of Krasnosel'skii's cone fixed point theorem.

In third section, we study the existence of three positive solutions for the systems of second order impulsive differential equations with three points boundary conditions

$$u_1''(t) + h_1(t)f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) = 0, \quad t \in J', \tag{0.0.15}$$

$$u_2''(t) + h_2(t)f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) = 0, \quad t \in J',$$
(0.0.16)

$$\Delta u_1(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \qquad (0.0.17)$$

$$\Delta u_1'(t_k) = -J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.18}$$

$$\Delta u_2(t_k) = I_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \qquad (0.0.19)$$

$$\Delta u_2(t_k) = -J_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.20}$$

$$\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u_1'(0) = a u_1(\xi), \quad u_1(1) = 0, \quad (0.0.21)$$

 $\alpha u_2(0) - \delta u'_2(0) = a u_2(\xi), \quad u_2(1) = 0,$ (0.0.22)

CONTENTS

theorem .

where $\alpha, \beta \geq 0, a, \xi \in]0, 1[, J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \dots < t_m < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \dots, t_m\}, f_i \in C(J \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+), h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+), I_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $J_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+), \Delta u_1(t_k) = u_1(t_k^+) - u_1(t_k^-), \Delta u'_1(t_k) = u'_1(t_k^+) - u'_1(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta u_2(t_k) = u_2(t_k^+) - u_2(t_k^-), \Delta u'_2(t_k) = u'_2(t_k^+) - u'_2(t_k^-)$ in which $u_1(t_k^+), u'_1(t_k^+), u_2(t_k^+), u'_2(t_k^-), u'_1(t_k^-), u'_2(t_k^-), u'_2(t_k^-))$ denote the right and left hand limit of $u_1(t), u'_1(t)$ and $u_2(t), u'_2(t)$ at $t = t_k$, respectively. Our analysis relies on vector versions of Avery and Peterson fixed-point

Chapter 4 is concerned with the existence of solutions for the system of second-order impulsive differential equations with integral boundary conditions on-un bounded domain :

$$-u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k, \tag{0.0.23}$$

$$-v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k, \tag{0.0.24}$$

$$\Delta u(t_k) = J_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad -\Delta u'(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, \quad (0.0.25)$$

$$\Delta v(t_k) = J_{2,k}(v(t_k)), \quad -\Delta v'(t_k) = I_{2,k}(v'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, \quad (0.0.26)$$

$$u(0) = \int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds, \quad u'(\infty) = 0, \tag{0.0.27}$$

$$v(0) = \int_0^\infty h_2(s)v(s)ds, \quad v'(\infty) = 0, \tag{0.0.28}$$

where $J = [0, +\infty)$, $f, g \in C(J \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, $0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < \cdots$, $t_k \to \infty$, $I_{i,k}$, $J_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, for i = 1, 2, $h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+)$ with $\int_0^\infty h_i(s) ds \neq 1$ for i = 1, 2, $u'(\infty) = \lim_{t \to \infty} u(t)$ and $v'(\infty) = \lim_{t \to \infty} v(t)$, $\Delta u(t_k) = u(t_k^+) - u(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta v(t_k) = v(t_k^+) - v(t_k^-)$, where $u(t_k^+)$ $(v(t_k^+))$ and $u(t_k^-)$ $(v(t_k^-))$ represent the righ and left hand limit of u(t) (v(t)) at $t = t_k$, respectively. $\Delta u'(t_k) = u'(t_k^+) - u'(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta v'(t_k) = v'(t_k^+) - v'(t_k^-)$, where $u'(t_k^+)$ $(v'(t_k^+))$ and $u'(t_k^-)$ $(v'(t_k^-))$ represent the righ and left hand limit of u(t) $(v'(t_k^-))$.

Using a vectorial version of Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem for sums of two operators.

Boundary value problems with integral boundary conditions on the half line for different classes of systems differential equations are intensively studied in the literature by a variety of methods (see [21, 22, 107, 114]). In **Chapter 5**, we shall establish sufficient conditions for the existence results for the implicit first order impulsive differential systems of the form

$$x'(t) = g_1(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_1(t, x'(t), y'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$

$$(0.0.29)$$

$$y'(t) = g_2(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_2(t, x'(t), y'(t)), \ t \in J',$$

$$(0.0.30)$$

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.31}$$

$$\Delta y(t_k) = J_k(y(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{0.0.32}$$

$$x(0) = \alpha[x], \tag{0.0.33}$$

$$y(0) = \beta[y]. \tag{0.0.34}$$

where $J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_m < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_m\}, h_i, g_i : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous functions for $i = 1, 2, 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_m < 1, J_k, I_k \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) \ k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}. \ \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta y(t_k) = y(t_k^+) - y(t_k^-)$ in which $x(t_k^+)$ and $x(t_k^+) (x(t_k^-), y(t_k^-))$ denote the right (left) limit of x(t) and y(t) at $t = t_k$, respectively. Next α , β are linear functionals given by Stieltjes integrals

$$\begin{split} \alpha[v] &= \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dA(s), \\ \beta[v] &= \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dB(s), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{t} \in [t_m, 1]$, using a vectorial version of Krasnoselskii s theorem. **Key words and phrases:** Impulsive differential equation, fixed point, matrix convergent to zero, generalized Banach space, Implicit differential equation, Leray-Schauder degree.

Chapter **L**

Preliminaries

In this chapter, we introduce notations, definitions, lemmas and fixed point theorems which are used throughout this thesis.

1.1 Some notations and definitions

Let $C(J, \mathbb{R})$ be the Banach space of all continuous functions from J into \mathbb{R} with the norm

$$||y||_{\infty} = \sup\{|y(t)|: 0 \le t \le T\},\$$

Let $L^1(J,\mathbb{R})$ denote the Banach space of functions $y: J \to \mathbb{R}$ that are Lebesgue integrable with norm

$$||y||_1 = \int_0^b |y(t)| dt.$$

 $AC(J,\mathbb{R})$ is the space of functions $y: J \to \mathbb{R}$, which are absolutely continuous and we let $AC^1(J,\mathbb{R})$ the space of differentiable functions

 $y: J \to \mathbb{R}$, whose first derivative, y' is absolutely continuous.

In the part we need the following definitions:

Definition 1.1.1. A subset P of a real Banach space is a cone if it is closed and moreover

(i) $P + P \subset P$, with $P \setminus \{0\} \neq \emptyset$;

- (*ii*) $\lambda P \subset P$ for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}^+$,
- (*iii*) $P \cap (-P) = \{0\}.$

A cone P definies the partial ordering in Banach space given by $u \leq v$ if and only if $v - u \in P$ we use the notation $u \prec v$ if $v - u \in K \setminus \{0\}$ and $u \neq v$ if $v - u \notin K \setminus \{0\}$. Finally $u \succeq v$ means $v \leq u$.

Definition 1.1.2. We say that $f_i : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^p \to \mathbb{R}^r$, i = 1, 2, is an L^1 -Carathéodory function if

- 1. $f_i(\cdot, x, y)$ is measurable for any $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^p$,
- 2. $f_i(t, \cdot, \cdot)$ is continuous for almost every $t \in [0, 1]$.
- 3. For each r_1 , $r_2 > 0$, there exists $\Phi_{r_1,r_2} \in L^1([0, +\infty))$ such that

$$|f(t,x,y)| \le \Phi_{r_1,r_2}(t),$$

for all $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ with $|x| \leq r_1$, $y \in \mathbb{R}^p$ with $|y| \leq r_2$, and almost all $t \in [0, 1]$.

1.2 Leray-Schauder degree

Let X and Z be Banach spaces. Let us denote by A_{λ} the set of couple $(I - f, \Omega)$, where the mapping $f : \overline{\Omega} \to Z$ is a compact and Ω is an open bounded subset of X satisfying the condition

$$0 \notin (I - f)(\partial \Omega). \tag{1.2.1}$$

A mapping deg from A_{λ} into Z will be called a Leray-Schauder degree and satisfies the following axioms (see [30]).

1. Addition-excision property. If $(I - f, \Omega) \in A_{\lambda}$ and Ω_1 and Ω_2 are disjoint open subsets in Ω such that

$$0 \notin (I - f)(\Omega \setminus (\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2)),$$

then $(I - f, \Omega_1)$ and $(I - f, \Omega_2)$ belong to A_{λ} and

$$deg(I - f, \Omega) = deg(I - f, \Omega_1) + deg(I - f, \Omega_2).$$

2. Homotopy invariance property. If Γ is open and bounded in $X \times [0,1], \mathcal{H}: \overline{\Gamma} \times [0,1] \to Z$ if

$$\mathcal{H}(x,\lambda) \neq 0$$

for each $x \in (\partial \Gamma)_{\lambda}$ and eqch $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, where

$$(\partial\Gamma)_{\lambda} = \{ x \in X : (x,\lambda) \in \partial\Gamma \}$$

then the mapping $\lambda \mapsto deg(\mathcal{H}(.,\lambda),\Gamma_{\lambda})$ is constant on [0, 1], where Γ_{λ} denotes the set

$$\{x \in X : (x, \lambda) \in \Gamma\}$$

3. Normalization property. If $(I - f, \Omega) \in A_{\lambda}$, with I - f the restriction to $\overline{\Omega}$ of a linear mapping, then $deg((I - f) - b, \Omega) = 0$ if $b \notin (I - f)(\Omega)$ and $|deg((I - f) - b, \Omega)| = 1$ if $b \in (I - f)(\Omega)$.

1.3 Coincidence degree theory

1.3.1 A construction of the degree mapping

Let X and Z be real vector normed spaces, $L: D(L) \subset X \to Z$ be a Fredholm mapping of index zero and Ω be a bounded subset of X. Let us denote by C_L the set of couples (F, Ω) , where the mapping $F: D(L) \cap \overline{\Omega} \to Z$ has the form F = L + N, with $N\overline{\Omega} \to Z$ L-compact and Ω is an open bounded subset of X satisfying the condition

$$0 \notin F(D(L) \cap \partial\Omega). \tag{1.3.1}$$

A mapping D_L from C_L into Z will be called a degree relatively to L if it is not identically zero and satisfies the following axioms (see [30]).

1. Addition-excision property. If $(F, \Omega) \in C_L$ and Ω_1 and Ω_2 are disjoint open subsets in Ω such that

$$0 \notin F[D(L) \cap (\Omega \setminus (\Omega_1 \cup \Omega_2))],$$

then (F, Ω_1) and (F, Ω_2) belong to C_L and

$$D_L(F,\Omega) = D_L(F,\Omega_1) + D_L(F,\Omega_2).$$

2. Homotopy invariance property. If Γ is open and bounded in $X \times [0,1], \mathcal{H}: (D(L) \cap \overline{\Gamma}) \times [0,1] \to Z$ has the form

$$\mathcal{H}(x,\lambda) = Lx + \mathcal{N}(\S,\lambda)$$

where $\mathcal{N}: \overline{\Gamma} \to Z$ is L-compact on $\overline{\Gamma}$ and if

$$\mathcal{H}(x,\lambda) \neq 0$$

for each $x \in (D(L) \cap \partial \Gamma)_{\lambda}$ and each $\lambda \in [0, 1]$, where

$$(\partial\Gamma)_{\lambda} = \{x \in X : (x,\lambda) \in \partial\Gamma\}$$

then the mapping $\lambda \mapsto D_L(\mathcal{H}(.,\lambda),\Gamma_\lambda)$ is constant on [0, 1], where Γ_λ denotes the set

$$\{x \in X : (x, \lambda) \in \Gamma\}$$

3. Normalization property. If $(F, \Omega) \in C_L$, with F the restriction to $\overline{\Omega}$ of a linear one-to-one mapping from D(L) into Z, then $D_L(F - b, \Omega) = 0$ if $b \notin F(D(L) \cap \Omega)$ and $|D_L(F - b, \Omega)| = 1$ if $b \in F(D(L) \cap \Omega)$).

1.3.2 The Leray- Schauder continuation theorem

Let X be a Banach space and I = [0, 1]. If $A \subset X \times I$ and $\lambda \in I$, we shall write $A_{\lambda} = \{x \in X : (x, \lambda) \in A\}$. For $a \in X$ and r > 0, B(a, r) will denote the open ball of center a and radius r. Let $\Omega \subset X \times I$ be a bounded open set with closure $\overline{\Omega}$ and boundary $\partial\Omega$ and let $F : \overline{\Omega} \to X$ be a mapping. We denote by Σ the (possibly empty) set defined by

$$\Sigma = \{ (x, \lambda) \in \overline{\Omega} : x = F(x, \lambda) \}.$$

The following assumptions were introduced by Leray and Schauder in [?].

- (H_0) $F:\overline{\Omega}\to X$ is completely continuous.
- $(H_1) \ \Sigma \cap \partial \Omega = \emptyset$ (A priori estimate).
- (H₂) Σ_0 is a finite non empty set $\{a_1, \ldots, a_\mu\}$ and the corresponding topological degree $deg[I F(., 0), \Omega_0, 0]$ is different from zero (Degree condition).

Theorem 1.3.1. [71] If conditions (H_0) , (H_1) and (H_2) hold, then Σ contains a continuum C along which λ takes all values in I.

In other words, under the above assumptions, Σ contains a compact connected subset C connecting Σ_0 to Ω_1 . In particular, the equation x = F(x, 1) has a solution in Ω_1 .

Notice that the conclusion of Theorem 1.3.1 still holds if the finiteness of the set Σ_0 is dropped from assumption (H_2) . Hence, from now on, we shall refer to assumption (H_2) as being the condition

 (H_2) $deg[I - F(., 0), \Omega_0, 0] \neq 0$ (Degree condition).

Conditions (H_0) and (H_2) are in general the easiest ones to check. Condition (H_1) requires the a priori knowledge of some properties of the solution set Σ and is in general very difficult to check.

An important special case can be stated as follows. Introduce the condition

 (H'_1) Σ is bounded (A priori bound).

1.3.3 Continuation theorems for Lx = Nx

In this part we will present an extension in the frame of coincidence degree theory, the well-known Leray-Shauder continuation theorem.

Theorem 1.3.2. [62]

Let Y and Z be real normed spaces, $L: D(L) \subset X \to Z$ be a linear and invertible, $\Omega \subseteq X$ be an bounded open neighborhood of 0, and $N: \overline{\Omega} \to Z$ be such that $L^{-1}N: \overline{\Omega} \to X$ is compact. If

$$Lx \neq \lambda Nx$$

for every $(x, \lambda) \in (D(L) \bigcap \partial \Omega) \times (0, 1)$, then equation $x = L^{-1}Nx$ has at least one solution in $D(L) \cap \overline{\Omega}$.

1.4 Vector metric space

Metric space are very important mathematics applied sciences. In [3, 16] some results in metric space theory are generalized to vector metric space theory, and some fixed point theorem in vector metric space are given.

1.4.1 Generalized metric space

In this part, we consider the notation and definition of generalized metric space in Perov's sense.

Definition 1.4.1. Let X be a non empty set. By a vector-valued metric on X we mean a map $d: X \times X \to \mathbb{R}^n$ with the following properties:

(i) $d(u,v) \ge 0$ for all $u, v \in X$, and if d(u,v) = 0, then u = v;

(ii)
$$d(u, v) = d(v, u)$$
 for all $u, v \in X$;

(*iii*) $d(u, v) \le d(u, w) + d(w, v)$ for all $u, v, w \in X$.

Here, if $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n)$, $y = (y_1, y_2, \dots, y_n)$, by $x \le y$ we mean $x_i \le y_i$ for $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$.

We call the pair (X, d) a generalized metric space with

$$d(x,y) = \begin{pmatrix} d_1(x,y) \\ \vdots \\ d_n(x,y) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Notice that d is a generalized metric space on X if and only if d_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, are metrics on X.

Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space in Perov's sens. Thus, if $x, r \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $x := (x_1, \dots, x_n)$, and $r := (r_1, \dots, r_n)$, then by $x \leq r$ we mean $x_i \leq r_i$, for each $i \in \{i, \dots, n\}$ and by x < r we mean $x_i < r_i$, for each $i \in \{i, \dots, n\}$ and by x < r we mean $x_i < r_i$, for each $i \in \{i, \dots, n\}$. Also, $|x| := (|x_1|, \dots, |x_n|)$. If, $x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $x = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$, $y = (y_1, \dots, y_n)$, then $\max(x, y) = \max(\max(x_1, y_1), \dots, \max(x_n, y_n))$. If $c \in \mathbb{R}$, then $x \leq c$ means $x_i \leq c$ for each $i = 1, \dots, n$.

Definition 1.4.2. A set X equiped with a partial order \leq is called a partially ordered set. In a partially ordered set (X, \leq) the notation x < y means $x \leq y$ and $x \neq y$. An order interval [x, y] is the set $\{z \in X : x \leq z \leq y\}$. Notice that if $x \nleq y$, then $[x, y] = \emptyset$.

Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space, we define the following metric spaces:

Let
$$X = \prod_{i=1}^{n} X_i$$
, $i = 1, \cdots, n$. Consider $\prod_{i=1}^{n} X_i$ with \bar{d} :
 $\bar{d}((x_1, \cdots, x_n), (y_1, \cdots, y_n)) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x_i, y_i)$

The diagonal space of $\prod_{i=1}^{n} X_i$ defined by

$$\bar{X} = \left\{ (x_1, \cdots, x_n) \in \prod_{i=1}^n : x_i \in X, i = 1, \cdots, n \right\}.$$

Thus it is a metric space with the following distance :

$$d_*((x, \cdots, x), (y, \cdots, y)) = \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, y).$$

Intuitively, X and \overline{X} are equivalent. This is show in the following result.

Lemma 1.4.1. Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space. Then there exists $h: X \to \overline{X}$ homeomorphisme map.

Proof. Consider $h : X \to \overline{X}$ defined by $h(x) = (x, \dots, x)$ for all $x \in X$. Obviously h is bijective. To prove that h is a continuous map Let $x, y \in X$. Thus

$$d_*(h(x), h(y)) \le \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, y).$$

For $\epsilon > 0$ we take $\delta = \left(\frac{\epsilon}{n}, \dots, \frac{\epsilon}{n}\right)$, let fixed $x_0 \in X$ and $B(x_0, \delta) = \{x \in X : d(x_0, x) < \delta\}$, then for every $x \in B(x_0, \delta)$ we have

$$d_*(h(x), h(y)) \le \epsilon.$$

Now, we consider the map $h^{-1}: \bar{X} \to X$ defined by

$$h^{-1}(x,\cdots,x_n)=x, \ (x,\cdots,x_n)\in \bar{X}.$$

To, show that
$$h^{-1}$$
 is continuous. Let $(x, \dots, x), (y, \dots, y) \in X$,
 $d(h^{-1}(x, \dots, x), h^{-1}(y, \dots, y)) = d(x, y)$.
Let $\epsilon = (\epsilon_1, \dots, \epsilon_n) > 0$ we take $\delta = \frac{\min_{1 \le i \le n} \epsilon_i}{n}$ and we fixed $x_0 \in \bar{X}$. Set
 $B((x_0, \dots, x_0), \delta) = \{(x, \dots, x) \in \bar{X} : d_*((x_0, \dots, x_0), (x, \dots, x)) < \delta\}$

For $(x, \dots, x) \in B((x_0, \dots, x_0), \delta)$ we have

$$d_*((x_0,\cdots,x_0),(x,\cdots,x)) < \delta \Rightarrow \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_0,x) < \frac{\min_{1 \le i \le n} \epsilon_i}{n}$$

Then

$$d_i(x_0, x) < \frac{\min\limits_{1 \le i \le n} \epsilon_i}{n}, \ i = 1, \cdots, n \ \Rightarrow d(x_0, x) < \epsilon_0.$$

Hence h^{-1} is continuous.

Definition 1.4.3. Let *E* be a vector space metric on $IK = \mathbb{R}$ or \mathbb{C} . A map $||.|| : E \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ is called an norm on *E* if it satisfies the following properties:

- (i) ||x|| = 0 then $x = (0, \dots, 0);$
- (ii) $\|\lambda x\| = |\lambda| \|x\|$ for $x \in E$, $\lambda \in IK$;
- (*iii*) $||x + y|| \le ||x|| + ||y||$ for every $x, y \in E$.

Remark 1.4.1. The pair (E, ||.||) is called a generalized normed space. If the generalized metric generated by ||.|| (i.e d(x, y) = ||x - y||) is complete then the espace (E, ||.||) is called a generalized Banach space, where

$$||x - y|| = \begin{pmatrix} ||x - y||_1 \\ \vdots \\ ||x - y||_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

Definition 1.4.4. Let E be a non empty set and let $\|.\|: E \to \mathbb{R}^n_+$ be a norm on E. Then, the pair $(E, \|.\|)$ is called a generalized normed space. If, moreover, $(E, \|.\|)$ has the property that any Cauchy sequence from X is convergent in norm, then we say that $(E, \|.\|)$ is a generalized Banach space.

Let $C(J,\mathbb{R}) \times C(J,\mathbb{R})$ be endowed with the vector norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined by $\|v\|_{\infty} = (\|u_1\|_{\infty}, \|u_2\|_{\infty})$ for $v = (u_1, u_2)$. It is clear that $(C(J,\mathbb{R}) \times C(J,\mathbb{R}), \|\cdot\|_{\infty})$ is a generalized Banach space.

1.4.3 Properties and topological elements

In the case of generalized metrics spaces in the sense of Perov, the notations of convergent sequence, Cauchy sequence, completeness, open and closed subset are similar to those for usual metric spaces.

Also, in what follows we present some elements of topology (see, for example, P. P Zabrejko [110], E.Zeidler [112]).

Definition 1.4.5. [16] Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space. A subset $A \subset X$ is called open if, for any $x \in A$, there exists $r \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$ with r > 0 such that $B(x_0, x) \subset A$, where $B(x_0, r) = \{x \in X : d(x_0, x) < r\}$ denote the open ball centered in x_0 with radius r, Any open ball is an open set and the collection of all open balls generates the generalized metric topology on X.

Let

$$\overline{B(x_0,r)} = \{x \in X : d(x_0,x) \le r\}$$

the closed ball centered in x_0 with radius r

Definition 1.4.6. Let (X, d) be a generalized metrics spaces a sequence b_n in X is called the Cauchy sequence, if for each $\epsilon > 0$ there exist $N \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for any $n, m \geq N$: $d(x_n, x_m) < \epsilon$.

Definition 1.4.7. An generalized metric space (X, d) is called complete if each Cauchy sequence in X converges to a limit in X.

Definition 1.4.8. Let (X, d) be a an generalized metrics space, we say that a subset $Y \subset X$ is a closed if $x_n \subset Y$ and $x_n \to x$ imply $x \in Y$ **Definition 1.4.9.** Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space. A subset C of X is called compact if every open cover of C has a finite subcover. A subset C of X is sequentially compact if every sequence in C contains a convergent subsequence with limit in C.

Definition 1.4.10. A set C of topological space is said relatively compact if its closure is compact, i.e., \overline{C} is compact. The set C is sequentially relatively compact if every sequence in C contains a convergent subsequence (the limit need not be an element of C), i.e., \overline{C} is sequentially compact.

Definition 1.4.11. [112] Let X,Y be two generalized metrics spaces $K \subset X$ and $f: K \to Y$ be a an open operator. Then f is called:

- (i) compact, if for any bounded subset $A \subset K$ we have f(A) is relatively compact or $\overline{f(A)}$ is compact;
- (ii) Complete continuous, if f is continuous and compact;
- (iii) with relatively compact range, if f is continuous an f(K) is relatively compact or $\overline{f(K)}$ is compact.

Theorem 1.4.2. Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space. For any cpmpact set $A \subset X$ and for any closed set $B \subset X$ that is disjoint from A, there exists a continuous functions $f : X \to [0,1], g : X \to [0,1] \times [0,1] \times ... [0,1] :=$ $[0,1]^n$ such that

- i) f(x) = 0 for all $x \in B$,
- ii) f(x) = 1 for all $x \in A$.
- *iii*) g(x) = (1, ..., 1) for all $x \in B$,
- *iv*) g(x) = (0, ..., 0) for all $x \in A$.

Proof. Note that $d_i(x, B) = 0$ for any $x \in B$ and $d_i(x, A) > 0$ for any $x \in A$. Thus we obtain i) and ii). Let $f: X \to [0, 1]$ be defined by

$$f(x) = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x, B)}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x, A) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x, B)}, \ x \in X.$$

1.4 Vector metric space

To prove that f is continuous, let $(x_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence convergent to $x\in X.$ Then

$$\begin{aligned} |f(x_m) - f(x)| &= \left| \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, B)}{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, B)} - \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)}{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)} \right| \\ &= \left| \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, B) \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) - \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, A) \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n + d_i(x_m, B)\right)} \right| \\ &\leq \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B) \sum_{i=1}^n \left| d_i(x_m, B) - \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B) \right|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n + d_i(x_m, B)\right)} \\ &+ \frac{\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B) \sum_{i=1}^n \left| d_i(x_m, A) - \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) \right|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x, B)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, A) + \sum_{i=1}^n d_i(x_m, B)\right)} \end{aligned}$$

Since for each $i = 1, \ldots, m$ we have

$$|d_i(x_m, B) - d_i(x, B)| \to 0, \ |d_i(x_m, A) - d_i(x, A)| \to 0 \text{ as } m \to \infty.$$

Therefore

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,A) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| d_i(x_m,B) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,B) \right|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,A) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,B)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x_m,A) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} + d_i(x_m,B)\right)} \to 0 \text{ as } m \to \infty$$

and

$$\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,A) \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| d_i(x_m,A) - \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,A) \right|}{\left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,A) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x,B)\right) \left(\sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i(x_m,A) + \sum_{i=1}^{n} + d_i(x_m,B)\right)} \to 0 \text{ as } m \to \infty.$$

Thus, we get

$$|f(x_m) - f(x)| \to 0$$
, as $m \to \infty$.

We can easily prove that the following function $g: X \to [0,1]^n$ defined by

$$g(x) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{d_1(x,A)}{d_1(x,B) + d_1(x,A)}\\ \vdots\\ \frac{d_n(x,A)}{d_n(x,B) + d_n(x,A)} \end{array}\right), \quad x \in X.$$

is continuous function and satisfied iii) and iv).

Definition 1.4.12. Let $(X, \|.\|)$ be a generalized Banach space and $U \subset X$ open subset such that $0 \in U$. The function $pu : X \to \mathbb{R}_+$ defined by

$$p_U(x) = \inf\{\alpha > 0 : x \in \alpha U\},\$$

is called the Minkowski functional of U.

Lemma 1.4.3. Let $(X, \|.\|)$ be ageneralized Banach space and $U \subset X$ open subset such that $0 \in U$. Then

i) If $\lambda \ge 0$, then $p_U(\lambda x) = \lambda p_U(x)$.

ii) If U is convex we have

a)
$$p_U(x+y) \le p_U(x) + p_U(y)$$
, for every $x, y \in U$.

- b) $\{x \in X : p_U(x) < 1\} \subset U \subset \{x \in X : p_U(x) \le 1\}.$
- c) if U is symmetric; then $p_U(x) = p_U(-x)$.
- iii) p_U is continuous.

Proof. i) Let $x \in X$ be arbitrary and $\lambda \ge 0$. We have

$$p_U(\lambda x) = \inf\{\alpha > 0 : \lambda x \in \alpha U\}$$

= $\inf\{\alpha > 0 : x \in \lambda^{-1} \alpha U\}$
= $\inf\{\lambda \beta > 0 : x \in \beta U\}$
= $\lambda \inf\{\beta > 0 : x \in \beta U\}$
= $\lambda p_U(x).$

ii) - a) Let $\alpha_1 > 0$ and $\alpha_2 > 0$ such that

$$x \in \alpha_1 U$$
 and $y \in \alpha_2 U$,

then

$$x + y \in \alpha_1 U + \alpha_2 U \Rightarrow \frac{x + y}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} \in \frac{\alpha_1}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} U + \frac{\alpha_2}{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2} U$$

Hence

$$x + y \in (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)U. \tag{1.4.1}$$

For every $\epsilon > 0$ there exist $\alpha_{\epsilon} > 0$, $\beta_{\epsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\alpha_{\epsilon} \leq p_U(x) + \epsilon$$
 and $\beta_{\epsilon} \leq p_U(x) + \epsilon$

From (1.4.1) we have

$$p_U(x+y) \le p_U(x) + p_U(y) + 2\epsilon.$$

Letting $\epsilon \to 0$ we obtain

$$p_U(x+y) \le p_U(x) + p_U(y)$$
 for every $x, y \in U$.

b) Let $x \in X$ such that $p_U(x) < 1$, then there exists $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$p_U(x) \le \alpha < 1$$
 and $x \in \alpha U \Rightarrow x = \alpha a + (1 - \alpha)0 \in U$.

Therefore

$$\{x \in X : p_U(x) < 1\} \subset U.$$

For $x \in U$ we have

$$x = \alpha x \in U, \alpha = 1 \Rightarrow p_U(x) \le 1.$$

Then

$$\{x \in X : p_U(x) < 1\} \subset U \subset \{x \in X : p_U(x) \le 1\}.$$

iii) Since $0 \in U$ then there exist r > 0 such that

$$B(0,r) = \{ x \in X : ||x|| < r_* \} \subset U,$$

where

$$||x|| = \begin{pmatrix} ||x||_1 \\ \vdots \\ ||x||_n \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } r_* = \begin{pmatrix} r \\ \vdots \\ r \end{pmatrix}.$$

Given $\epsilon > 0$, then $x + \epsilon B(0, r_*)$ is a neighborhood of x. For every $y \in x + \epsilon B(0, r_*)$ we have

$$\frac{x-y}{\epsilon} \in B(0,r_*) \Rightarrow p_U\left(\frac{x-y}{\epsilon}\right) \le 1.$$

It is clear that

$$|p_U(x) - p_U(y)| \le p_U(x - y) = \epsilon p_U\left(\frac{x - y}{\epsilon}\right) \le \epsilon.$$

Hence p_U is continuous.

Definition 1.4.13. A map (Φ_1, Φ_2) to be a map a nonnegative, continuous and convex functional coupled on a P of a generalized banach space E if $(\Phi_1, \Phi_2) : P \to \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+$ is continuous and

$$\begin{split} (\Phi_1, \Phi_2)(t(x_1, y_1) + (1-t)(x_2, y_2)) &\leq (\Phi_1, \Phi_2)(x_1, y_1) + (1-t)(\Phi_1, \Phi_2)(x_2, y_2). \\ for \ all \ (x_1, y_1), \ (x_2, y_2) \ \in P \ and \ t \in J \end{split}$$

Definition 1.4.14. A map (Ψ_1, Ψ_2) to be a map a nonnegative, continuous and concave functional coupled on a P of a generalized banach space E if $(\Psi_1, \Psi_2) : P \to \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+$ is continuous and

$$(\Psi_1, \Psi_2)(t(x_1, y_1) + (1-t)(x_2, y_2)) \ge t(\Psi_1, \Psi_2)(x_1, y_1) + (1-t)(\Psi_1, \Psi_2)(x_2, y_2).$$

for all (x_1, y_1) , $(x_2, y_2) \in P$ and $t \in J$

1.4 Vector metric space

Let (φ_1, φ_2) and (θ_1, θ_2) be a nonnegative continuous convex functionals coupled on P, (ψ_1, ψ_2) be a non negative continuous functional coupled and (ϕ_1, ϕ_2) the nonnegative continuous concave functional coupled on P. Then, for positive vector (a_1, a_2) , (b_1, b_2) and (d_1, d_2) , we define the following sets:

$$P\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2),(d_1,d_2)\right) = \left\{(u_1,u_2) \in P: \varphi_1(u_1,u_2) < d_1, \ \varphi_2(u_1,u_2) < d_2\right\},$$
$$P\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2),(\phi_1,\phi_2),(b_1,b_2),(d_1,d_2)\right) = \left\{(u_1,u_2) \in P: b_1 \le \phi_1(u_1,u_2), \\ b_2 \le \phi_2(u_1,u_2), \varphi_1(u_1,u_2) \le d_1, \ \varphi_2(u_1,u_2) \le d_2\right\}.$$

$$P\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2),(\theta_1,\theta_2),(\psi_1,\psi_2),(b_1,b_2),(c_1,c_2),(d_1,d_2)\right) = \left\{(u_1,u_2) \in P : b_1 \le \phi_1(u_1,u_2), b_2 \le \phi_2(u_1,u_2), \ \theta_1(u_1,u_2) \le c_1, \theta_2(u_1,u_2) \le c_2, \\ \varphi_1(u_1,u_2) \le d_1, \ \varphi_2(u_1,u_2) \le d_2\right\}.$$

$$P\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2),(\theta_1,\theta_2),(\psi_1,\psi_2),(b_1,b_2),(c_1,c_2),(d_1,d_2)\right) = \left\{(u_1,u_2) \in P : b_1 \le \phi_1(u_1,u_2), \ b_2 \le \phi_2(u_1,u_2), \ \theta_1(u_1,u_2) \le c_1, \\ \theta_2(u_1,u_2) \le c_2,\varphi_1(u_1,u_2) \le d_1, \ \varphi_2(u_1,u_2) \le d_2\right\}.$$

$$R\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2),(\psi_1,\psi_2),(a_1,a_2),(d_1,d_2)\right) = \left\{(u_1,u_2)\in P: a_1 \le \psi_1(u_1,u_2), a_2 \le \psi_2(u_1,u_2), \varphi_1(u_1,u_2) \le d_1, \varphi_2(u_1,u_2) \le d_2\right\}.$$

1.4.4 Matrix convergent

In this section, we introduce definitions, lemmas and theorems concerning to matrice convergent.

Definition 1.4.15. A square matrix of real numbers is said to be convergent to zero if and only if its spectral radius $\rho(M)$ is strictly less than 1.

In other words, all the eigenvalues of M are in the open unit disc, i.e., $|\lambda| < 1$ for every $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ with $det(M - \lambda I) = 0$, where I denote the identity matrix in $\mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R})$.

Theorem 1.4.4. [100] Let $M \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}_+)$; the following assertions are equivalent:

- (a) M is convergent to zero;
- (b) $M^k \to 0 \text{ as } k \to \infty;$
- (c) The matrix (I M) is nonsingular and

$$(I - M)^{-1} = I + M + M^2 + \dots + M^k + \dots;$$

(d) The matrix (I - M) is nonsingular and $(I - M)^{-1}$ has nonnegative elements.

Some examples of matrices convergent to zero, $A \in M_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R})$, which also satisfies the property $(I - A)^{-1}|I - A| \leq I$ are:

1.
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & 0 \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$$
, where $a, b \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $\max(a, b) < 1$
2. $A = \begin{pmatrix} a & -c \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$, where $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $a + b < 1$, $c < 1$

3.
$$A = \begin{pmatrix} a & -a \\ b & -b \end{pmatrix}$$
, where $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $|a - b| < 1, a > 1, b > 0$.

Lemma 1.4.5. [104] Let

$$Q = \left(\begin{array}{cc} a & -b \\ -c & d \end{array}\right)$$

where $a, b, c, d \ge 0$ and det Q > 0. Then Q^{-1} is order preserving.

Lemma 1.4.6. [13] If $A \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ is a matrix with $\rho(A) < 1$, then $\rho(A + B) < 1$ for every matrix $B \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ whose elements are small enough.

1.4.5 Fixed point results

Fixed point theory plays a major role in many of our existence principles, therefore we shall state the fixed point theorems in generalized Banach spaces. The purpose of this section is to present the version of nonlinear alternative of Leary-Schauder type in generalized Banach spaces.

Definition 1.4.16. Let (X, d) be a generalized metric space. An operator $T: X \to X$ is called contractive associated with the above d on X, if there exists a convergent to zero matrix M such that $d(T(x), T(y)) \leq Md(x, y)$ for all $x, y \in X$.

Theorem 1.4.7. ([86], [87]) (Perov's fixed point theorem) Suppose that (X, d) is a complete generalized metric space and $T : X \to X$ is a contractive operator with Lipschitz matrix M. Then T has a unique fixed point u, and for each $u_0 \in X$,

 $d(T^{k}(u_{0}), u) \leq M^{k}(I - M)^{-1}d(u_{0}, T(u_{0}))$ where $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Theorem 1.4.8. [86] (Schauder).

Let X be a Banach space, $D \subset X$ a non empty closed bounded convex set and $T: D \to D$ a completely continuous operator (i.e., T is continuous and T(D) is relatively compact). Then T has at least one fixed point.

As a consequence of Schauder fixed point theorem we present the version of non linear alternative Leary-Schauder type fixed point theorem in generalized Banach space. **Lemma 1.4.9.** Let X be a generalized Banach space, $U \subset E$ be a bounded, convex open neighborhood of zero and let $G : \overline{U} \to E$ be a continuous compact map. If G satisfies the boundary condition

$$x \neq \lambda G(x)$$

for all $x \in \partial U$ and $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, then the set $Fix(G) = \{x \in U : x = G(x)\}$ is non empty.

Proof. Let p is the Minkowski function of U and since \overline{U} is bounded, then there exists M > 0 such that

$$G(\overline{U}) \subseteq \frac{1}{2}B(0, M_*), \quad M_* = (K, \dots, K).$$

Consider $G_*: \overline{B(0, M_*)} \to \overline{B(0, M_*)}$ defined by

$$G_*(x) = \begin{cases} G(x) & \text{if } x \in \overline{U} \\ \\ \frac{1}{p(x)}G(\frac{x}{p(x)}) & \text{if } x \in E \setminus \overline{U} \end{cases}$$

Clear that $\overline{B(0, M_*)}$ is closed, convex, bounded subset of E and G_* is continuous compact operator. Then from Theorem 1.4.8 there exists $x \in \overline{B(0, M_*)}$ such that $\overline{G}(x) = x$. If $x \in E \setminus \overline{U}$ then

$$x = \frac{G\left(\frac{x}{p(x)}\right)}{p(x)} \Rightarrow \frac{x}{p(x)} = \frac{1}{p^2(x)}G\left(\frac{x}{p(x)}\right).$$

Since $x \in E \setminus \overline{U}$, then

$$p(x) = 1 \text{ or } p(x) > 1 \Rightarrow x \in \partial U, \ \frac{x}{p(x)} \in \partial U.$$

This is a contradiction with

 $z \neq \lambda G(z)$, for each, $\lambda \in [0,1]$, $z \in \partial U$.

Consequently, there exist $x_* \in U$ such that $G(x_*) = x_*$.

Theorem 1.4.10. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a generalized Banach space, $C \subset E$ a closed and convex subset, $U \subset C$ a bounded set, open (with respect to the topology C) and such that $0 \in U$. Let $G : \overline{U} \to C$ be a compact continuous mapping. If the following assumption is satisfied:

$$x \neq \lambda G(x)$$
, for all $x \in \partial_C U$ and all $\lambda \in (0, 1)$,

then f has a fixed point in U.

Proof. Let $C_* = \{x \in \overline{U} : x = \lambda G(x) \text{ for some; } \lambda \in [0,1]\}$. Since $0 \in U$ then C_* is non empty set and by the continuity of G we concluded that C_* is closed. Clear that $\partial_C U \cap C_* = \emptyset$. From Theorem 1.4.2 there exists $f : \overline{U} \to [0,1]$ such that

$$f(x) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } x \in \partial_C U \\ 1 & \text{if } x \in C_*. \end{cases}$$

Consider $G_*: C \to C$ defined by

$$G_*(x) = \begin{cases} f(x)G(x) & \text{if } x \in U \\ 0 & \text{if } x \in C \backslash U \end{cases}$$

Since $G_*(x) = 0$, for each $x \in \partial_C U$, and G_* is continuous on U, $E \setminus U$, then G_* is continuous. Set $\Omega = \overline{co}(\{0\} \cup G(\overline{U}))$ is convex and compact. We can easily prove that

$$G_*(\Omega) \subset \Omega.$$

Then from Theorem 1.4.8 there exists $x \in \Omega$ such that $G_*(x) = x$. From the definition of G_* we have G(x) = x.

From above theorem we obtain the following:

Theorem 1.4.11. Let $C \subset E$ be a closed convex subset and $U \subset C$ a bounded open neighborhood of zero(with respect to topology of C). If $G : \overline{U} \to E$ is compact continuous then

- i) either G has a fixed point in \overline{U} , or
- ii) there exists $x \in \partial U$ such that $x = \lambda G(x)$ or some $\lambda \in (0, 1)$.

Theorem 1.4.12. [35] Let X be a generalized Banach space, C be a bounded, convex open neighborhood of zero. Suppose that $N : U \to C$ is a continuous, compact (that is, N(U) is a relatively compact subset of C) map. If N satisfies the boundary condition

$$x \neq \lambda N(x)$$

for all $x \in \partial U$ and $0 \le \lambda \le 1$, then the set $Fix(N) = \{x \in U : x = N(x)\}$ is non empty.

Theorem 1.4.13. [93] Let $(X, \|.\|)$ be a generalized Banach space, D a non empty closed bounded convex subset of X and $T : D \to X$ such that:

- (i) T = G + H with $G : D \to X$ is completely continuous and $H : D \to X$ is a generalized contraction, i.e. there exists a matrix $M \in \mathcal{M}_{n \times n}(\mathbb{R}^+)$ with $\rho(M) < 1$, such that $||H(x) - H(y)|| \le M ||x - y||$ for all $x, y \in D$;
- (ii) $G(x) + H(y) \in D$ for all $x, y \in D$.

Then T has at least one fixed point in D.

Theorem 1.4.14. [33] Let X be a generalized banach space. Suppose that T and B are two operators $X \to X$ such that

- (\mathcal{A}_1) T be a completely continuous operator.
- (\mathcal{A}_2) B be a continuous and M-contraction operator.
- (\mathcal{A}_3) the matrix I M has the absolute property. If

$$\mathcal{M} = \left\{ x \in X | \quad \lambda T(x) + \lambda B\left(\frac{x}{\lambda}\right) = x \right\}$$

is bounded for all $0 < \lambda < 1$. Then the equation

$$x = T(x) + B(x), \quad x \in X,$$

has at least one solution.

Theorem 1.4.15. [33] Let P be a cone in a generalized Banach space E. Let (φ_1, φ_2) and (θ_1, θ_2) be non-negative, continuous and convex functionals coupled on P, (ψ_1, ψ_2) be a non-negative, continuous and concave functional coupled on P, and (ϕ_1, ϕ_2) be a non-negative continuous functional coupled on P satisfying $(\psi_1, \psi_2)(k_1x, k_2y) \leq (k_1\psi_1(x, y), k_2\psi_2(x, y))$ for $(0, 0) \leq (k_1, k_2) \leq (1, 1)$, such that for some positive vectors (M_1, M_2) and (d_1, d_2) , $(\phi_1, \phi_2)(x, y) \leq (\psi_1, \psi_2)(x, y)$ and $||(x, y)|| \leq (M_1\varphi_1(x, y), M_2\varphi_2(x, y))$ for all $(x, y) \in \overline{P((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (d_1, d_2))}$. Suppose that $T: \overline{P((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (d_1, d_2))} \mapsto \overline{P((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (d_1, d_2))}$

is completely continuous $T = (T_1, T_2)$ and there exist positive vectors (a_1, a_2) , (b_1, b_2) , (c_1, c_2) with $(a_1, a_2) < (b_1, b_2)$, such that the following conditions are satisfied:

 (S_1)

$$\left\{ (x,y) \in P\left(\left(\varphi_1, \varphi_2\right), \left(\theta_1, \theta_2\right), \left(\Phi_1, \Phi_2\right), \left(b_1, b_2\right) \right) : \left(\psi_1, \psi_2\right) > \left(b_1, b_2\right) \right\} \neq \emptyset$$

and

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)(T(x, y)) > (b_1, b_2) \text{ for } (x, y) \in P\left((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (\theta_1, \theta_2), (\Phi_1, \Phi_2), (b_1, b_2)\right);$$

 (S_2)

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)(T(x, y)) > (b_1, b_2)$$
 for $(x, y) \in P((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (\phi_1, \phi_2), (b_1, b_2), (d_1, d_2))$
with $(\psi_1, \psi_2)(x, y) = (a_1, a_2);$

 (S_2)

$$(0,0) \in R((\varphi_1,\varphi_2), (\phi_1,\phi_2), (a_1,a_2), (d_1,d_2)),$$
$$(\psi_1,\psi_2)(T(x,y)) < (a_1,a_2) \text{ for } (x,y) \in R\left((\varphi_1,\varphi_2), (\phi_1,\phi_2), (a_1,a_2), (d_1,d_2)\right)$$
with (ψ_1,ψ_2) with $(\psi,\psi)(x,y) = (a_1,a_2).$

 $\frac{Then \ T \ has \ at \ least \ three \ fixed \ points \ (x_1, y_1), \ (x_2, y_2), \ (x_3, y_3) \in \overline{P((\varphi_1, \varphi_2), (d_1, d_2))}, \ such \ that$

$$(\varphi_1, \varphi_2) \le (d_1, d_2), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, 3,$$

and

$$(b_1, b_2) < (\phi_1, \phi_2)(x_1, y_1), \ (a_1, a_2) < (\psi_1, \psi_2)(x_1, y_1),$$

$$(\psi_1, \psi_2)(x_2, y_2) < (b_1, b_2), \ (\psi_1, \psi_2)(x_3, y_3) < (a_1, a_2).$$
1.5 Krasnosel'skii fixed point theorem on cone.

Consider two cones K_1 and K_2 of X; the corresponding cone $K := K_1 \times K_2$ of X^2 , and we shall use the same symbol \leq to denote the partial order relations induced by K in X^2 , and by K_1 ; K_2 in X: Similarly, the same symbol \prec will be used to denote the strict order relations induced by K_1 and K_2 in X. Also, in X^2 , the symbol \prec will have the following meaning:u = $(u_1, u_2) \prec v = (v_1, v_2)$ if $u_i \prec v_i$ for i = 1, 2. For $r, R \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$; $r = (r_1; r_2)$, $R = (R_1; R_2)$, we write 0 < r < R if $0 < r_1 < R_1$ and $0 < r_2 < R_2$, and we use the notations:

$$(K_i)_{r_i,R_i} := \{ u \in K_i : r_i \le ||u|| \le R_i \} (i = 1; 2)$$

$$K_{r;R} := \{ u \in K : r_i \le ||u_i|| \le R_i \text{ for } i = 1; 2 \}$$

Clearly, $K_{r;R} = (K_1)_{r_1;R_1} \times (K_2)_{r_2;R_2}$.

Theorem 1.5.1. [85] Let $(X, \|.\|)$ be a normed linear space, $K_1, K_2 \subset X$ two cones, $K := K_1 \times K_2$; $r, R \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with 0 < r < R; and $N : K_{r,R} \to K$; $N = (N_1; N_2)$ a compact map. Assume that for each $i \in \{1, 2\}$, one of the following conditions is satisfied in $K_{r,R}$:

- (a) $N_i(u) \not\prec u_i \text{ if } ||u_i|| = r_i \text{ and } N_i(u) \not\succ u_i \text{ if } ||u_i|| = R_i;$
- (b) $N_i(u) \not\succeq u_i \text{ if } ||u_i|| = r_i \text{ and } N_i(u) \not\prec u_i \text{ if } ||u_i|| = R_i.$

Then N has a fixed point u in K with $r_i \leq ||u_i|| \leq R_i$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$.

Chapter 2

Impulsive differential equations

in this chapter we solue the problem of the existence of solution for the system of second order impulsive differential equations with non local boundary conditions. For the first case we consider:

$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(2.0.1)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m,$$
(2.0.2)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = J_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m,$$
(2.0.3)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (2.0.4)

where $J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_m\}, f = (f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n, I_k, J_k \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-) \text{ and } \Delta x'(t_k) = x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k^-), \text{ where } (x(t_k^+), (x'(t_k^+)) \text{ and } (x(t_k^-), x'(t_k^-)) \text{ represent the right and left hand limit of } (x(t), x'(t)) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively. Here } g = (g_1, g_2, \cdots, g_n) : J \to \mathbb{R}^n \text{ has a bounded variation satisfying}$

$$\int_0^1 dg_i(s) = 1, \ i = 1, 2, \cdots, n$$

This system is at resonance. Our analysis relies on the Leray-Schauder continuous theorem. The a priori estimates follow from the existence of an open bounded convex subset $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, such that, for each $t \in [0, 1]$ and $x \in \overline{C}$, the vector fields f(t, x, .) satisfy geometrical conditions on ∂C .

In the second case we consider, the following second-order impulsives differential systems with non local conditions:

$$(p(t)x'(t))' = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \ t \in J',$$
(2.0.5)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = J_k(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m,$$
(2.0.6)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = I_k(x'(t_k)), \ k = 1, \cdots, m,$$
(2.0.7)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (2.0.8)

where $J = [0,1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \cdots, t_m\}, f = (f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n, p \in C^1(J, \mathbb{R}), I_k, J_k \in C(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{R}^n), k \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\}, \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-) \text{ and } \Delta x'(t_k) = x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k^-), where (x(t_k^+), (x'(t_k^+)) \text{ and } (x(t_k^-), x'(t_k^-)) \text{ represent the righ and left hand of } (x(t), x'(t)) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively, and } g = (g_1, g_2, \cdots, g_n) : J \to \mathbb{R}^n \text{ has bounded variation and } \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s) = \left[\int_0^1 x'_1(s) dg_1(s), \dots, \int_0^1 x'_n(s) dg_n(s)\right]$ and the integral is means in the Riemann - Stieljes sense, and

$$\int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} dg_i(s) \neq 1, \ i = 1, \dots, n.$$

This systems is at non resonance.

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

2.1.1 Fixed point operator

We first introduce the sets

$$X = \begin{cases} x: J \to \mathbb{R}^n \mid x(t) \text{ is continuously differentiable for } t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \\ x'(t_k^+) \text{ and } x(t_k^+) \text{ exist at } t = t_k, \text{ and } x'(t_k^-) = x'(t_k), \ x(t_k^-) = x(t_k), \\ x(0) = 0, \ x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s) \end{cases}$$

and

$$Z = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} y: J \to \mathbb{R}^n \mid y(t) \text{ is continuous for } t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \\ y(t_k^+) \text{ exist at } t = t_k, \ and \ y(t_k^-) = y(t_k), \end{array} \right\} \times \mathbb{R}^{2nm}$$

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

For every $x \in X$, we define the norm by

$$||x||_X = \max\left\{\sup_{t\in J} |x'_1(t)|, \cdots, \sup_{t\in J} |x'_n(t)|\right\},\$$

and for every $z = (y, c) \in Z$, we define

$$||z||_{Z} = \max\left\{\sup_{t\in J} |y(t)|, |c|\right\}.$$

It can be shown that X and Z are Banach spaces .

To prove our existence result for the problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4), we will make use of the following conditions:

- (H_1) $f = (f_1, f_2, \cdots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function;
- $(H_2) \quad I_{i,k} = (I_{1,k}, I_{2,k}, \cdots, I_{n,k}), \quad J_{i,k} = (J_{1,k}, J_{2,k}, \cdots, J_{n,k}) : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ are continuous;
- $(H_3) \ g = diag(g_1, g_2, \cdots, g_n) : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}^n$ has a bounded variation satisfying:

$$\int_0^1 dg_i(s) = 1, \ i = 1, 2, \cdots, n, \text{ and } \int_0^1 e^s dg_i(s) \neq e, \ i = 1, 2, \cdots, n.$$

Let

$$Dom(L) = \{x : J \to \mathbb{R}^n : x(t) \text{ twice differentiable for } t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m\} \cap X,$$

$$L : Dom(L) \to Z, \ x \to (x'' - x', \ \Delta x(t_1), \dots, \Delta x(t_k), \Delta x'(t_1), \dots, \Delta x'(t_k)).$$

(2.1.1)

Lemma 2.1.1. If conditions (H_1) and (H_3) hold, then $L^{-1}: Z \to Dom(L)$ exist and $L^{-1}: Z \to X$ is compact.

Proof. Let $(y, a_1, \ldots, a_k, b_1, \ldots, b_k) \in Z$ be a solution of the problem

$$x''(t) - x'(t) = y(t), \quad t \in J', \tag{2.1.2}$$

$$\Delta x(t_k) = a_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.3)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = b_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{2.1.4}$$

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s).$$
 (2.1.5)

Then from (2.1.2)-(2.1.5), we have

$$x'(t) = x'(0)e^{t} + \sum_{t_k < t} b_k e^{t-t_k} + \int_0^t e^{t-s} y(s) ds.$$
 (2.1.6)

From (2.1.6) and the fact that $x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s)$, we obtain

$$x'(0)e + \sum_{k=1}^{m} b_k e^{1-t_k} + \int_0^1 e^{1-s} y(s) ds = \int_0^1 \left(x'(0)e^s + \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s-t_k} + \int_0^s e^{s-r} y(r) dr \right) dg(s).$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} x'(0)\left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s)\right) &= \int_0^1 \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s - t_k} dg(s) - \sum_{k=1}^m b_k e^{1 - t_k} + \int_0^1 \int_0^s e^{s - r} y(r) dr dg(s) \\ &- \int_0^1 e^{1 - s} y(s) ds. \end{aligned}$$

In view of condition (H_3) , (2.1.7) has a unique solution for each $(y, a_1, \ldots, a_k, b_1, \ldots, b_k) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for $k = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, and hence the linear problem

$$x''(t) - x'(t) = y(t), \quad t \in J',$$
 (2.1.8)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = a_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{2.1.9}$$

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = b_k, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{2.1.10}$$

has a unique solution x. Moreover,

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= e^t \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s - t_k} dg(s) - \sum_{k=1}^m b_k e^{1 - t_k} \right) \\ &+ e^t \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \int_0^s e^{s - r} y(r) dr dg(s) - \int_0^1 e^{1 - s} y(s) ds \right) \\ &+ \sum_{t_k < t} b_k e^{t - t_k} + \int_0^t e^{t - s} y(s) ds. \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.1.11)$$

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= (e^t - eI) \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s - t_k} dg(s) - \sum_{k=1}^m b_k e^{1 - t_k} \right) \\ &+ (e^t - eI) \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \int_0^s e^{s - r} y(r) dr dg(s) - \int_0^1 e^{1 - s} y(s) ds \right) \\ &+ \int_0^t \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s - t_k} ds + \int_0^t (t - s) e^{t - s} y(s) ds + \sum_{t_k < t} a_k. \end{aligned}$$

From (2.1.11), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x''(t) &= e^t \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \sum_{t_k < s} b_k e^{s - t_k} dg(s) - \sum_{k=1}^m b_k e^{1 - t_k} \right) \\ &+ e^t \left(eI - \int_0^1 e^s dg(s) \right)^{-1} \left(\int_0^1 \int_0^s e^{s - r} y(r) dr dg(s) - \int_0^1 e^{1 - s} y(s) ds \right) \\ &+ \sum_{t_k < t} b_k e^{t - t_k} + \int_0^t e^{t - s} y(s) ds + y(t). \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, there exist K > 0 such that

$$||x'||_X \le K ||z||_Z$$
 and $||x''||_X \le (K+1) ||z||_Z$.

Hence, L^{-1} maps bounded sets in Z into bounded sets in X. Let $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in J$ with $\tau_1 < \tau_2$ and let x belong to a bounded set in Z. Then,

$$|x'(\tau_2) - x'(\tau_1)| = \left| \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} x''(s) ds \right| \le \int_{\tau_1}^{\tau_2} |x''(s)| \, ds \le (K+1) \|z\|_Z (\tau_2 - \tau_1).$$

The right hand side tends to zero as $\tau_2 - \tau_1 \to 0$, so it follows from the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem that $L^{-1}: Z \to X$ is compact. This completes the proof of the theorem.

We next define a non linear mapping $N: X \to Z$, by

$$x \to (f(t, x, x') - x', I_1(x(t_1)), \dots, I_k(x(t_k)), J_1(x'(t_1)), \dots, J_k(x'(t_k)))), \forall x \in X$$
(2.1.12)

Then problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4) can be written as Lx = Nx for $x \in Dom(L)$. Its clearly that N is continuous on X and it takes bounded sets of X into bounded sets in Z. By lemma 2.1.1, $L^{-1}N : X \to X$ is a compact operator.

It should now be clear that to obtain a solution of the problem (2.0.2)-(2.0.4), we need to find a fixed point of the operator $L^{-1}Nx$. To accomplish this, we will use the following above result and Leary-Schauder continuation theorem.

2.1.2 Existence Result

Let $\langle . | . \rangle$ denote the usual inner product in \mathbb{R}^n . Recall that if $C \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ is an open convex neighborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then for each $x_0 \in \partial C$, there exists $\nu(x_0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

- (i) $\langle \nu(x_0) \mid x_0 \rangle > 0;$
- (ii) $C \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle \nu(x_0) \mid x x_0 \rangle < 0\}.$

Here $\nu(x_0)$ is called an *outer normal* to ∂C at x_0 and

$$\overline{C} \subset \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n : \langle \nu(x_0) \mid x - x_0 \rangle \le 0\}.$$

Theorem 2.1.2. Assume that f, I_k , J_k and g for k = 1, 2, ..., m, satisfies conditions (H_1) , (H_3) and there exists an open convex neighborhood C of 0 in \mathbb{R}^n such that the following conditions hold:

 (H_4) For each $v \in \partial C$, there is an outer normal $\nu(v)$ to ∂C at v such that

$$\langle \nu(v)|f(t,u,v)\rangle > 0, \ \langle \nu(v(t_k))|I_k(v(t_k))\rangle > 0, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m_k$$

for all $t \in J$ and $u \in \overline{C}$.

(H₅) For each $x \in X$, such that $x(t) \in \overline{C}$, for all $t \in J$ and $x(1) \in \partial C$, we have

$$M := \left\{ t \in J : \langle \nu(x'(1)) | x'(t) \rangle = \max_{s \in J} \langle \nu(x'(1)) | x'(s) \rangle \right\} \neq \{1\}. \quad (2.1.13)$$

Then the problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4) has at least one solution x such that $x'(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$.

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

Proof. Define the linear mapping $L : Dom(L) \subset X \to Z$ by (2.1.1), the non linear mapping $N : X \to Z$ by (2.1.12), and the open neighborhood Ω of 0 in X by

$$\Omega = \left\{ \begin{array}{ccc} x \in X : \ x'(t) \in C \text{ for } t \in J', \ x'(t_k^+) \in C, \\ \left(x(t_k^+) + \int_{t_k}^t x'(s) ds \right) \in C \text{ for } k = 1, 2, \dots, m \end{array} \right\}.$$

We see that

$$\overline{\Omega} = \left\{ \begin{array}{cc} x \in X : \ x'(t) \in \overline{C} \ \text{for} \ t \in J', \ x'(t_k^+) \in \overline{C}, \\ \left(x(t_k^+) + \int_{t_k}^t x'(s) ds \right) \in \overline{C} \ \text{for} \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m \end{array} \right\},$$

and

$$\partial\Omega = \left\{ x \in \overline{\Omega} : x'(t_0) \in \partial C \text{ for some } t_0 \in J \right\}.$$

Now Lemma (2.1.1) implies that L is invertible and L^{-1} is compact on $\overline{\Omega}$. We wish to show that for $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and $u \in \partial\Omega$, the problem

$$x''(t) - x'(t) = \lambda \left[f(t, x(t), x'(t)) - x'(t) \right], \ t \in J',$$
(2.1.14)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = \lambda I_k(x(t_k)), \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \qquad (2.1.15)$$

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = \lambda J_k(x'(t_k)), \qquad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \qquad (2.1.16)$$

$$x(0) = 0, \ x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (2.1.17)

has no solution. Note that (2.1.14)-(2.1.17) can be written as

$$x''(t) = (1 - \lambda)x'(t) + \lambda f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(2.1.18)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = \lambda I_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.19)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = \lambda J_k(x'(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.20)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s),$$
 (2.1.21)

Let $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and let $x(t) \in \partial \Omega$ be a possible a solution of (2.1.18)-(2.1.21). Then $x'(t) \in \overline{C}$ for $t \in J'$, $x'(t_k^+) \in \overline{C}$, $\left(x(t_k^+) + \int_{t_K}^t x'(s)ds\right) \in \overline{C}$ for $k = 1, 2, \ldots, m$, and there exist $t_0 \in J$ such that $x'(t_0) \in \partial C$. If $t_0 \in J'$, then

$$x(t) = \int_0^t x'(s)ds = \int_0^1 y(s)ds$$

where

$$y(s) = \begin{cases} x'(s), & \text{if } s \in [0, t], \\ 0, & \text{if } s \in (t, 1]. \end{cases}$$

belongs to \overline{C} for all $s \in J$. The convexity of \overline{C} implies that $x(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$ and

$$\langle \nu(x'(t_0)) | x'(t) - x'(t_0) \rangle \le 0.$$

We consider the real valued function

$$\theta: J \to \mathbb{R}$$
, defined by $t \to \theta(t) = \langle \nu(x'(t_0)) | x'(t) - x'(t_0) \rangle$

Clearly, θ attains its maximum of 0 at t_0 , By condition (H_5) , we can assume that $t_0 \in [0, 1) \setminus \{t_k, k = 1, 2, \ldots, m\}$. Consequently, if

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \theta'(t_0) &= \langle \nu(x'(t_0)) | x''(t_0) \rangle \\ &= (1-\lambda) \langle \nu(x'(t_0)) | x'(t_0) \rangle + \lambda \langle \nu(x'(t_0)) | f(t_0, x(t_0), x'(t_0)) \rangle > 0, \end{aligned}$$

we have a contradiction. Similarly, if $t_0 = 0$, then

$$0 \ge \theta'(t_0) > 0$$

which is another contradiction. If $t_0 = t_k^+$, k = 1, 2, ..., m, then for $t \in (t_k, t_{k+1}]$ we have $x(t) = x(t_k^+) + \int_{t_k}^t x'(s) ds$, so $x(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$. Since $x'(t_k^+) \in \overline{C}$, k = 1, 2, ..., m,

$$\langle \nu(x'(t_k^+)) | x'(t) - x'(t_k^+) \rangle \le 0,$$

so the function θ reaches a maximum of 0 at t_k^+ . But

$$\begin{array}{lcl} 0 = \theta'(t_k^+) &=& \langle \nu(x'(t_k^+)) | x''(t_k^+) \rangle \\ &=& (1-\lambda) \langle \nu(x'(t_k^+)) | x'(t_k^+) \rangle + \lambda \langle \nu(x'(t_k^+)) | f(t_k^+, x(t_k^+), x'(t_k^+)) \rangle > 0, \end{array}$$

which again is a contradiction. If $t_0 = t_k$, k = 1, 2, ..., m, then since $x'(t_k^+) \in \overline{C}$, we have $x'(t_k) \in \overline{C}$. Consequently

$$\langle \nu(x'(t_k)) | x'(t) - x'(t_k) \rangle \le 0,$$

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

 \mathbf{SO}

$$0 \ge \theta(t_k^+) = \langle \nu(x'(t_k)) | x'(t_k^+) - x'(t_k) \rangle = \lambda \langle \nu(x'(t_k)) | J_k(x'(t_k^+)) \rangle > 0.$$

wich is a contradictions.

Therefore the problem (2.1.18)-(2.1.21) does not have a solution, so by the Leray-Schauder continuation theorem, Theorem 2.1.2 above, problem (2.0.5)-(2.0.8) has one solution, and this proves our theorem.

The proof of the following lemma is essentially the same as the proof of Proposition 3.2 in [73], and so we omit the details.

Lemma 2.1.3. If $g: J \to \mathbb{R}^n$ satisfies

 (H_6) $g_1 = g_2 \dots, g_n = h$ and h is increasing with $\int_0^1 dh(s) = 1$,

then conditions (H_3) and (H_5) hold.

Corollary 2.1.4. Assume that conditions (H_1) , (H_2) , (H_4) and (H_6) are satisfied. Then the problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4) has at least one solution x such that $x'(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$.

Proof. The conclusion follows from Lemma 2.1.3 and Theorem 2.1.2. \Box

Corollary 2.1.5. Assume that conditions (H_1) , (H_2) and (H_4) are satisfied. Then the problem

$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(2.1.22)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.23)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = J_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.24)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = x(1),$$
 (2.1.25)

has at least one solution x such that $x'(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$.

Proof. Since $x(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) ds$, taking h(s) = s, we see that condition (H_6) hold, and the conclusion follows from corollary 2.1.4.

Corollary 2.1.6. Assume that $(H_1) - (H_4)$ hold. Then for each $\alpha \in [0, 1)$, the problem

$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \ t \in J',$$
(2.1.26)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.27)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = J_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.28)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = x'(\alpha),$$
 (2.1.29)

has at least one solution x such that $x'(t) \in \overline{C}$ for all $t \in J$.

Proof. We take

$$g_i(s) \begin{cases} 0, & \text{if } s \in [0, \alpha), \\ 1, & \text{if } s \in [\alpha, 1), \end{cases}$$
(2.1.30)

for i = 1, 2, ..., n. Then the problem (2.1.26)-(2.1.29) is equivalent to problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4). It is clear that if $1 \in M$, with M defined in (2.1.13), the same is true for α , so that condition (H_5) holds.

The case where C is a ball

In the case where $C = B_R$, the open ball in \mathbb{R}^n of center 0 and radius R > 0, we can take

$$\nu(v) = v \text{ for all } v \in \partial B_R.$$

We then have the following result.

Corollary 2.1.7. Assume that (H_1) , (H_2) , and (H_6) hold and there exists R > 0 such that

 $(H_7) \ \langle v | f(t, u, v) \rangle > 0 \ and \ \langle v(t_k) | I_k(v(t_k)) \rangle > 0 \ for \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ t \in J, \\ |u| \le R, \ and \ |v| = R.$

Then the problem (2.0.1)-(2.0.4) has at least one solution x such that $|x'(t)| \leq R$ for all $t \in J$.

We conclude our chapter with the following example to illustrate our results.

2.1 Impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at resonance

2.1.3 Example

Example 2.1.1. Consider the boundary value problem

$$x''(t) = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(2.1.31)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = J_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.32)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = I_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(2.1.33)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 g(s)x'(s)ds,$$
 (2.1.34)

where

$$f(t, u, v) = t^{2} + 4 + \frac{1}{7}(t+2)|u|^{p} + v|v|^{q}, \quad 0 \le p < q+1,$$
$$I_{k}(v(t_{k})) = \frac{1}{4}v(t_{k}), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
$$J(u(t_{k})) = \sin\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)e^{u(t_{k})} \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m.$$

and g is a arbitrary function satisfying condition (H_6) , Observe that f satisfies condition (H_1) and the functions I_k, J_k satisfies condition (H_2) for k = 1, 2, ..., m. Let B_R be an open ball in \mathbb{R}^n with center 0 and radius R > 0. For any $|u| \leq R$ and |v| = R, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \langle v \mid f(t, u, v) \rangle &= \langle v \mid t^2 + 4 + \frac{1}{7}(t+2)|u|^p + v|v|^q \rangle \\ &\geq -\sum_{i=1}^n v_i \left(\frac{3}{7}|u|^p + 5\right) + |v|^{q+2} \\ &\geq -n|v| \left(\frac{3}{7}|u|^p + 5\right) + |v|^{q+2} \\ &\geq -5nR - \frac{3}{7}R^{p+1} + R^{q+2} \ge 0. \end{aligned}$$

for sufficiently large R. Also,

$$\langle v(t_k) \mid I_k(v(t_k)) \rangle = \langle v(t_k) \mid \frac{1}{4}v(t_k) \rangle = \frac{1}{4}|v|^2 > \frac{1}{5}|v|^2 > \frac{1}{5}R^2 > 0.$$

Hence, there exists at least one solution to (2.1.31)-(2.1.34).

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

2.2.1 Existence results

In this part we present a result for the problem (2.0.5)-(2.0.8). We use the assumptions:

- (C_1) $f = (f_1, \ldots, f_n) : J \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is a continuous function,
- (C₂) $I_k = (I_{1,k}, \dots, I_{n,k}), J_k = (J_{1,k}, \dots, J_{n,k}) : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$ are continuous functions,
- (C₃) there exist R > 0 such that $\langle y | f(t, x, y) \rangle > 0$ and $\langle y(t_k) | I_k(y(t_k)) \rangle > 0$ for $k = 1, 2, ..., m, x \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $||y|| \ge R, ||y(t_k)|| \ge R$ where $\langle .|. \rangle$ means the scalar product in \mathbb{R}^n corresponding to the Euclidean norm.

$$(C_4) \ p \in C^1(J, \mathbb{R}), \ p(t) > 0 \text{ and } p'(t) \le 0, \ p(1) = 1.$$

(C₅) $g = (g_1, \ldots, g_n) : J \to \mathbb{R}^n$ and Var(g) < 0 where Var(g) means the variation of g on the interval J.

$$(C_6) \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} dg_i(s) \neq 1; \ i = 1, \dots, n$$

Let $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Then by $v \circ w$ we mean: $(v_1 w_1, \ldots, v_k w_k)$.

Before seating the result of this section we consider the following spaces.

$$PC(J, \mathbb{R}^n) = \{x : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R}^n | x \in C(J', \mathbb{R}^n), x(t_k^+) \text{ and } x(t_k^-) \text{ exist, and}$$

 $x(t_k^-) = x(t_k), k = 1, 2, \dots, m\},$

$$PC^{1}(J, \mathbb{R}^{n}) = \{ x \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}^{n}) | x \in C^{1}(J', \mathbb{R}^{n}), x'(t_{k}^{+}) \text{ and } x'(t_{k}^{-}) \text{ exist}$$

and $x'(t_{k}^{-}) = x'(t_{k}), k = 1, 2, \dots, m \}.$

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

It is easy to say that $PC^{1}(J, \mathbb{R}^{n})$ is a Banach space with the norm

$$||x||_{PC^1} = \max\left\{\sup_{t\in[0,1]} ||x(t)||, \sup_{t\in[0,1]} ||x'(t)||\right\}.$$

.

where $\|.\|$ means the Euclidean norm in \mathbb{R}^n .

Lemma 2.2.1. Let $x \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n) \bigcap C^2(J', \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a solution of the problem (2.0.5)-(2.0.8), then $x \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$ satisfies the following integral equation:

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s) \\ &+ \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I_k(x'(t_k)) dg(s) \\ &- \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau ds - \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k} p(t_k) I_k(x'(t_k)) ds \\ &+ \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(x(t_k)). \end{aligned}$$

Proof. First, suppose that $x \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n) \cap C^2(J', \mathbb{R}^n)$ is a solution to problem (2.0.5)-(2.0.8).

Then

$$(p(t)x'(t))' = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, \dots, m.$$

So,

$$p(t_k)x'(t_k^+) - x'(1) = -\int_{t_k}^1 f(s, x(s), x'(s))ds,$$

$$p(t)x'(t) - p(t_k)x'(t_k^-) = -\int_t^{t_k} f(s, x(s), x'(s))ds,$$

Thus

$$p(t)x'(t) = x'(1) - \int_t^1 f(s, x(s), x'(s))ds - p(t_k)I(x'(t_k)),$$

Repeating the above process, for $t \in J$ we have

$$x'(t) = \frac{1}{p(t)}x'(1) - \frac{1}{p(t)}\int_{t}^{1}f(s, x(s), x'(s))ds - \frac{1}{p(t)}\sum_{t < t_{k} < 1}p(t_{k})I(x'(t_{k})),$$

By using the condition $x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s)$, we have

$$x'(1) = x'(1) \int_0^1 \frac{dg(s)}{p(s)} - \int_0^1 \left(\frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau - \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) \right) dg(s),$$

which implies that

$$\begin{aligned} x'(t) &= \frac{1}{p(t)} \alpha \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s) \\ &- \frac{1}{p(t)} \alpha \circ \int_t^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \left(\sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) \right) dg(s) \\ &- \frac{1}{p(t)} \int_t^1 f(s, x(s), x'(s)) ds - \frac{1}{p(t)} \sum_{t < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)). \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\alpha_i := \left(\int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} dg_i(s) - 1 \right)^{-1}, \ i = 1, \dots, k.$$

On the other hand, note that

$$x(t_1^-) - x(0) = \int_0^{t_1} x'(s) ds,$$
$$x(t) - x(t_1^+) = \int_{t_1}^t x'(s) ds,$$

So that, we have

$$x(t) = x(0) + \int_0^t x'(s)ds + J_k(x(t_1)), \quad t \in [0, t_1].$$

Repeating the above process a gain for $t \in J$

$$x(t) = x(0) + \int_0^t x'(s)ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(x(t_k)).$$

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

Then

$$\begin{aligned} x(t) &= \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s) \\ &+ \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) dg(s) \\ &- \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau ds - \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) ds \\ &+ \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(x(t_k)). \end{aligned}$$

Let $x \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$. Define the operator A as follows

$$\begin{aligned} (Ax)(t) &= \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s) \\ &+ \alpha \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \circ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) dg(s) \\ &- \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau ds - \int_0^t \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) ds \\ &+ \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(x(t_k)), \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} (Ax)'(t) &= \alpha \circ \frac{1}{p(t)} \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_s^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s) \\ &+ \alpha \circ \frac{1}{p(t)} \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{s < t_k < 1} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) dg(s) \\ &- \frac{1}{p(t)} \int_t^1 f(s, x(s), x'(s)) ds - \frac{1}{p(t)} \sum_{t < t_k} p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)). \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 2.2.2. Suppose that the hypotheses (C_1) - (C_6) are satisfied, then the systems (2.0.5)-(2.0.8) has at least one solution. *Proof.* We show that operator A is completely continuous Let $\{x_n\}$ be a sequence such that $x_n \to x$ in $PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$.

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Ax_n)(t) - (Ax)(t)\| \\ < \sqrt{\frac{1}{q^2} \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i^2 \int_0^1 (fi(s, x_n(s), x'_n(s)) - f_i(s, x(s), x'(s)))^2 ds} \\ + \sqrt{\frac{1}{q^2} \sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i^2 \sum_{k=1}^m p^2(t_k) (I_{i,k}(x_n(t_k)) - I_{i,k}(x(t_k)))^2} \\ + \frac{1}{q} \int_0^1 \|f(s, x_n(s), x'_n(s)) - f(s, x(s), x'(s))\| ds \\ + \frac{1}{q} \sum_{k=1}^m p(t_k) \|I_k(x_n(t_k)) - I_k(x(t_k))\| \\ + \sum_{k=1}^m \|J_k(x_n(t_k)) - J_k(x(t_k))\|. \end{aligned}$$

In the other hand

$$\|(Ax_n)'(t) - (Ax)'(t)\| < \frac{1}{q} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^n \alpha_i^2 \int_0^1 (f_i(s, x_n(s), x'_n(s)) - f_i(s, x(s), x'(s)))^2 ds}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{q} \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} \alpha_i^2 \sum_{k=1}^{m} p^2(t_k) \left(I_{i,k}(x_n(t_k)) - I_{i,k}(x(t_k)) \right)^2} \\ + \frac{1}{q} \int_0^1 \| f(s, x_n(s), x'_n(s)) - f(s, x(s), x'(s)) \| ds \\ + \frac{1}{q} \sum_{k=1}^{m} p(t_k) \| I_k(x_n(t_k)) - I_k(x(t_k)) \| .$$

Since f, I and J are continuous functions, then we have

$$||Ax_n - Ax||_{PC^1} \to 0 \quad as \ n \to \infty.$$

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

A sends bounded sets into bounded sets in $PC^1(J,\mathbb{R}^n).$ Let

$$K_{R} = \left\{ x \in PC^{1}(J, \mathbb{R}^{n}) | \|x\|_{PC^{1}} \leq R \right\}, \quad B = \max_{t \in J, \ |u| \leq R, \ |v| \leq R} \|f(t, u, v)\|,$$
$$K_{1} = \max_{1 \leq k \leq m} \left\{ \max_{|v| \leq M} \|I_{k}(v)\| \right\}, \quad K_{2} = \max_{1 \leq k \leq m} \left\{ \max_{|u| \leq M} \|I_{k}(u)\| \right\},$$
$$q = \min_{0 \leq t \leq 1} |p(t)|.$$

For each $t \in J$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|Ax(t)\| &\leq \sqrt{\left(\alpha \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} ds\right)^2 + \left(\int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_0^1 f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau)) d\tau dg(s)\right)^2} \\ &+ \sqrt{\left(\alpha \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} ds\right)^2 + \left(\int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \sum_{k=1}^m p(t_k) I(x'(t_k)) dg(s)\right)^2} \\ &+ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} \int_0^1 \|f(\tau, x(\tau), x'(\tau))\| d\tau ds \\ &+ \int_0^1 \frac{1}{p(s)} ds \sum_{k=1}^m \|p(t_k)\| \|I(x'(t_k))\| + \sum_{k=1}^m \|J_k(x(t_k))\| \\ &\leq \sqrt{\frac{|\alpha|^2}{q^2} + B^2} + \sqrt{\frac{|\alpha|^2}{q^2} + m^2 K_1^2} + \frac{mK_1}{q} + \frac{B}{q} + K_2 := F_1. \end{split}$$

We have

$$\|(Ax)'(t)\| \leq \frac{1}{q}\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + B^2} + \frac{1}{q}\sqrt{|\alpha|^2 + m^2K_1^2} + \frac{mK_1}{q} + \frac{B}{q} := F_2.$$
$$\|(Ax)''(t)\| \leq \frac{1}{q}(R+B), \quad t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, \dots, m.$$

Then $||Ax||_{PC^1} \leq F$, with $F = \max(F_1, F_2)$ A maps bounded set of into equicontinuous sets, let $l_1, l_2 \in J, l_1 < l_2$ and K_R be a bounded set of $PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$. Let $x \in K_R$ then

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Ax)(l_2) - (Ax)(l_1)\| &= \int_{l_1}^{l_2} \|(Ax)'(s)\| ds \\ &\leq F_2 |l_2 - l_1|, \end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \|(Ax)'(l_2) - (Ax)'(l_1)\| &= \int_{l_1}^{l_2} \|(Ax)''(s)\| ds \\ &\leq \frac{1}{q} (R+B)(l_2-l_1) \end{aligned}$$

So, $A(K_R)$ is equicontinuous on all J_k (k=1,...,m), We can conclude that $Ax : PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n) \to PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$ is completely continuous.

Consider parameter family of problems

$$(p(t)x')' = \lambda f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$

$$\Delta x(t_k) = \lambda J_k(x(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = \lambda I_k(x'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 g(s)x'(s)ds,$$

depending on a parameter $\lambda \in [0, 1]$. We concluding that λA is a completely continuous.

Consider the homotopy

$$H: J \times PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n) \to PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^n)$$

given by

$$H(\lambda, x) = x - \lambda A x$$

in $\Omega = B(0, R)$, where R is the positive constant from the assumption (C_3) . We show that $H(\lambda, x) = 0$ has no solution for $\lambda \in J$ and $x \in \partial \Omega$. Hence $R = \max\{R_1, R_1\}$ with $R_1 = \sup_{t \in J} \|x'(t)\|$ and $R_2 = \sup_{t \in J} \|x(t)\|$. Indeed, if H(0, x) = 0 then problem (2.0.5)-(2.0.8) has only a trivial solution, which contradicts $\|x\|_{PC^1} = R$. Suppose that there exists a solution of the equation $H(\lambda, x) = 0$ when $\lambda \in]0, 1]$ and $x \in \partial \Omega$. We consider the function $\psi(t) = \|x'(t)\|^2$ otherwise there is $t_0 \in J$ such that $\psi(t_0) = \sup_{t \in J} \|x'(t)\|^2 = R^2$ (ψ has a maximum R^2 for some $t_0 \in J$.

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

If
$$t_0 \in J'|\{0,1\}$$
, then $||x'(t_0)|| = R$
 $0 = \psi'(t_0) = 2 \langle x'(t_0) | x''(t_0) \rangle$
 $= 2\lambda \left\langle x'(t_0) | \frac{f(t_0, x(t_0), x'(t_0))}{p(t_0)} - \frac{p'(t_0)}{p(t_0)} x'(t_0) \right\rangle$
 $= 2 \frac{\lambda}{p(t_0)} \langle x'(t_0) | f(t_0, x(t_0), x'(t_0)) \rangle - 2\lambda \frac{p'(t_0)}{p(t_0)} ||x'(t_0)||^2$
 $> 0,$

hence, we obtain a contradiction .

If $t_0 = t_k$ for k = 1, ..., m then $||x'(t_0)|| = R$, by assumptions (C_3) , we have

$$\begin{split} \psi(t_k^+) - \psi(t_k^-) &= \|x'(t_k^+)\|^2 - \|x'(t_k^-)\|^2 \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n |x'_i(t_k^+)|^2 - \sum_{i=1}^n |x'_i(t_k^-)|^2 \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \left(|x'_i(t_k^+)|^2 - |x'_i(t_k^-)|^2 \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \left(|x'_i(t_k^+)| + |x'_i(t_k^-)| \right) \left(|x'_i(t_k^+)| - |x'_i(t_k^-)| \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \Delta |x'_i(t_k)| \left(2|x'_i(t_k)| + \Delta |x'_i(t_k)| \right) \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^n \lambda |I_{i,k}(x'(t_k))| \left(2|x'_i(t_k)| + \lambda |I_{i,k}(x'(t_k))| \right) \\ &= 2\lambda \langle x'(t_k)|I_k(x'(t_k)) \rangle + \lambda^2 \|I_k(x'(t_k))\|^2 \\ &> 0, \end{split}$$

then $\psi(t_k^+) > R^2$ is a contradiction. If $t_0 = t_k^+$ for $k = 1, \ldots, m$, then $||x'(t_0))|| = R$. Now by assumptions (C_3) and (C_4) , we get

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &= \psi'(t_k^+) &= 2 \left\langle x'(t_k^+) | x''(t_k^+) \right\rangle \\ &= 2\lambda \left\langle x'(t_k^+) | \frac{f(t_k^+, x(t_k^+), x'(t_k^+))}{p(t_k^+)} - \frac{p'(t_k^+)}{p(t_k^+)} x'(t_k^+) \right\rangle \\ &= 2\frac{\lambda}{p(t_k^+)} \left\langle x'(t_k^+) | f(t, x(t_k^+), x'(t_k^+)) \right\rangle - 2\lambda \frac{p'(t_k^+)}{p(t_k^+)} \| x'(t_k^+) \|^2 \\ &> 0, \end{aligned}$$

hence, we obtain a contradiction .

If $t_0 = 0$, then by assumptions (C_3) and (C_4) , we obtain

$$0 = \psi'(0) = 2\frac{\lambda}{p(0)} \langle x'(0) | f(0, x(0), x'(0)) \rangle - 2\lambda \frac{p'(0)}{p(0)} \| x'(0) \|^2$$

> 0,

hence, we obtain a contradiction. If $t_0 = 1$, then

$$R^{2} = \|\psi(1)\|^{2} = \left\|\int_{0}^{1} x'(s)dg(s)\right\|^{2} \le R^{2} \int_{0}^{1} dg(s) < R^{2}.$$

is a contradiction. Now, since $x \neq \lambda Ax$ for all $x \in \partial \Omega$, by excision property of the Leray Schauder degree we conclude

$$deg(I - A, \Omega) = deg(H(1, .), \Omega)$$

= deg(H(0, .), \Omega) = 1 \neq 0,

We see that A has a fixed point Ω . Therefore, systems (2.0.5)-(2.0.8) has a solution in Ω .

2.2.2 Example

In this section, we present a simple example to explain our result. Consider the following problems:

$$(p(t)x'(t))' = f(t, x(t), x'(t)), \ t \in J',$$
(2.2.1)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = J_k(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, \dots, m,$$
(2.2.2)

$$\Delta x'(t_k) = I_k(x'(t_k)), \ k = 1, \dots, m,$$
(2.2.3)

$$x(0) = 0, \quad x'(1) = \int_0^1 x'(s) dg(s).$$
 (2.2.4)

where $p(t) = e^{-t^2+1} > 0$, $p'(t) = -2te^{-t^2+1} \le 0$ and p(1) = 1 then p(t) satisfies the condition (C_4) , g is a arbitrary functions satisfying the condition (C_5) and $f(t, x, y) = (f_1(t, x, y), f_2(t, x, y)), I_k(y(t_k)) = (I_{1,k}(y(t_k)), I_{2,k}(y(t_k))), I_{k}(x(t_k)) = (J_{1,k}(x(t_k)), J_{2,k}(x(t_k)))$

$$f_1(t, x, y) = \left(1 + \frac{1}{\pi}\sin(\pi x_1)\right) \left(1 + \cos^2 x_2\right) + bt^2 + \frac{1}{2}y_1 \left(1 + \sin^2 y_2\right),$$

2.2 Solvability of impulsive differential equations with non local conditions at non resonance

$$f_2(t, x, y) = \frac{3}{2} y_2 \left(\frac{\pi^2}{2} + \tan^2 y_1\right),$$

$$I_{1,k}(y(t_k)) = \cos\left(t_k + \frac{1}{4}\right) y_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$I_{2,k}(y(t_k)) = \sin\left(t_k + \frac{1}{4}\right) y_2(t_k), \quad k = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$J_{1,k}(x(t_k)) = A_k \arcsin x_2(t_k) - B_k \arcsin x_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, \dots, m,$$

$$J_{2,k}(x(t_k)) = \arctan(x_2(t_k) - x_1(t_k)), \quad k = 1, \dots, m.$$

with $0 < A_k < \frac{1}{\pi}$, $0 < B_k < \frac{1}{2}$, $k = 1, \ldots, m$ and 0 < b < 1. Observe that f satisfies condition (C_1) and the function J_k , I_k , $k = 1, \ldots, m$ satisfy condition (C_2) . Indeed, for any R > 1 and $||y|| \ge R$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $t \in J$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \langle y|f(t,x,y)\rangle &= y_1 \left(\left(1 + \frac{1}{\pi} \sin(\pi x_1) \right) \left(1 + \cos^2 x_2 \right) + bt^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} y_1^2 \left(1 + \sin^2 y_2 \right) \\ &+ \frac{3}{2} y_2^2 \left(\frac{\pi^2}{2} + \tan^2 y_1 \right) \\ &> \left(1 - \frac{1}{\pi} \right) y_1 + \frac{1}{2} y_1^2 + \frac{1}{2} y_2^2 \\ &> \frac{1}{2} \left(y_1 + y_1^2 + y_2^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$

If $y_1 \in]-\infty, -1] \bigcup [0, \infty[$ then $\frac{1}{2} (y_1 + y_1^2 + y_2^2) > 0$, if $y_1 \in]-1, 0[$ we obtain

$$\langle y|f(t,x,y)\rangle > \frac{1}{2}(y_1+y_1^2+y_2^2)$$

> $\frac{1}{2}(y_1+M^2)$
> $\frac{1}{2}(y_1+1)>0.$

In the other hand

$$\langle y(t_k)|I(y(t_k))\rangle = y_1^2 \cos\left(t_k + \frac{1}{4}\right) + y_2^2 \sin\left(t_k + \frac{1}{4}\right)$$

$$> y_1^2 \cos\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) + y_2^2 \sin\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)$$

$$> 0.$$

for k = 1, ..., m. Then, all the assumptions of Theorem 2.2.2 hold. Thus, the problems (2.2.1)-(2.2.4) has at least one solution in Ω .

CHAPTER

Systems of impulsive differential equations

In this chapter we study the existence and positivity of solutions for systems of ordinary impulsive differential equations with two boundary conditions, and we will establishing the multiplicity of positive solutions for the systems of second order impulsive differential equations with tree points boundary conditions.

3.1**Existence** results

This section, is concerned the existence and uniqueness of solutions for the system of second-order impulsive differential equations with two boundary conditions:

$$-u_1''(t) = f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(3.1.1)

$$-u_2''(t) = f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(3.1.2)

$$-\Delta u_1' \mid_{t=t_k} = I_{1,k} u_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$
(3.1.3)

$$-\Delta u_2' \mid_{t=t_k} = I_{2,k} u_2(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{3.1.4}$$

$$-\Delta u_2 |_{t=t_k} = I_{2,k} u_2(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

$$\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u_1'(0) = 0, \quad \alpha u_2(0) - \beta u_2'(0) = 0,$$
(3.1.4)
(3.1.4)
(3.1.5)

$$\gamma u_1(1) + \delta u_1'(1) = 0, \ \gamma u_2(1) + \delta u_2'(1) = 0,$$
 (3.1.6)

where α , β , γ , $\delta \geq 0$, $\rho = \beta \gamma + \alpha \gamma + \alpha \delta > 0$, J = [0, 1], $0 < t_1 < t_2 < 0$ $\cdots < t_m < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \dots, t_m\}, f_i \in C(J \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}), I_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}),$ $i = 1, 2, k \in \{1, 2, \dots, m\}, \Delta u' \mid_{t=t_k} = u_1(t_k^+) - u_1(t_k^-), \text{ and } \Delta u'_2 \mid_{t=t_k} = u_2(t_k^+) - u_2(t_k^-) \text{ in which } u'_1(t_k^+), u'_2(t_k^+), u'_1(t_k^-) \text{ and } u'_2(t_k^-) \text{ denote the right and left hand limits of } u'_1(t) \text{ and } u'_2(t) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively.}$

We set $J_0 = [0, t_1]$, $J_k = (t_k, t_{k+1}]$, $k = 1, \ldots, m$, $t_{m+1} = 1$, and let y_k be the restriction of the function y to J_k .

We shall provide sufficient conditions ensuring some existence and uniqueness results for system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) via an application of the Perov fixed point theorem and the non linear alternative of Leray-Schauder type.

Both of these approaches make use of convergent matrices and vector norms.

3.1.1 Main Results

We consider the space

$$PC^{2}(J,\mathbb{R}) = \{ y \in C([0,1],\mathbb{R}) : y_{k} \in C^{2}(J_{k},\mathbb{R}), \ k = 0, \dots, m, \text{ such that} \\ y'(t_{k}^{-}) \text{ and } y'(t_{k}^{+}) \text{ exist and satisfy } y'(t_{k}) = y'(t_{k}^{-}) \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, n \}.$$

$$(3.1.7)$$

Let $PC^2(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC^2(J, \mathbb{R})$ be endowed with the vector norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined by $\|v\| = (\|u_1\|_{PC^2}, \|u_2\|_{PC^2})$ for $v = (u_1, u_2)$, where for $x \in PC^2(J, \mathbb{R})$, we set $\|x\|_{PC^2} = \sup_{t \in J} |x(t)| + \sup_{t \in J} |x'(t)|$. It is clear that $(PC^2(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC^2(J, \mathbb{R}), \|\cdot\|_{PC^2})$ is a generalized Banach space. We will also need the space

$$PCA(J, \mathbb{R}) = \{ y \in C([0, 1], \mathbb{R}) : y'_k \in AC^1(J_k, \mathbb{R}), \ k = 0, \dots, m, \text{ such that} y'(t_k^-) \text{ and } y'(t_k^+) \text{ exist and satisfy } y'(t_k) = y'(t_k^-) \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, n \}$$

(3.1.8)

with the vector norm $\|\cdot\|$ defined by $\|v\| = (\|u_1\|_{PCA}, \|u_2\|_{PCA})$ for $v = (u_1, u_2)$, where for $x \in PCA(J, \mathbb{R})$, we set $\|x\|_{PCA} = \sup_{t \in J} |x(t)|$. our first we give sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of solutions to problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) using Perov's fixed point theorem. We begin with a lemma that will aid in transforming problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) into a fixed point problem that will be used in this section as well as later in this thesis

Lemma 3.1.1. The vector $(u_1, u_2) \in PC^2(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC^2(J, \mathbb{R})$ is a solution of the differential system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) if and only if

$$\begin{cases} u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t, t_k) I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \\ u_2(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_2(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t, t_k) I_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \end{cases}$$
(3.1.9)

where

$$G(t,s) = \frac{1}{\rho} \begin{cases} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t)(\beta + \alpha s), & 0 \le s \le t \le 1, \\ (\beta + \alpha t)(\gamma + \delta - \gamma s), & 0 \le t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$
(3.1.10)

Proof. Let $(u_1, u_2) \in PC^2(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC^2(J, \mathbb{R})$ be a solution of system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6). It is easy to see by an integration of (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) that

$$u'_{i}(t) = u'_{i}(0) - \int_{0}^{t} f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds - \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
(3.1.11)

Integrating again, we obtain

$$u_{i}(t) = u_{i}(0) + u_{i}'(0)t - \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds - \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))(t-t_{k}), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
(3.1.12)

Letting t = 1 in (3.1.11) and (3.1.12), we have

$$u'_{i}(1) = u'_{i}(0) - \int_{0}^{1} f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds - \sum_{k=1}^{m} I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
(3.1.13)

$$u_{i}(1) = u_{i}(0) + u_{i}'(0) - \int_{0}^{1} (1-s)f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds - \sum_{k=1}^{m} I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))(1-t_{k}), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$
(3.1.14)

Therefore,

$$\gamma u_i(1) + \delta u'_i(1) = \gamma u_i(0) + (\gamma + \delta) u'_i(0) - \int_0^1 (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds \\ - \sum_{k=1}^m I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k))(\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_k), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$

Then we have

$$\alpha u_i(0) - \beta u'_i(0) = 0$$
, for $i = 1, 2$,

and

$$\gamma u_i(0) + (\gamma + \delta) u_i'(0) = \int_0^1 (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k))(\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_k),$$

for i = 1, 2. An application of Cramer's method yields

$$u_i(0) = \frac{\beta}{\rho} \left[\int_0^1 (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)) \right]$$

and

$$u_{i}'(0) = \frac{\alpha}{\rho} \left[\int_{0}^{1} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) \right].$$

Thus,

$$u_{i}(t) = \frac{\beta}{\rho} \left[\int_{0}^{1} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) \right] \\ + \frac{\alpha t}{\rho} \left[\int_{0}^{1} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_{i}(s, u_{2}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) \right] \\ - \int_{0}^{t} (t - s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds - \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} (t - t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})), \quad for \ i = 1, 2.$$

We then have

$$u_{i}(t) = \frac{\int_{0}^{1} (\alpha t + \beta)(\gamma + \delta - \gamma s)f_{i}(s, u_{i}(s), u_{i}(s))ds - \int_{0}^{t} (t - s)(\rho)f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds}{\rho} + \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{m} (\alpha t + \beta)(\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k})I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) - \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} (t - t_{k})(\rho)I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))}{\rho},$$

for i = 1, 2. Hence,

$$\begin{cases} u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_1(s,u_1(s),u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ m}}^m G(t,t_k) I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \\ u_2(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_2(s,u_1(s),u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{\substack{k=1 \ m}}^m G(t,t_k) I_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \end{cases}$$

where G(t, s) is given in (4.1.7).

Conversely, if the vector (u_1, u_2) is a solution of (3.1.9), then

$$u_i(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_i(s, u_i(s), u_i(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t, t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \text{ for } i = 1, 2.$$

i.e.,

$$u_{i}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{1}{\rho} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t) (\beta + \alpha s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds$$

+
$$\int_{t}^{1} \frac{1}{\rho} (\beta + \alpha t) (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds$$

+
$$\sum_{t_{k} < t} \frac{1}{\rho} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t) (\beta + \alpha t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))$$

+
$$\sum_{t_{k} > t} \frac{1}{\rho} (\beta + \alpha t) (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, t \neq t_{k},$$

and

$$u_i'(t) = \frac{-\gamma}{\rho} \int_0^t (\beta + \alpha s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \frac{\alpha}{\rho} \int_t^1 (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds$$
$$+ \frac{-\gamma}{\rho} \sum_{t_k < t} (\beta + \alpha t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k))$$
$$+ \frac{\alpha}{\rho} \sum_{t_k > t} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, t \neq t_k.$$

Differentiating again, we see that

$$u_i''(t) = \frac{1}{\rho} \left(-\gamma \int_0^t (\beta + \alpha s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \alpha \int_t^1 (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds \right)'$$

= $-f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, t \neq t_k.$

,

Since

$$u_{i}(0) = \frac{\beta}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \frac{\beta}{\rho} \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})),$$

$$u_{i}'(0) = \frac{\alpha}{\rho} \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \frac{\alpha}{\rho} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})),$$

for i = 1, 2, we have that $\alpha u'_i(0) = \beta u'_i(0)$ for i = 1, 2. Also, since

$$u_{i}(1) = \frac{\delta}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} (\beta + \alpha s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \frac{\delta}{\rho} \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\beta + \alpha t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{2}(t_{k})),$$

$$u_{i}'(1) = -\frac{\gamma}{\rho} \int_{0}^{1} (\beta + \alpha s) f_{i}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \frac{-\gamma}{\rho} \sum_{t_{k} < t} (\beta + \alpha t_{k}) I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})),$$

for i = 1, 2, we have that $\gamma u_i(1) + \delta u'_i(1) = 0$ for i = 1, 2. Hence,

$$u_i(t_k^+) - u_i(t_k^-) = \frac{1}{\rho} (-\gamma(\beta + \alpha t_k) - \alpha(\gamma + \delta - \gamma t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k))) = -I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \text{ for } i = 1, 2,$$

and this completes the proof of the lemma.

We are now ready to present our main result in this section.

Theorem 3.1.2. Assume that the following conditions are satisfied:

 (H_1) There exist four positive real constants P_1 , P_2 , P_3 , and P_4 such that

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, u_1, u_2) - f_1(t, \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)| \le P_1 |u_1 - \bar{u}_1| + P_2 |u_2 - \bar{u}_2|, \\ |f_2(t, u_1, u_2) - f_2(t, \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)| \le P_3 |u_1 - \bar{u}_1| + P_4 |u_2 - \bar{u}_2|, \end{cases}$$

for each u_1 , u_2 , \bar{u}_1 , $\bar{u}_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ and each $t \in J$;

 (H_2) There exist $K_{1,k}$ and $K_{2,k}$ such that

$$|I_{1,k}(u_1) - I_{1,k}(\bar{u}_1)| \le K_{1,k}|u_1 - \bar{u}_1|, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

and

$$|I_{2,k}(u_2) - I_{2,k}(\bar{u}_2)| \le K_{2,k}|u_2 - \bar{u}_2|, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m,$$

for all u_1 , u_2 , \bar{u}_1 , $\bar{u}_2 \in \mathbb{R}$.

3.1 Existence results

If the matrix

$$M := G^* \begin{pmatrix} P_1 + mK_1 & P_2 \\ P_3 & P_4 + mK_2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.1.15)

converges to 0, where $G^* = \sup\{|G(t,s)| : (t,s) \in J \times J\}, K_1 = \max\{K_{1,k}\}, and K_2 = \max\{K_{2,k}\} for k = 1, 2, ..., m, then the problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has a unique solution.$

Proof. Consider the operator

$$N: C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R}) \to C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R})$$

defined by

$$N(u_1, u_2) = (A_1(u_1, u_2), A_2(u_1, u_2)),$$

where

$$A_1(u_1, u_2)(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t, t_k) I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)),$$

and

$$\begin{split} A_{2}(u_{1}, u_{2})(t) &= \int_{0}^{1} G(t, s) f_{2}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t, t_{k}) I_{2,k}(u_{2}(t_{k})). \\ \text{Let } (u_{1}, u_{2}), (\bar{u}_{1}, \bar{u}_{2}) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R}); \text{ then} \\ &|A_{1}(u_{1}, u_{2})(t) - A_{1}(\bar{u}_{1}, \bar{u}_{2})(t))| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G(t, s)| |f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) - f_{1}(s, \bar{u}_{1}(s), \bar{u}_{2}(s))| ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(t, t_{k})| |I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})) - I_{1,k}(\bar{u}_{1}(t_{k}))| \\ &\leq G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} [P_{1}|u_{1}(s) - \bar{u}_{1}(s)| + P_{2}|u_{2}(s) - \bar{u}_{2}(s)|] ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} K_{1,k}|u_{1}(t_{k}) - \bar{u}_{1}(t_{k})| \\ &\leq G^{*} \left(P_{1} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} K_{1,k} \right) ||u_{1} - \bar{u}_{1}||_{\infty} + G^{*}P_{2}||u_{2} - \bar{u}_{2}||_{\infty} \\ &\leq G^{*} \left[(P_{1} + mK_{1}) ||u_{1} - \bar{u}_{1}||_{\infty} + P_{2}||u_{2} - \bar{u}_{2}||_{\infty} \right], \end{split}$$

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\begin{aligned} \|A_1(u_1, u_2) - A_1(\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)\|_{\infty} &\leq G^* \left[(P_1 + mK_1) \|u_1 - \bar{u}_1\|_{\infty} + P_2 \|u_2 - \bar{u}_2\|_{\infty} \right]. \end{aligned}$$
(3.1.16) Similarly,

$$\begin{split} |A_{2}(u_{1}, u_{2})(t) - A_{2}(\bar{u}_{1}, \bar{u}_{2})(t)| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G(t, s)| |f_{2}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s)) - f_{2}(s, \bar{u}_{1}(s), \bar{u}_{2}(s))| ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(t, t_{k})| |I_{2,k}(u_{2}(t_{k})) - I_{2,k}(\bar{u}_{2}(t_{k}))| \\ &\leq G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} [P_{3}|u_{1}(s) - \bar{u}_{1}(s)| + P_{4}|u_{2}(s) - \bar{u}_{2}(s)|] ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} K_{2,k}|u_{2}(t_{k}) - \bar{u}_{2}(t_{k})|. \\ &\leq G^{*}P_{3}||u_{1} - \bar{u}_{1}||_{\infty} + G^{*} \left(P_{4} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} K_{2,k}\right) ||u_{2} - \bar{u}_{2}||_{\infty}. \\ &\leq G^{*} [P_{3}||u_{1} - \bar{u}_{1}||_{\infty} + (P_{4} + mK_{2}) ||u_{2} - \bar{u}_{2}||_{\infty}] \,, \end{split}$$

and so

$$\|A_2(u_1, u_2) - A_2(\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)\|_{\infty} \le G^* [P_3||u_1 - \bar{u}_1||_{\infty} + (P_4 + mK_2) ||u_2 - \bar{u}_2||_{\infty}].$$
(3.1.17)

From (3.1.16) and (3.1.17), we obtain

$$\begin{bmatrix} \|A_1(u_1, u_2) - A_1(\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)\|_{\infty} \\ \|A_2(u_1, u_2) - A_2(\bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)\|_{\infty} \end{bmatrix} \le M \begin{bmatrix} \|u_1 - \bar{u}_1\|_{\infty} \\ \|u_2 - \bar{u}_2\|_{\infty} \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$M = G^* \begin{pmatrix} P_1 + mK_1 & P_2 \\ P_3 & P_4 + mK_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then by (3.1.15), N is a contraction, so by Perov's fixed point theorem (Theorem 1.4.7 above), N has a unique fixed point that in turn is a solution of system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6).

In this section we give an existence result based on the non linear alternative of Leray-Schauder type. We need following conditions to obtain our result:

- (C_1) The functions f_1 and f_2 are L^1 -Carathéodory functions;
- (C₂) There exist functions p, q, h, g, \tilde{q} , and $\bar{h} \in L^1([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^+)$ and constants $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3$, and $\alpha_4 \in [0, 1)$ such that

 $|f_1(t, u_1, u_2)| \le p(t)|u_1|^{\alpha_1} + q(t)|u_2|^{\alpha_2} + h(t)$, for each $t \in J$ and $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}$

and

$$|f_2(t, u_1, u_2)| \leq \tilde{p}(t)|u_1|^{\alpha_3} + \tilde{q}(t)|u_2|^{\alpha_4} + \tilde{h}(t)$$
, for each $t \in J$ and $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}$;

(C₃) There exist constants c_k , b_k , c_k^* , and $b_k^* \in \mathbb{R}^+$ and β_k , $\beta_k^* \in [0, 1)$ such that

$$|I_{1,k}(u_1)| \le c_k + b_k |u_1|^{\beta_k}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ u_1 \in \mathbb{R}$$

and

$$|I_{2,k}(u_2)| \le c_k^* + b_k^* |u_2|^{\beta_k^*}, \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \ u_2 \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Theorem 3.1.3. If conditions (C_1) - (C_3) hold, then the system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has at least one solution.

Proof. Let N be the operator defined in the proof of Theorem 3.1.2. To show that N is continuous let $(u_{1,n}, u_{2,n})$ be a sequence such that $(u_{1,n}, u_{2,n}) \to (\tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R})$ as $n \to \infty$. Then,

$$\begin{aligned} |A_{1}(u_{1,n}, u_{2,n})(t) - A_{1}(\tilde{u}_{1}, \tilde{u}_{2})(t)| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G(t, s)| |f_{1}(s, u_{1,n}(s), u_{2,n}(s)) - f_{1}(s, \tilde{u}_{1}(s), \tilde{u}_{2}(s))| ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(t, t_{k})| |I_{1,k}(u_{n}(t_{k})) - I_{1,k}(\tilde{u}_{1}(t_{k}))| \\ &\leq G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} |f_{1}(s, u_{1,n}(s), u_{2,n}(s)) - f_{1}(s, \tilde{u}_{1}(s), \tilde{u}_{2}(s))| ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} |I_{1,k}(u_{1,n}(t_{k})) - I_{1,k}(\tilde{u}_{1}(t_{k}))|. \end{aligned}$$

Since f_1 is an L_1 -Carathéodory function and $I_{1,k}$, k = 1, 2, ..., m, are continuous, by the Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$||A_1(u_{1,n}, u_{2,n}) - A_1(\tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2)||_{\infty} \to 0, \ as \ n \to \infty.$$

Similarly,

$$||A_2(u_{1,n}, u_{2,n}) - A_2(\tilde{u}_1, \tilde{u}_2)||_{\infty} \to 0, \ as \ n \to \infty.$$

Thus, N is continuous.

In order to show that N maps bounded sets into bounded sets in $C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R})$, it suffices to show that for any q > 0 there exists a positive constant vector $l = (l_1, l_2)$ such that for each $(u_1, u_2) \in B_q = \{(u_1, u_2) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R}) : ||u_1||_{\infty} \leq q, ||u_2||_{\infty} \leq q\}$, we have

$$||N(u_1, u_2)||_{\infty} \le ||l||.$$

For each $t \in J$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |A_{1}(u_{1}, u_{2})(t)| &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G(t, s)| |f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))| ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(t, t_{k})| |I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))| \\ &\leq G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} (p(s)|u_{1}(s)|^{\alpha_{1}} + q(s)|u_{2}(s)|^{\alpha_{2}} + h(s)) \, ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(c_{k} + b_{k}|u_{1}(t_{k})|^{\beta_{k}}\right) \\ &\leq G^{*} ||u_{1}||_{\infty}^{\alpha_{1}} \int_{0}^{1} p(s) ds + G^{*} ||u_{2}||_{\infty}^{\alpha_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} q(s) ds + G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} h(s) ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(c_{k} + b_{k}||u_{1}||_{\infty}^{\beta_{k}}\right) \\ &\leq G^{*} q^{\alpha_{1}} ||p||_{L^{1}} + G^{*} q^{\alpha_{2}} ||q||_{L^{1}} + G^{*} ||h||_{L^{1}} + G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(c_{k} + b_{k} q^{\beta_{k}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$||A_1(u_1, u_2)||_{\infty} \le G^* q^{\tilde{\alpha}} \left(||p||_{L^1} + ||q||_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m b_k \right) + G^* \left(||h||_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m c_k \right) := l_1$$

where

$$\tilde{\alpha} = \max\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_k : k = 1, 2, \cdots, m\}.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\|A_2(u_1, u_2)\|_{\infty} \le G^* q^{\bar{\alpha}} \left(\|\tilde{p}\|_{L^1} + \|\tilde{q}\|_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m b_k^* \right) + G^* \left(\|\bar{h}\|_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m c_k^* \right) := l_2,$$

where

$$\bar{\alpha} = \max\{\alpha_3, \alpha_4, \beta_k^* : k = 1, 2, \cdots, m\},\$$

which is what we needed to show.

Next we show that N maps bounded sets into equicontinuous sets of $C([0,1],\mathbb{R}) \times C(J,\mathbb{R})$. Let B_q be the bounded set obtained above. Let r_1 , $r_2 \in J$ with $r_1 < r_2$ and $u \in B_q$; then we have

$$\begin{split} |A_1(u_1, u_2)(r_2) - A_1(u_1, u_2)(r_1)| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 |G(r_2, s) - G(r_1, s)| |f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s))| ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^m |G(r_2, t_k) - (G(r_1, t_k))| |I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k))| \\ &\leq \int_0^1 |G(r_2, s) - G(r_1, s)| [(p(s)|u_1(s)|^{\alpha_1} \\ &+ q(s)|u_2(s)|^{\alpha_2} + h(s))] ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^m |G(r_2, t_k) - G(r_1, t_k)| \left(c_k + b_k |u_1(s)|^{\beta_k}\right) \\ &\leq q^{\alpha_1} \int_0^1 |G(r_2, s) - G(r_1, s)| p(s) ds \\ &+ q^{\alpha_2} \int_0^1 |G(r_2, s) - G(r_1, s)| q(s) ds \\ &+ \int_0^1 |G(r_2, s) - G(r_1, s)| h(s) ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^m |G(r_2, t_k) - G(r_1, t_k)| \left(c_k + b_k q^{\beta_k}\right). \end{split}$$

Similarly, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |A_{2}(u_{1}, u_{2})(r_{2}) - A_{2}(u_{1}, u_{2})(r_{1})| \\ &\leq q^{\alpha_{3}} \int_{0}^{1} |G(r_{2}, s) - G(r_{1}, s)|\tilde{p}(s)ds \\ &+ q^{\alpha_{4}} \int_{0}^{1} |G(r_{2}, s) - G(r_{1}, s)|\tilde{q}(s)ds \\ &+ \int_{0}^{1} |G(r_{2}, s) - G(r_{1}, s)|\bar{h}(s)ds \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(r_{2}, t_{k}) - G(r_{1}, t_{k})| \left(c_{k}^{*} + b_{k}^{*}q^{\beta_{k}}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Notice that the terms on the right-hand side in the above two expressions tend to zero as $|r_2 - r_1| \to 0$. We can now apply the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem to conclude that $N: B_M \to C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(\bar{J}, \mathbb{R})$ is completely continuous.

Next, let $(u_1, u_2) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R})$ with $(u_1, u_2) = \lambda N(u_1, u_2)$ for some $0 < \lambda < 1$. Then $u_1 = \lambda A_1(u_1, u_2)$ and $u_2 = \lambda A_2(u_1, u_2)$. Thus, for $t \in [0, 1]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |u_{1}(t)| &\leq \int_{0}^{1} |G(t,s)| |f_{1}(s,u_{1}(s),u_{2}(s))| + \sum_{k=1}^{m} |G(t,t_{k})| |I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))| \\ &\leq G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} \left[(p(s)|u_{1}(s)|^{\alpha_{1}} + q(s)|u_{2}(s)|^{\alpha_{2}} + h(s) \right] ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(c_{k} + b_{k}|u_{1}(t_{k})|^{\beta_{k}} \right) \\ &\leq G^{*} ||u_{1}||_{\infty}^{\alpha_{1}} \int_{0}^{1} p(s) ds + G^{*} ||u_{2}||_{\infty}^{\alpha_{2}} \int_{0}^{1} q(s) ds + G^{*} \int_{0}^{1} h(s) ds \\ &+ G^{*} \sum_{k=1}^{m} \left(c_{k} + b_{k} ||u_{1}||_{\infty}^{\beta_{k}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$||u_1||_{\infty} \le G^* ||u_1||_{\infty}^{\alpha_1} ||p||_{L^1} + G^* ||u_2||_{\infty}^{\alpha_2} ||q||_{L^1} + G^* ||h||_{L^1} + G^* \sum_{k=1}^m \left(c_k + b_k ||u_1||_{\infty}^{\beta_k} \right).$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\|u_2\|_{\infty} \le G^* \|u_1\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_3} \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^1} + G^* \|u_2\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_4} \|\tilde{q}\|_{L^1} + G^* \|\bar{h}\|_{L^1} + G^* \sum_{k=1}^m \left(c_k^* + b_k^* \|u_2\|_{\infty}^{\beta_k^*}\right).$$

Notice that if $\epsilon \leq \delta$ and ||u|| > 1, then $||u||^{\epsilon} \leq ||u||^{\delta}$. Thus, $||u||^{\epsilon} \leq 1 + ||u||^{\delta}$ for all u.

We then have

$$\begin{split} \|u_{1}\|_{\infty} + \|u_{2}\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq G^{*}\left(\|q\|_{L^{1}} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^{1}}\right)\left(\|u_{1}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_{3}} + \|u_{2}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_{2}}\right) \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\|p\|_{L^{1}} + \|\tilde{q}\|_{L^{1}}\right)\left(\|u_{1}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_{1}} + \|u_{2}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha_{4}}\right) \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} (b_{k} + b_{k}^{*})\left(\|u_{1}\|_{C}^{\beta_{k}} + \|u_{2}\|_{C}^{\beta_{k}^{*}}\right) \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} (c_{k} + c_{k}^{*}) + \|h\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{h}\|_{L^{1}}\right) \\ &\leq G^{*}\left(\|q\|_{L^{1}} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^{1}} + \|p\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{q}\|_{L^{1}} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (b_{k} + b_{k}^{*})\right)\left(1 + \|u_{1}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha^{*}} + \|u_{2}\|_{\infty}^{\alpha^{*}}\right) \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} (c_{k} + c_{k}^{*}) + \|h\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{h}\|_{L^{1}}\right) \\ &\leq 2G^{*}\left(\|q\|_{L^{1}} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^{1}} + \|p\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{q}\|_{L^{1}} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (b_{k} + b_{k}^{*})\right)\left(\|u_{1}\|_{\infty} + \|u_{2}\|_{\infty}\right)^{\alpha^{*}} \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\|q\|_{L^{1}} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^{1}} + \|p\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{q}\|_{L^{1}} + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (b_{k} + b_{k}^{*})\right) \\ &+ G^{*}\left(\sum_{k=1}^{m} (c_{k} + c_{k}^{*}) + \|h\|_{L^{1}} + \|\bar{h}\|_{L^{1}}\right) \end{split}$$

where

$$\alpha^* = \max\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \alpha_3, \alpha_4, \beta_k, \beta_k^* : k = 1, 2, \cdots, m\}.$$
If $||u_1||_{\infty} + ||u_2||_{\infty} > 1$, then $\frac{||u_1||_{\infty} + ||u_2||_{\infty}}{(||u_1||_{\infty} + ||u_2||_{\infty})^{\alpha^*}} \leq 2G^* \left(||q||_{L^1} + ||\tilde{p}||_{L^1} + ||p||_{L^1} + ||\tilde{q}||_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m (b_k + b_k^*) \right) \\
+ G^* \frac{\left(||q||_{L^1} + ||\tilde{p}||_{L^1} + ||p||_{L^1} + ||\bar{q}||_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m (b_k + b_k^*) \right)}{(||u_1||_{\infty} + ||u_2||_{\infty})^{\alpha^*}} \\
+ G^* \frac{\sum_{k=1}^m (c_k + c_k^*) + ||h||_{L^1} + ||\bar{h}||_{L^1}}{(||u||_{\infty} + ||v||_{\infty})^{\alpha^*}},$

or

$$(\|u_1\|_{\infty} + \|u_2\|_{\infty})^{1-\alpha^*} \le 2G^* \left(\|q\|_{L^1} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^1} + \|p\|_{L^1} + \|\tilde{q}\|_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m (b_k + b_k^*) \right)$$
$$+ G^* \left(\|q\|_{L^1} + \|\tilde{p}\|_{L^1} + \|p\|_{L^1} + \|\bar{q}\|_{L^1} + \sum_{k=1}^m (b_k + b_k^*) \right)$$
$$+ G^* \left(\sum_{k=1}^m (c_k + c_k^*) + \|h\|_{L^1} + \|\bar{h}\|_{L^1} \right).$$

This implies that

$$\|u_1\|_{\infty} + \|u_2\|_{\infty} \leq \left[3G^* \left(C_1 + \sum_{k=1}^m (b_k + b_k^*) \right) + G^* \left(\sum_{k=1}^m (c_k + c_k^*) + C_2 \right) \right]^{\frac{1}{1-\alpha^*}}$$

:= M_2 ,

where

$$C_1 = ||q||_{L^1} + ||\tilde{p}||_{L^1} + ||p||_{L^1} + ||\tilde{q}||_{L^1} \text{ and } C_2 = ||h||_{L^1} + ||\bar{h}||_{L^1}.$$

Consequently

$$||u_1||_{\infty} \leq M_2 \text{ and } ||u_2||_{\infty} \leq M_2.$$

Set

$$U = \{ (u_1, u_2) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}) \times C(J, \mathbb{R}) : \|u_1\|_{\infty} < M_2 + 1 \text{ and } \|u_2\|_{\infty} < M_2 + 1 \}.$$

From the choice of U, there is no $(u_1, u_2) \in \partial U$ such that $(u_1, u_2) = \lambda N(u_1, u_2)$ for some $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. As a consequence of the non linear alternative of Leray-Schauder type (Theorem 1.4.12), the operator N has a fixed point that is a solution of system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6). This completes the proof of the theorem.

3.1.2 Examples

In this section, we give two examples to illustrate our results of this chapter.

Example 3.1.1. Consider the impulsive differential system of second order given by

$$-u_1''(t) = \frac{1}{6} \frac{u_2^2(t)}{1 + u_2^2(t)} \sin(2u_1(t)) := f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J \setminus \left\{\frac{1}{4}\right\},$$

$$(3.1.18)$$

$$-u_2''(t) = \frac{1}{8} \frac{u_2^2(t)}{1 + u_2^2(t)} \cos(2u_1(t)) := f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J \setminus \left\{\frac{1}{4}\right\},$$

$$(3.1.19)$$

$$-\Delta u_1'\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) = \frac{1}{4}\cos\left(u_1\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right), \ t_1 = \frac{1}{4},\tag{3.1.20}$$

$$-\Delta u_2'\left(\frac{1}{4}\right) = \frac{1}{3}\sin\left(u_2\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right),\qquad(3.1.21)$$

$$u_1(0) = u'_1(0) = 0, \quad u_2(0) = u'_2(0) = 0.$$
 (3.1.22)

We see that $\alpha = \delta = 1$ and $\beta = \gamma = 0$. Moreover, since

$$\sup_{\substack{u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}\\u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}}} \left| \frac{\partial f_1(t,u_1,u_2)}{\partial u_1} \right| \le \frac{1}{3}, \quad \sup_{\substack{u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}\\u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}}} \left| \frac{\partial f_1(t,u_1,u_2)}{\partial u_2} \right| \le \frac{1}{4}, \quad \sup_{\substack{u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}\\u_1,u_2\in\mathbb{R}}} \left| \frac{\partial f_2(t,u_1,u_2)}{\partial u_2} \right| \le \frac{1}{4},$$

we have

$$|f_1(t, u_1, u_2) - f_1(t, \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)| \le \frac{1}{3}|u_1 - \bar{u}_1| + \frac{1}{3}|u_2 - \bar{u}_2|,$$

and

$$|f_2(t, u_1, u_2) - f_2(t, \bar{u}_1, \bar{u}_2)| \le \frac{1}{4}|u_1 - \bar{u}_1| + \frac{1}{4}|u_2 - \bar{u}_2|.$$

Hence, condition (H_1) holds with $P_1 = \frac{1}{3}$, $P_2 = \frac{1}{3}$, $P_3 = \frac{1}{4}$, and $P_4 = \frac{1}{4}$. Also,

$$|I_{1,1}(u_1) - I_{1,1}(\bar{u}_1)| \le \frac{1}{4} |u_1 - \bar{u}_1|$$
, for each $u, \bar{u} \in \mathbb{R}$, and each $t \in [0, 1]$,

$$|I_{1,2}(u_2) - I_{1,2}(\bar{u}_2)| \le \frac{1}{3}|u_2 - \bar{u}_2|$$
, for each $u_2, \bar{u}_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, and each $t \in [0, 1]$.

Thus, (H_3) holds. From (4.1.7), the Green's function for the homogeneous problem is given by

$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} s, & 0 \le s \le t \le 1, \\ t, & 0 \le t \le s \le 1, \end{cases}$$

and we can easily see that

$$G^* = \sup_{(t,s)\in J\times J} |G(t,s)| = 1.$$

For this example

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{7}{12} & \frac{1}{3} \\ \frac{1}{4} & \frac{7}{12} \end{pmatrix},$$

which has the two eigenvalues $\lambda_1 \simeq 0.872$ and $\lambda_2 \simeq 0.294$. Therefore, M converges to zero. All the conditions in Theorem 3.1.2 are satisfied, so system (3.1.18)-(3.1.22) has a unique solution.

Example 3.1.2. Consider the impulsive differential system

$$-u_1''(t) = t^3 + 2(t-1)^2 |u_1(t)|^{0.8} + e^t |u_2(t)|^{0.3} + 3 := f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \ t \in J \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\},$$
(3.1.23)

$$-u_2''(t) = t^2 + 4t|u_1(t)|^{0.4} + \left(t - \frac{1}{3}\right)^2 |u_2(t)|^{0.6} + 8 := f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)), \quad t \in J \setminus \{\frac{1}{2}\},$$
(3.1.24)

$$-\Delta u_1'\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{6}\sqrt{u_1\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}, \ t_1 = \frac{1}{2}, \tag{3.1.25}$$

$$-\Delta u_2'\left(\frac{1}{2}\right) = \frac{2}{3}|u_2\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)|^{\frac{2}{5}} + 4, \qquad (3.1.26)$$

$$u_1(0) = u'_1(0) = 0, \ u_2(0) = u'_2(0) = 0.$$
 (3.1.27)

We clearly have

$$\begin{cases} |f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t))| \le 2|u_1|^{0.8} + e|u_2|^{0.3} + 3, \\ |f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t))| \le 4|u_1|^{0.4} + \frac{4}{9}|u_2|^{0.6} + 8, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} |I_{1,1}(u_1)| \le \frac{1}{6} |u_1|^{\frac{1}{2}}, \\ |I_{1,2}(u_2)| \le \frac{2}{3} |u_2|^{\frac{2}{5}} + 4 \end{cases}$$

for $t \in J$. Now all the hypotheses of Theorem 3.1.3 are satisfied, so system (3.1.23)-(3.1.27) has at least one solution.

3.2 Positive solutions

In this section we study the existence of positive solution for the systems (3.1.1)-(3.1.6).

The existence of positive solutions for the systems of differential equations and systems of impulsive differential equations has been inestigated by several authors (see, for instance [23, 48, 70, 85, 89]). We shall provide the existence of positive solution for the systems (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) by using the vector version of Kras-nosel'skii's fixed point theorem in cones given by [85].

3.2.1 Main results.

The problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) is formulated as a fixed point problem for a vector-valued mapping $N = (N_1, N_2)$. Then the sought solution $u := (u_1, u_2)$ will satisfy an operator system

$$\begin{cases} u_1 = N_1(u_1, u_2), \\ u_2 = N_2(u_1, u_2), \end{cases}$$
(3.2.1)

in the vector conical shell $K_{r,R}$; more exactly with $u \in K$ and

$$r_1 \le ||u_1|| \le R_1, \ r_2 \le ||u_2|| \le R_2.$$

We denote G(t, s) as the Green's function of the following boundary value problem

$$-x''(t) = 0,$$

$$\alpha x(0) - \beta x'(0) = 0,$$

$$\gamma x(1) + \delta x'(1) = 0,$$

which is explicitly given by

$$G(t,s) = \frac{1}{\rho} \begin{cases} (\gamma + \delta - \gamma t)(\beta + \alpha s), & 0 \le s \le t \le 1\\ (\beta + \alpha t)(\gamma + \delta - \gamma s), & 0 \le t \le s \le 1. \end{cases}$$

G it is positive and satisfies the easily-verified properties:

$$G(t,s) \leq G(s,s), \text{ for all } t,s \in [0,1].$$
 (3.2.2)

$$0 < \sigma G(s,s) \leq G(t,s), \ t \in [a,b], \ s \in [0,1],$$
(3.2.3)

where $a \in [0, t_1], b \in [t_m, 1]$ and $0 \le \sigma = \min\left\{\frac{(1-b)\gamma+\delta}{\gamma+\delta}, \frac{a\alpha+\beta}{\alpha+\beta}\right\} \le 1$. Let $N : P^2 \to P^2$ be the completely continuous map $N = (N_1; N_2)$ given by

$$N_i(u(t)) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) f_i(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t, t_k) I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \quad i = 1, 2. \quad (3.2.4)$$

Then (3.2.4) is equivalent to the fixed point problem

$$u = N(u), \quad u \in P^2.$$

If $v \in P$ and

$$u_i(t) := \int_0^1 G(t,s)v(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^m G(t,t_k)I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \quad (i=1,2)$$

and $u_i(t') = ||u_i||_{\infty}$ for i = (1, 2), then according to (3.2.3), for every $t \in [a, b]$, we have

$$u_i(t) \ge \sigma \int_0^1 G(s,s)v(s)ds + \sigma \sum_{k=1}^m G(t_k,t_k)I_{i,k}(u_i(t_k)), \ i = (1,2).$$

If $t' \neq t_k$ for $(k = 1, 2, \cdots, m)$, then

$$u_{i}(t) \geq \sigma \int_{0}^{1} G(t',s)v(s)ds + \sigma \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t_{k},t_{k})I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))$$

$$\geq \sigma \int_{0}^{1} G(t',s)v(s)ds + \sigma \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t',t_{k})I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) = \sigma u_{i}(t') = \sigma ||u||$$

If $t' = t_k$ for $(k = 1, 2, \cdots, m)$, then

$$u_{i}(t) \geq \sigma \int_{0}^{1} G(s,s)v(s)ds + \sigma \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t',t_{k})I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k}))$$

$$\geq \sigma \int_{0}^{1} G(t',s)v(s)ds + \sigma \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t',t_{k})I_{i,k}(u_{i}(t_{k})) = \sigma u_{i}(t') = \sigma ||u||_{PC}$$

Define the cone K_i for i = (1, 2) in P by

$$K_i = \{ u_i \in P : u_i(t) \ge \sigma \| u_i \|_{\infty}, \text{ for all } t \in [a, b] \} \ (i = 1, 2),$$

and the product cone $K = K_1 \times K_2$ in P^2 , then $N(K) \subset K$. Before we state our main result we introduce the following notations:

$$\begin{aligned} r_{i} &= \min\{\alpha_{i}, \beta_{i}\}, \quad R_{i} = \max\{\alpha_{i}, \beta_{i}\}, \text{ pour } \alpha_{i}, \beta_{i} > 0 \text{ avec } \alpha_{i} \neq \beta_{i}, \ i = 1, 2\\ \gamma_{1} &= \min\{f_{1}(t, u_{1}, u_{2}): \ a \leq t \leq b, \ \sigma\beta_{1} \leq u_{1} \leq \beta_{1}, \ \sigma r_{2} \leq u_{2} \leq R_{2}\},\\ \gamma_{2} &= \min\{f_{2}(t, u_{1}, u_{2}): \ a \leq t \leq b, \ \sigma r_{1} \leq u_{1} \leq R_{1}, \ \sigma\beta_{2} \leq u_{2} \leq \beta_{2}\},\\ \Gamma_{1} &= \max\{f_{1}(t, u_{1}, u_{2}): \ 0 \leq t \leq 1, \ \sigma\alpha_{1} \leq u_{1} \leq \alpha_{1}, \ \sigma r_{2} \leq u_{2} \leq R_{2}\},\\ \Gamma_{2} &= \max\{f_{2}(t, u_{1}, u_{2}): \ 0 \leq t \leq 1, \ \sigma r_{1} \leq u_{1} \leq R_{1}, \ \sigma\alpha_{2} \leq u_{2} \leq \alpha_{2}\}.\end{aligned}$$

Also, let

$$B = \max\{G(t,s) : 0 \le t \le 1, \ 0 \le s \le 1\},$$

$$A = \min\{G(t,s) : a \le t \le b, \ a \le s \le b\},$$

$$\lambda_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{\min\{I_{1,k}(u_1) : \sigma\beta_1 \le u_1 \le \beta_1\}\},$$

$$\lambda_2 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{\min\{I_{2,k}(u_2) : \sigma\beta_2 \le u_2 \le \beta_2\}\},$$

$$\Lambda_1 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{\max\{I_{1,k}(u_1) : \sigma\alpha_1 \le u_1 \le \alpha_1\}\},$$

$$\Lambda_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{\max\{I_{2,k}(u_2) : \sigma\alpha_2 \le u_2 \le \alpha_2\}\}.$$

Theorem 3.2.1. Assume that there exist $\alpha_i, \beta_i > 0$ with $\alpha_i \neq \beta_i, i = 1, 2$, such that

$$B(\Gamma_1 + \Lambda_1 m) \le \alpha_1, \quad A(\gamma_1(b-a) + \lambda_1 m) \ge \beta_1, B(\Gamma_2 + \Lambda_2 m) \le \alpha_2, \quad A(\gamma_2(b-a) + \lambda_2 m) \ge \beta_2.$$
(3.2.5)

Then (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has a positive solution $u = (u_1, u_2)$ with $r_i \leq ||u_i||_{\infty} \leq R_i$, i = 1, 2, where $r_i = \min\{\alpha_i, \beta_i\}$, $R_i = \max\{\alpha_i, \beta_i\}$. Moreover, the corresponding orbit of u is included in the rectangle $[\sigma r_1, R_1] \times [\sigma r_2, R_2]$.

Proof. First note that if $u \in K_{r,R}$, then $r_1 \leq ||u_1||_{\infty} \leq R_1$ and $r_2 \leq ||u_2||_{\infty} \leq R_2$, and by the definition of K,

$$\sigma r_1 \le ||u_1||_{\infty} \le R_1 \text{ and } \sigma r_2 \le ||u_2||_{\infty} \le R_2,$$

for all $t \in [a, b]$, showing that the orbit of u for $t \in [a, b]$ is included in the rectangle $[\sigma r_1, R_1] \times [\sigma r_2, R_2]$.

Also, if we know for example that $||u_1||_{\infty} = \alpha_1$, then $u_1(t) \leq \alpha_1$, for all $t \in [0, 1]$ and

$$\sigma \alpha_1 \le u_1(t) \le \alpha_1$$
, for all $t \in [a, b]$.

We now prove that for every $u \in K_{r,R}$ and $i \in \{1, 2\}$, the following properties holds:

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_i\|_{\infty} &= \alpha_i \quad \text{implies} \quad u_i \not\prec N_i(u), \\ \|u_i\|_{\infty} &= \beta_i \quad \text{implies} \quad u_i \not\succ N_i(u). \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.6)

In fact, if $||u_1||_{\infty} = \alpha_1$ and we would have $u_1 \prec N_1(u)$, then

$$u_1(t) < N_1(u)(t) \le B(\Gamma_1 + \Lambda_1 m) \le \alpha_1,$$

for all $t \in [0, 1]$. This yields the contradiction $\alpha_1 < \alpha_1$. if $||u_1||_{\infty} = \beta_1$ and $u_2 \succ N_2(u)$, then for $t \in [a, b]$, we obtain

$$u_{1}(t) > N_{1}(u)(t)$$

$$\geq \int_{a}^{b} G(t,s)f_{1}(s,u_{1}(s),u_{2}(s))ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} G(t,t_{k})I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))$$

$$\geq A(\gamma_{1}(b-a) + \lambda_{1}m) \geq \beta 1$$

Then we deduce that $\beta_1 > \beta_1$, which is a contradiction. Hence (3.2.6) holds for i = 1. Similary, (3.2.6) is true for i = 2. By Theorem (3.2.1), we see that N has at least one fixed point in K. Therefore, system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has at least one positive solution. The proof of Theorem (3.2.1) is complete.

In particular, if f_1 and f_2 do not depend on t, i.e., $f_1 = f_1(u_1, u_2)$ and $f_2 = f_2(u_1, u_2)$ and $f_1, f_2, I_{1,k}$ and $I_{2,k}$ (k = 1, 2, ..., m) have some properties in u_1, u_2 , for $u_1 \in [\sigma r_1, R_1]$ and $u_2 \in [\sigma r_2, R_2]$ then we can specify the numbers $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \Gamma_1, \Gamma_2, \lambda_1, \lambda_2, \Lambda_1, \Lambda_2$. For example

Case 1) If f_1, f_2 are nondecreasing in u_1, u_2 , while $I_{1,k}$ and $I_{2,k}$ are nondecreasing respectively in u_1 and u_2 for (k = 1, 2, ..., m), then

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma_1 = f_1(\alpha_1, R_2), &\gamma_1 = f_1(\sigma\beta_1, \sigma r_2), \\ &\Gamma_2 = f_2(R_1, \alpha_2), &\gamma_2 = f_2(\sigma r_1, \sigma\beta_2), \\ &\Lambda_1 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\alpha_1)\}, &\lambda_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\sigma\beta_1)\}, \\ &\Lambda_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\alpha_2)\}, &\lambda_2 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\sigma\beta_2)\}. \end{split}$$

Case2) If f_1 is nondecreasing in u_1 and u_2 , while f_2 is nondecreasing in u_1 and nonincreasing in u_2 , on the other hand if $I_{1,k}$ is nondecreasing in u_1 and $I_{2,k}$ is nonincreasing in u_2 for (k = 1, 2, ..., m)

$$\begin{split} & \Gamma_1 = f_1(\alpha_1, R_2), & \gamma_1 = f_1(\sigma\beta_1, \sigma r_2), \\ & \Gamma_2 = f_2(R_1, \sigma\alpha_2), & \gamma_2 = f_2(\sigma r_1, \beta_2), \\ & \Lambda_1 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\alpha_1)\}, & \lambda_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\sigma\beta_1)\}, \\ & \Lambda_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\sigma\alpha_2)\}, & \lambda_2 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\beta_2)\}. \end{split}$$

Case 3) If f_1 is nondecreasing in u_1 and non increasing in u_2 , while f_2 is nonincreasing in u_1 and nondecreasing in u_2 , on the other hand if $I_{1,k}$ is nonincreasing in u_1 and $I_{2,k}$ is nondecreasing in u_2 for (k = 1, 2, ..., m)

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma_1 = f_1(\alpha_1, \sigma r_2), &\gamma_1 = f_1(\sigma\beta_1, R_2), \\ &\Gamma_2 = f_2(\sigma r_1, \alpha_2), &\gamma_2 = f_2(R_1, \sigma\beta_2), \\ &\Lambda_1 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\sigma\alpha_1)\}, &\lambda_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\beta_1)\}, \\ &\Lambda_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\alpha_2)\}, &\lambda_2 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\sigma\beta_2)\} \end{split}$$

Case 4) If f_1, f_2 are nondecreasing in u_1 and nonincreasing in u_2 , while $I_{1,k}$ is nondecreasing in u_1 and $I_{2,k}$ is nonincreasing in u_2 for (k = 1, 2, ..., m), then

$$\begin{split} &\Gamma_1 = f_1(\alpha_1, \sigma r_2), &\gamma_1 = f_1(\sigma\beta_1, R_2), \\ &\Gamma_2 = f_2(R_1, \sigma\alpha_2), &\gamma_2 = f_2(\sigma r_1, \beta_2), \\ &\Lambda_1 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\alpha_1)\}, &\lambda_1 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{1,k}(\sigma\beta_1)\}, \\ &\Lambda_2 = \max_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\sigma\alpha_2)\}, &\lambda_2 = \min_{1 \le k \le m} \{I_{2,k}(\beta_2)\}. \end{split}$$

3.2.2 Examples

We conclude by two examples illustrating Theorem (3.2.1) in the cases 1 and 4.

Example 3.2.1. Consider the following second-order impulsive systems:

$$u_1''(t) + u_1^{\theta} + u_2^{\varepsilon} = 0, \quad 0 < \theta < \varepsilon < 1 \quad t \neq \frac{1}{4} \quad 0 \le t \le 1,$$
 (3.2.7)

$$u_2''(t) + u_1^{\varepsilon} + u_2^{\theta} = 0, \quad 0 < \theta < \varepsilon < 1 \quad t \neq \frac{1}{4} \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$
 (3.2.8)

$$-\Delta u_1' \mid_{t=\frac{1}{4}} = c \sqrt{u_1 \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}, \quad c > 0, \tag{3.2.9}$$

$$-\Delta u_{2}' \mid_{t=\frac{1}{4}} = d \sqrt{u_{2} \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}, \quad d > 0, \qquad (3.2.10)$$

$$u_1(0) - u'_1(0) = 0, \quad u_1(1) - u'_1(1) = 0,$$
 (3.2.11)

$$u_2(0) + u'_2(0) = 0, \quad u_2(1) + u'_2(1) = 0,$$
 (3.2.12)

We can establish that (3.2.7)-(3.2.12) has at least one positive solution $u = (u_1, u_2)$.

Let

$$f_1(u_1, u_2) = u_1^{\theta} + u_2^{\varepsilon}, \ f_2(u_1, u_2) = u_1^{\varepsilon} + u_2^{\theta},$$

and

$$I_{1,1}\left(u_1\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right) = c\sqrt{u_1\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}, \ I_{1,2}\left(u_1\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)\right) = d\sqrt{u_2\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}.$$

The system (3.2.7)-(3.2.12) is equivalent to the integral system:

$$\begin{cases} u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s)[u_1(s)^{\theta} + u_2(s)^{\varepsilon}]ds + cG\left(t,\frac{1}{4}\right)\sqrt{u_1\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}, \\ u_2(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s)\left[u_1(s)^{\varepsilon} + u_2(s)^{\theta}\right]ds + dG\left(t,\frac{1}{4}\right)\sqrt{u_2\left(\frac{1}{4}\right)}. \end{cases}$$

Where G(t, s) is a Green function

$$G(t,s) = \frac{1}{3} \begin{cases} (2-t)(1+s), & 0 \le s \le t \le 1\\ (2-s)(1+t), & 0 \le t \le s \le 1 \end{cases}$$

Clearly $B = \frac{9}{4}$ and $A = \sigma$. In this case $f_1(u_1, u_2)$ and $f_2(u_1, u_2)$ are both nondecreasing in u_1 and u_2 , while $I_{1,1}$ and $I_{2,1}$ are nondecreasing respectively

in u_1 and u_2 for $k \in \{1, \dots, m\}$, $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$, so we are in case 1. We choose $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 =: \alpha^*$, $\beta_1 = \beta_2 =: \beta^*$, with $\beta^* < \alpha^*$ then $r_1 = r_2 = \beta^*$, $R_1 = R_2 = \alpha^*$ and $\gamma_i = f_i(\sigma\beta^*, \sigma\beta^*)$, $\Gamma_i = f_i(\alpha^*, \alpha^*)$, $\Lambda_i = I_{i,1}(\alpha^*)$, $\lambda_i = I_{i,2}(\sigma\beta^*)$ for (i=1,2)

The values of α^* and β^* will be precised in what follows. Since

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{f_i(x, x)}{x} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{x \to 0} \frac{f_i(x, x)}{x} = \infty,$$
$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{I_{i,1}(x)}{x} = 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{x \to 0} \frac{I_{i,1}(x)}{x} = \infty,$$

for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. We may find β^* small enough and α^* large enough such that the conditions

$$\frac{f_i(\alpha^*, \alpha^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2B}, \qquad \frac{f_i(\sigma\beta^*, \sigma\beta^*)}{\sigma\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2\sigma A(b-a)},$$
$$\frac{I_{i,1}(\alpha^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2Bm}, \qquad \frac{I_{i,1}(\sigma\beta^*)}{\sigma\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2\sigma Am}.$$

for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ are satisfied. Thus condition (3.2.5) hold . We conclude that system (3.2.7)-(3.2.12) has at least a positive solution (u_1, u_2) with $\beta^* \leq ||u_i||_{\infty} \leq \alpha^*$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$.

Example 3.2.2. Consider the following second-order impulsive systems:

$$u_1''(t) + \frac{u_1^{\frac{1}{4}}}{u_2 + 1} = 0, \quad t \neq \frac{1}{2} \quad 0 \le t \le 1,$$
 (3.2.13)

$$u_1''(t) + \frac{u_1}{u_2 + 1} = 0, \quad t \neq \frac{1}{2} \ 0 \le t \le 1,$$
 (3.2.14)

$$-\Delta u_1' \mid_{t=\frac{1}{2}} = u_1^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\frac{1}{2}\right), \qquad (3.2.15)$$

$$-\Delta u_{2}' \mid_{t=\frac{1}{2}} = e^{-u_{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}, \qquad (3.2.16)$$

$$u_1(0) - u'_1(0) = 0, \quad u_1(1) - u'_1(1) = 0,$$
 (3.2.17)

$$u_2(0) + u'_2(0) = 0, \quad u_2(1) + u'_2(1) = 0.$$
 (3.2.18)

Let

$$f_1(u_1, u_2) = \frac{u_1^{\frac{1}{4}}}{u_2 + 1}, \ f_2(u_1, u_2) = \frac{u_1}{u_2 + 1},$$

and

$$I_{1,1}\left(u_1\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\right) = u_1^{\frac{1}{3}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right), \ I_{1,2}\left(u_1\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)\right) = e^{-u_2\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}.$$

The system (3.2.13)-(3.2.18) is equivalent to the integral system:

$$\begin{cases} u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) \frac{u_1(s)\overline{4}}{u_2(s)+1} ds + G\left(t,\frac{1}{2}\right) u_1^{\frac{1}{3}}\left(\frac{1}{2}\right), \\ u_2(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s) \frac{u_1(s)}{u_2(s)+1} ds + G\left(t,\frac{1}{2}\right) e^{-u_2\left(\frac{1}{2}\right)}. \end{cases}$$

The Green function G(t,s) is a the same from the Example (3.2.13)-(3.2.18). In this case $f_1(u_1, u_2)$, $f_2(u_1, u_2)$ are nondecreasing in u_1 and nonincreasing in u_2 , while $I_{1,1}$ is nondecreasing in u_1 and $I_{2,1}$ is nonincreasing in u_2 , for $k \in \{1, \dots, m\}$ $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$, so now we are in case 4). We choose $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 =: \alpha^*, \ \beta_1 = \beta_2 =: \beta^*$, with $\beta^* < \alpha^*$. Then $r_1 = r_2 = \beta^*$, $R_1 = R_2 = \alpha^*$ and $\Gamma_1 = f_1(\alpha^*, \sigma\beta^*), \ \Gamma_2 = f_2(\alpha^*, \sigma\alpha^*), \ \gamma_1 = f_1(\sigma\beta^*, \alpha^*), \ \gamma_2 = f_2(\sigma\beta^*, \beta^*), \ \Lambda_1 = I_{1,1}(\alpha^*), \ \lambda_1 = I_{1,1}(\sigma\beta^*), \ \Lambda_2 = I_{2,1}(\sigma\alpha^*), \ \lambda_2 = I_{2,1}(\beta^*)$, where α^* and β^* will be precised in what follows.

$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{f_1(x,0)}{x} = 0, \quad \lim_{y \to \infty} \frac{f_2(x,\sigma y)}{y} = 0$$
$$\lim_{x \to \infty} \frac{I_{1,1}(x)}{x} = 0, \quad \lim_{y \to \infty} \frac{I_{1,2}(\sigma y)}{y} = 0,$$

may find $\alpha^* > 0$ large enough such that

$$\frac{f_1(\alpha^*,0)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2B}, \quad \frac{f_2(\alpha^*,\sigma\alpha^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2B},$$
$$\frac{I_{1,1}(\alpha^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2Bm}, \quad \frac{I_{1,2}(\sigma\alpha^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2Bm}.$$

Since

$$\frac{f_1(\alpha^*, \sigma\beta^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{f_1(\alpha^*, 0)}{\alpha^*}.$$

Then

$$\frac{f_1(\alpha^*, \sigma\beta^*)}{\alpha^*} \le \frac{1}{2B},$$

and since

$$\lim_{x \to 0} \frac{f_1(\sigma x, y)}{x} = \infty, \quad \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{f_2(x, y)}{y} = \infty,$$
$$\lim_{x \to 0} \frac{I_{1,1}(\sigma x)}{x} = \infty, \quad \lim_{y \to 0} \frac{I_{1,2}(y)}{y} = \infty,$$

with α fixed as above, we choose β small enough such that

$$\frac{f_1(\sigma\beta^*,\alpha^*)}{\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2A(b-a)}, \quad \frac{f_2(\sigma\beta^*,\beta^*)}{\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2A(b-a)}, \\ \frac{I_{1,1}(\sigma\beta^*)}{\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2Am}, \qquad \frac{I_{1,2}(\beta^*)}{\beta^*} \ge \frac{1}{2Am}.$$

The conditions (3.2.5) are satisfied, hence system (3.2.13)-(3.2.18) has at least one positive solution $u = (u_1, u_2)$.

3.3 Multiple positive solutions for systems of impulsive differential equation

In this section we study the existence of multiple positive solutions for the systems of second order impulsive differential equations with three points boundary conditions

$$u_1''(t) + h_1(t)f_1(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) = 0, \quad t \in J',$$
(3.3.1)

$$u_2''(t) + h_2(t)f_2(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) = 0, \quad t \in J',$$
(3.3.2)

$$\Delta u_1(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \qquad (3.3.3)$$

$$\Delta u_1'(t_k) = -J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{3.3.4}$$

$$\Delta u_2(t_k) = I_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \qquad (3.3.5)$$

$$\Delta u_2(t_k) = -J_{2,k}(u_2(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m,$$
(3.3.6)

$$\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u_1'(0) = a u_1(\xi), \quad u_1(1) = 0, \tag{3.3.7}$$

$$\alpha u_2(0) - \delta u'_2(0) = a u_2(\xi), \quad u_2(1) = 0, \tag{3.3.8}$$

where $\alpha, \beta \geq 0, a, \xi \in]0, 1[, J = [0, 1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \dots < t_m < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \dots, t_m\}, f_i \in C(J \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+), h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+),$

$$\begin{split} &I_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+) \text{ and } J_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+), \ i = 1, 2, \ k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}, \\ &\Delta u_1(t_k) = u_1(t_k^+) - u_1(t_k^-), \ \Delta u_1'(t_k) = u_1'(t_k^+) - u_1'(t_k^-) \text{ and } \Delta u_2(t_k) = \\ &u_2(t_k^+) - u_2(t_k^-), \Delta u_2'(t_k) = u_2'(t_k^+) - u_2'(t_k^-) \text{ in which } u_1(t_k^+), \ u_1'(t_k^+), \ u_2(t_k^+) \\ &u_2'(t_k^+), \ (u_1(t_k^-), u_1'(t_k^-), u_2(t_k^-), u_2'(t_k^-)) \text{ denote the right and left hand limit } \\ &\text{ of } u_1(t), \ u_1'(t) \text{ and } u_2(t), \ u_2'(t) \text{ at } t = t_k, \text{ respectively.} \end{split}$$

Our analysis relies on vector versions of Avery and Peterson fixed-point theorem [33].

3.3.1 Fixed point formulation

In order to define a solution for Problem (3.3.1)–(3.3.8), we shall consider the following spaces:

$$PC(J, \mathbb{R}^+) = \{ y : J \to \mathbb{R}^+ | y \in C(J', \mathbb{R}^+) \text{ such that } y(t_k^-) \text{ and } y(t_k^+) \\ \text{exist and satisfy } y(t_k) = y(t_k^-) \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, n \}.$$
(3.3.9)

For every $y \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$, we define the norm by

$$||y||_{PC} = \sup_{t \in J} |y(t)|.$$

$$PC^{1}(J, \mathbb{R}^{+}) = \{ y \in PC([0, 1], \mathbb{R}^{+}) : y'_{k} \in C(J', \mathbb{R}^{+}), \text{ such that} \\ y'(t_{k}^{-}) \text{ and } y'(t_{k}^{+}) \text{ exist and satisfy } y'(t_{k}) = y'(t_{k}^{-}) \text{ for } k = 1, \dots, n \}.$$
(3.3.10)

For every $y \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$, we define

$$||y||_{PC^1} = \max\left\{\sup_{t\in J} |y(t)|, \sup_{t\in J} |y'(t)|\right\}$$

Consider the Banach space $X \triangleq PC(J, \mathbb{R}^+) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$ equipped with the norm $||(u_1, u_2)|| = (||u_1||_{PC}, ||u_2||_{PC})$, for $(u_1, u_2) \in X$.

In this section, we shall present some auxiliary results, related to the following problem of second order differential equations with three points boundary conditions

$$u_1''(t) + y_1(t) = 0, \ t \in J', \tag{3.3.11}$$

$$\Delta u_1(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{3.3.12}$$

$$\Delta u_1'(t_k) = -J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{3.3.13}$$

$$\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u_1'(0) = a u_1(\xi), \ u_1(1) = 0, \tag{3.3.14}$$

Lemma 3.3.1. Let $u_1 \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$ and $\Delta = (\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi$ with $\alpha > a$. If $y(t) \in C(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$, then u_1 is a solution of the problem (3.3.11)-(3.3.14) if and only if

$$u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s)y_1(s)ds + W_1(t,u_1), \qquad (3.3.15)$$

where

$$G(t,s) = \frac{1}{\Delta} \begin{cases} (1-t)(\beta + \alpha s), & s < \xi, \ s < t, \\ (\beta + \alpha t)(1-s) + a(s-t)(1-\xi), & t \le s \le \xi, \\ (1-t)(\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)s), & \xi \le s \le t, \\ (1-s)(\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t), & \xi < s, \ t < s, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.16)

and

$$\begin{split} W_1(t, u_1) &= \frac{a}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k < \xi} (1 - t) \left[I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) - (\xi - t_k) J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k < t} (1 - t) \left[(\alpha - a) I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k) + (\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t_k) J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k > t} (\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t) \left[-I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) + (1 - t_k) J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) \right]. \end{split}$$

Proof. First Suppose that $u_1 \in PC^1(J, \mathbb{R}^+)$ is a solution of problem (3.3.11)-(3.3.14).

It is easy to see by integration of (3.3.11) that one have

$$u_1'(t) = u_1'(0) - \int_0^t y_1(s) ds - \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)).$$
(3.3.17)

Integrating again, we can get

$$u_{1}(t) = u_{1}(0) + u_{1}'(0)t - \int_{0}^{t} (t-s)y_{1}(s)ds - \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} J_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))(t-t_{k}) + \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})). \quad (3.3.18)$$

By u(1) = 0 and (3.3.18), we have

$$u_{1}(0) + u_{1}'(0) = \int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)y_{1}(s)ds - \sum_{k=1}^{m} I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})) + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (1 - t_{k})J_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})). \quad (3.3.19)$$

It follows from (3.3.18) and $\alpha u_1(0) - \beta u_1'(0) = a u_1(\xi)$ that

$$(\alpha - a)u_1(0) - (\beta + a\xi)u_1'(0) = -a \int_0^{\xi} (\xi - s)y_1(s)ds - a \sum_{t_k < \xi} (\xi - t_k)J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) + a \sum_{t_k < \xi} I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) \quad (3.3.20)$$

By (3.3.19) and (3.3.20), we have

$$u_{1}(0) = \frac{-a \int_{0}^{\xi} (\xi - s)y_{1}(s)ds - a \sum_{t_{k} < \xi} (\xi - t_{k})J_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})) + a \sum_{t_{k} < \xi} I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi} + \frac{\int_{0}^{1} (1 - s)(\beta + a\xi)y_{1}(s)ds - \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\beta + a\xi)I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi} + \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{m} (\beta + a\xi)(1 - t_{k})J_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi}.$$

and

$$u_{1}'(0) = \frac{\int_{0}^{1} (\alpha - a)(1 - s)y_{1}(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^{m} (\alpha - a)(1 - t_{k})J_{i,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi} - \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{m} (\alpha - a)I_{i,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))a \int_{0}^{\xi} (\xi - s)y_{1}(s)ds}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi} - \frac{a\sum_{k<\xi} (\xi - t_{k})J_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k})) - a\sum_{t_{k}<\xi} I_{1,k}(u_{1}(t_{k}))}{(\alpha - a) + \beta + a\xi}.$$

So, we get

$$\begin{split} u_1(t) &= -\frac{a}{\Delta} \int_0^{\xi} (1-t)(\xi-s)y_1(s)ds + \frac{1}{\Delta} \int_0^1 (1-s)[\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t]y_1(s)ds \\ &- \int_0^t (t-s)y_1(s)ds + \frac{a}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k < \xi} (1-t)\left[I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) - (\xi - t_k)J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k))\right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k < t} (1-t)\left[(\alpha - a)I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) + (\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t_k)J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k))\right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{\Delta} \sum_{t_k > t} (\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t)\left[-I_{1,k}(u_1(t_k)) + (1 - t_k)J_{1,k}(u_1(t_k))\right] \\ &= -\frac{a}{\Delta} \int_0^{\xi} (1-t)(\xi - s)y_1(s)ds + \frac{1}{\Delta} \int_0^1 (1-s)[\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t]y_1(s)ds \\ &- \int_0^t (t-s)y_1(s)ds + W_1(t,u_1). \end{split}$$

For $t \leq \xi$

$$u_{1}(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \frac{(1-t)(\beta+\alpha s)}{\Delta} y_{1}(s) ds + \int_{t}^{\xi} \frac{(\beta+\alpha t)(1-s) + a(s-t)(1-\xi)}{\Delta} y_{1}(s) ds + \int_{\xi}^{1} \frac{(1-s)[(\alpha-a)t + \beta + a\xi]}{\Delta} y_{1}(s) ds + W_{1}(t,u_{1}).$$

For
$$t > \xi$$

 $u_1(t) = \int_0^t \frac{(1-t)(\beta + \alpha s)}{\Delta} y_1(s) ds + \int_{\xi}^t \frac{(1-t)[(\alpha - a)s + (\beta + a\xi)]}{\Delta} y_1(s) ds + \int_t^1 \frac{(1-s)[(\alpha - a)t + \beta + a\xi]}{\Delta} y_1(s) ds + W_1(t, u_1).$

Thus

$$u_1(t) = \int_0^1 G(t,s)y_1(s)ds + W_1(t,u_1).$$

Lemma 3.3.2. For all $(t, s) \in J^2$, we have

$$0 \le G(t,s) \le G(s,s).$$

Proof. From the definitions of G(t,s), it is easy to obtain that $G(t,s) \ge 0$ for all $(t,s) \in J^2$. For $s < \xi, s < t$

$$\frac{\partial G(t,s)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\beta + \alpha s}{\Delta} \le 0.$$

Therefore, G(t,s) is decreasing with respect to t, which implies that $G(t,s) \leq G(s,s)$. Now, for $t \leq s \leq \xi$

$$\frac{\partial G(t,s)}{\partial t} = \frac{\alpha(1-s) - a(1-\xi)}{\Delta} \ge 0.$$

Therefore, G(t,s) is increasing with respect to t, which implies that $G(t,s) \leq G(s,s)$. For $t \leq s \leq \xi$

$$\frac{\partial G(t,s)}{\partial t} = -\frac{\beta + \alpha \xi + (\alpha - a)s}{\Delta} \le 0.$$

Therefore, G(t,s) is decreasing with respect to t, which implies that $G(t,s) \leq G(s,s)$.

For $\xi < s, t < s$

$$\frac{\partial G(t,s)}{\partial t} = \frac{(1-s)(\alpha-a)s}{\Delta} \ge 0.$$

Therefore, G(t,s) is increasing with respect to t, which implies that $G(t,s) \leq G(s,s)$.

$$G(t,s) \leq G(s,s), \text{ for all } (t,s) \in J^2.$$

Lemma 3.3.3. Let $\delta \in]0, \frac{1}{2}[, J_{\delta} = [\delta, 1 - \delta]$, then for all $t \in J_{\delta}, s \in J$, we have

$$G(t,s) \ge \eta G(s,s),$$

where $\eta = \min\{\delta, \frac{\beta}{\alpha+\beta}\}.$

Proof. For $s < \xi$, s < t and $t \in J_{\delta}$. Then

$$\frac{G(t,s)}{G(s,s)} \ge \frac{1-t}{1-s} \ge 1-t \ge \delta.$$

Let $t \leq s \leq \xi$ and $t \in J_{\delta}$. Then

$$\frac{G(t,s)}{G(s,s)} = \frac{(\beta + \alpha t)(1-s) + a(s-t)(1-\xi)}{(\beta + \alpha s)(1-s)}$$
$$= \frac{\beta + \alpha t}{\beta + \alpha s} + \frac{a(s-t)(1-\xi)}{(\beta + \alpha s)(1-s)}$$
$$\geq \frac{\beta + \alpha t}{\beta + \alpha} \geq \frac{\beta}{\beta + \alpha}.$$

For $\xi \leq s \leq t$ and $t \in J_{\delta}$

$$\frac{G(t,s)}{G(s,s)} \ge \frac{1-t}{1-s} \ge 1-t \ge \delta.$$

For $\xi < s, t < s$ and $t \in J_{\delta}$

$$\frac{G(t,s)}{G(s,s)} = \frac{\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)t}{\beta + a\xi + (\alpha - a)s} \ge \frac{\beta}{\beta + \alpha}.$$

Therefore

$$G(t,s) \ge \eta G(s,s) \text{ for } (t,s) \in J \times J_{\delta},$$

where $\eta = \min\{\delta, \frac{\beta}{\alpha+\beta}\}.$

We can also formulate similar results as Lemma 3.3.1-Lemma 3.3.3 above for the boundary value problem

$$u_2''(t) + y_2(t) = 0, \quad t \in J', \tag{3.3.21}$$

$$\Delta u_2' \mid_{t_k} = I_{2,k} u_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{3.3.22}$$

$$\Delta u_2' \mid_{t_k} = -J_{2,k} u_1(t_k), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, m, \tag{3.3.23}$$

$$\alpha u_2(0) - \beta u_2'(0) = a u_2(\xi), \quad u_2(1) = 0. \tag{3.3.24}$$

3.3.2 Existence of multiple positive solutions

In this section, we show the existence of at least three positive solutions for the systems (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) follows from vector version of fixed point theorem of Avery and Peterson.

We present the assumptions that we shall use in the sequel.

- (A_1) The functions $h_1, h_2: J \mapsto \mathbb{R}^+$ are continuous.
- (A₂) The functions $f_1, f_2: J \times \mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{R}^+ \mapsto \mathbb{R}^+$ are continuous.
- (A₃) The functions $I_{i,k}$, $J_{i,k}:\mathbb{R}^+ \to \mathbb{R}^+$ are continuous for i = 1, 2, k = 1, 2, ..., m.
- (A₄) There exists constants $c_1, c_2 \in]0, 1[$ and the functions $\Omega_i : \{u_i : u_i \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}), u_1 \geq 0\} \mapsto \mathbb{R} \text{ for } i \in \{1, 2\} \text{ such that}$

 $c_1\Omega_1(u_1) \le W_1(t, u_1) \le \Omega_1(u_1), \ (t, u_1) \in J \times \{u_1 : u_1 \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}), \ u_1 \ge 0\},\$

and

$$c_2\Omega_2(u_2) \le W_2(t, u_2) \le \Omega_2(u_2), \ (t, u_2) \in J \times \{u_2 : u_2 \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}), \ u_2 \ge 0\},\$$

Define a cone $P \subseteq X$ by

$$P = \left\{ (u_1, u_2) \in X : u_1(t) \ge 0, \ u_2(t) \ge 0, t \in J, \\ \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} u_1(t) \ge \lambda_1 \| u_1 \|_{PC} \text{ and } \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} u_2(t) \ge \lambda_2 \| u_2 \|_{PC} \right\},$$

where $\lambda_1 = \min\{\eta, c_1\}, \lambda_2 = \min\{\eta, c_2\}.$

Define the nonnegative continuous convex functionals coupled (x_1, x_2) , (θ_1, θ_2) and (ψ_1, ψ_2) and the nonnegative continuous concave functional coupled (ϕ_1, ϕ_2) on P by

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)(u_1, u_2) = \left(\inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} u_1(t), \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} u_2(t)\right),$$
$$(\psi_1, \psi_2)(u_1, u_2) = \left(\sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} |u_1(t)|, \sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} |u_2(t)|\right)$$

and

$$(\theta_1, \theta_2)(u_1, u_2) = (x_1, x_2)(u_1, u_2) = ||(u_1, u_2)||$$

Theorem 3.3.4. Suppose that (A_1) - (A_4) hold. In addition, we assume that there exist positive vectors (μ_1, μ_2) , (a'_1, a'_2) , (b'_1, b'_2) , $\left(\frac{b'_1}{\lambda_1}, \frac{b'_2}{\lambda_2}\right)$ and (d'_1, d'_2) , with $a'_1 < b'_1 < \frac{b'_1}{\lambda_1} < d'_1$ and $a'_2 < b'_2 < \frac{b'_2}{\lambda_2} < d'_2$, $\mu_1 > D_1 + D'_1$ and $\mu_2 > D_2 + D'_2$, $0 < L_1 < \lambda_1(D_1 + D'_1)$ and $0 < L_2 < \lambda_2(D_2 + D'_2)$, where $D_1 = \int_0^1 h_1(s)G(s, s)ds$ and $D_2 = \int_0^1 h_2(s)G(s, s)ds$, D_1 , D_2 , Δ'_1 and $D'_2 > 0$, such that the following conditions hold:

$$(B_1) \quad f_i(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) \le \frac{d'_i}{\mu_i} \text{ for } t \in J \text{ and } (u_1, u_2) \in [0, d'_i] \text{ and} \\ W_i(t, u_i) \le \frac{D'_i}{\mu_i} d'_i, \text{ for } (u_1, u_2) \in P, ||(u_1, u_2)|| \le (d'_1, d'_2) \text{ for } i \in \{1, 2\},$$

$$(B_2) \ f_i(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) \ge \frac{b'_i}{L_i} \ for \ t \in J \ and \ (u_1, u_2) \in \left[b'_i, \frac{b'_i}{\lambda_i}\right] \ and W_i(t, u_i) \ge \frac{D'_i}{L_i} b'_i, \ for \ (u_1, u_2) \in P, \ b'_i \le u_i \le \frac{b'_i}{\lambda_i} \ for \ i \in \{1, 2\} \ ;$$

$$(B_3) \quad f_i(t, u_1(t), u_2(t)) \leq \frac{a'_i}{\mu_i}, \text{ for } t \in J \text{ and } (u_1, u_2) \in [0, a'_i]$$

and $W_i(t, u_i) \leq \frac{D'_i}{\mu_i} a'_i, \text{ for } (u_1, u_2) \in P, \ \|(u_1, u_2)\| \leq (a'_1, a'_2) \text{ for } i \in \{1, 2\}.$

Then the problem (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has at least two positive solutions when $f_i(t, 0, 0) \equiv 0, t \in J$, and at least three positive solutions when $f_i(t, 0, 0) \not\equiv 0, t \in J$.

Proof. Consider the operator

$$T: P \mapsto X$$

defined by

$$T(u_1, u_2)(t) = (T_1(u_1, u_2)(t), T_2(u_1, u_2)(t)),$$

where

$$T_1(u_1, u_2)(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s) h_1(s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + W_1(t, u_1),$$

and

$$T_2(u_1, u_2)(t) = \int_0^1 G(t, s) h_2(s) f_2(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + W_2(t, u_2).$$

It is obvious that a fixed point of T is the solution of the second order impulsive differential equations (3.1.1)-(3.1.6). Three fixed points of T are sought.

First, it is shown that $T: P \mapsto P$ Let $(u_1, u_2) \in P$ be an arbitrary element.

$$|T_1(u_1, u_2)(t)| \leq \int_0^1 G(s, s) h_1(s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \Omega_1(u_1),$$

$$|T_2(u_1, u_2)(t)| \leq \int_0^1 G(s, s)h_2(s)f_2(s, u_1(s), u_2(s))ds + \Omega_2(u_2),$$

$$\inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} T_{1}(u_{1}, u_{2})(t) = \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} \left[\int_{0}^{1} G(t, s)h_{1}(s)f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds + W_{1}(t, u_{1}) \right] \\
\geq \eta \int_{0}^{1} G(s, s)h_{1}(s)f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds + c_{1}\Omega_{1}(u_{1}) \\
\geq \min\{\eta, c_{1}\} \left[\int_{0}^{1} G(s, s)h_{1}(s)f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds + \Omega_{1}(u_{1}) \right] \\
\geq \lambda_{1} \|T_{1}(u_{1}, u_{2})\|_{PC}.$$

where $\lambda_1 = \min\{\eta, c_1\}$. Similarly

$$\inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} T_2(u_1, u_2)(t) \ge \lambda_2 \| T_2(u_1, u_2) \|_{PC}.$$

where $\lambda_2 = \min\{\eta, c_2\}$. By (A_1) , (A_2) and (A_4) , we have $T_1(u_1, u_2)(t) \ge 0$ and $T_2(u_1, u_2)(t) \ge 0$, for $t \in [0, 1]$. It is shown that $T : \overline{P((x_1, x_2), (d_1, d_2))} \mapsto \overline{P((x_1, x_2), (d_1, d_2))}$ Let $(u_1, u_2) \in \overline{P((x_1, x_2), (d_1, d_2))}$, condition (B_1) is used to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} x_1(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) &= \|T_1(u_1, u_2)\|_{PC} \\ &\leq \int_0^1 G(s, s)h_1(s)f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s))ds + \frac{D'_1}{\mu_1}d'_1 \\ &\leq \frac{d'_1}{\mu_1}\int_0^1 G(s, s)h_1(s)ds + \frac{D'_1}{\mu_1}d'_1 \\ &\leq \frac{D_1}{\mu_1}d'_1 + \frac{D'_1}{\mu_1}d'_1 \\ &< d'_1. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we have

$$x_2(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) < d'_2.$$

Now conditions (S_1) of Theorem 1.4.15 are to be verified. It is obvious that

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{b_1'(\lambda_1+1)}{2\lambda_1}, \frac{b_2'(\lambda_2+1)}{2\lambda_2} \end{pmatrix} \in \left\{ (u_1, u_2) \in P\left((x_1, x_2), (\theta_1, \theta_2), (\phi_1, \phi_2), (b_1', b_2'), \left(\frac{b_1'}{\lambda_1}, \frac{b_2'}{\lambda_2}\right), (d_1, d_2) \right\} : (\phi_1, \phi_2)(u_1, u_2) > (b_1, b_2) \right\} \neq \emptyset$$

Next let $(u_1, u_2) \in P\left((x_1, x_2), (\theta_1, \theta_2), (\phi_1, \phi_2), (b'_1, b'_2), \left(\frac{b'_1}{\lambda_1}, \frac{b'_2}{\lambda_2}\right), (d_1, d_2)\right)$

Then
$$b'_{1} \leq u_{1} \leq \frac{b'_{1}}{\lambda_{1}}$$
 and $b'_{2} \leq u_{2} \leq \frac{b'_{2}}{\lambda_{2}}, t \in J$. By (B_{2})
 $\phi_{1}(T(u_{1}, u_{2})(t)) = \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} T_{1}(u_{1}, u_{2})$
 $\geq \lambda_{1} \left[\int_{0}^{1} G(s, s)h_{1}(s)f_{1}(s, u_{1}(s), u_{2}(s))ds + \frac{b'_{1}}{L_{1}}\bar{D}_{1} \right]$
 $\geq \frac{b'_{1}}{L_{1}} \int_{0}^{1} G(s, s)h_{1}(s)ds + \frac{D'_{1}}{L_{1}}b'_{1}$
 $\geq \lambda_{1}\frac{b'_{1}}{L_{1}}(D_{1} + D'_{1})$
 $> b'_{1}.$

Similarly, we have

$$\phi_2(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) > b'_2$$

Then

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) > (b'_1, b'_2).$$

So, condition (S_1) of Theorem 1.4.15 is holds.

To see that condition
$$(S_2)$$
 of Theorem 1.4.15 is satisfied. Let $(u_1, u_2) \in P((x_1, x_2), (\phi_1, \phi_2), (b'_1, b'_2), (d'_1, d'_2))$ with $(\theta_1, \theta_1)(u_1, u_2) > \left(\frac{b'_1}{\lambda_1}, \frac{b'_2}{\lambda_2}\right)$
 $\phi_1(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) = \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} T_1(u_1, u_2)(t)$
 $\geq \lambda_1 ||T_1(u_1, u_2)||_{PC}$
 $\geq \lambda_1 \frac{b'_1}{\lambda_1} = b'_1.$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\phi_2(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) > b'_2.$$

Then

$$(\phi_1, \phi_2)(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) > (b'_1, b'_2)$$

Finally, it is shown that the condition (S_3) of Theorem 1.4.15 holds. Since $(\psi_1, \psi_2)(0, 0) = (0, 0), (a'_1, a'_2) > (0, 0), (0, 0) \notin R((x_1, x_2), (\psi_1, \psi_2), (a'_1, a'_2), (d'_1, d'_2)).$ Assume that $(u_1, u_2) \in R((x_1, x_2), (\psi_1, \psi_2), (a'_1, a'_2), (d'_1, d'_2))$ with $(\psi_1, \psi_2)(u_1, u_2) = (a'_1, a'_2).$

$$\begin{split} \psi_1(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) &= \sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} |T_1(u_1, u_2)(t)| \\ &= \sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} \left[\int_0^1 G(t, s) h_1(s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + W_1(t, u_1) \right] \\ &\leq \sup_{t \in J} \left[\int_0^1 G(t, s) h_1(s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + W_1(t, u_1) \right] \\ &\leq \int_0^1 G(s, s) h_1(s) f_1(s, u_1(s), u_2(s)) ds + \frac{D'_1}{\mu_1} a'_1 \\ &\leq \frac{a'_1}{\mu_1} (D_1 + D'_1) < a'_1. \end{split}$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\psi_2(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) < a'_2.$$

Then

$$(\psi_1, \psi_2)(T(u_1, u_2)(t)) < (a'_1, a'_2).$$

It has been proved that all the conditions of Theorem 1.4.15 are satisfied. Therefore, the system (3.1.1)-(3.1.6) has at least three solutions, (x_1, x_2) , (y_1, y_2) , $(z_1, z_2) \in P$ such that

$$||(x_1, x_2)|| \le (d'_1, d'_2), ||(y_1, y_2)|| \le (d'_1, d'_2), ||(z_1, z_2)|| \le (d'_1, d'_2),$$

and

$$(b_1', b_2') < \left(\inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} |x_1(t)|, \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} |x_2(t)| \right), \ (a_1', a_2') \le \left(\sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} |x_1(t)|, \sup_{t \in J_{\delta}} |x_2(t)| \right),$$
$$\left(\inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} |y_1(t)|, \inf_{t \in J_{\delta}} |y_2(t)| \right) < (b_1', b_2'), \ \|(z_1, z_2)\| < (a_1', a_2').$$

Obviously, $(x_1, x_2)(t) > (0, 0)$, $(y_1, y_2)(t) > (0, 0)$, $t \in [0, 1]$. If $f_i(t, 0, 0) \neq 0$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$, $t \in [0, 1]$, then the vector $(u_1, u_2) = (0, 0)$ is not a solution of a systems (3.1.1)-(3.1.6). So, the vector $(z_1, z_2) \neq (0, 0)$. This, together with $(z_1, z_2) \in P$, means that $(z_1, z_2) > (0, 0)$, $t \in [0, 1]$.

$_{\rm CHAPTER}$ 4

Systems of impulsive differential equations on un-bounded domain

In this part, we provide sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions for the systems of second-order impulsive differential equations with integral boundary conditions :

$$-u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k, \tag{4.0.1}$$

$$-v''(t) = g(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k,$$
(4.0.2)

$$\Delta u(t_k) = J_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad -\Delta u'(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.0.3)

$$\Delta v(t_k) = J_{2,k}(v(t_k)), \quad -\Delta v'(t_k) = I_{2,k}(v'(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.0.4)

$$u(0) = \int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds, \quad u'(\infty) = 0, \tag{4.0.5}$$

$$v(0) = \int_0^\infty h_2(s)v(s)ds, \quad v'(\infty) = 0, \tag{4.0.6}$$

where $J = [0, +\infty)$, $f, g \in C(J \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, $0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_k < \cdots$, $t_k \to \infty$, $I_{i,k}$, $J_{i,k} \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R})$, for i = 1, 2, $h_i \in C(\mathbb{R}^+, \mathbb{R}^+)$ with $\int_0^\infty h_i(s) ds \neq 1$ for i = 1, 2, $u'(\infty) = \lim_{t \to \infty} u(t)$ and $v'(\infty) = \lim_{t \to \infty} v(t)$, $\Delta u(t_k) = u(t_k^+) - u(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta v(t_k) = v(t_k^+) - v(t_k^-)$, where $u(t_k^+)$ $(v(t_k^+))$ and $u(t_k^-)$ $(v(t_k^-))$ represent the righ and left hand limit of u(t) (v(t)) at $t = t_k$, respectively. $\Delta u'(t_k) = u'(t_k^+) - u'(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta v'(t_k) = v'(t_k^+) - v'(t_k^-)$, where $u'(t_k^+)$ $(v'(t_k^+))$ and $u'(t_k^-)$ $(v'(t_k^-))$ represent the righ and left hand limit of u(t) $(v'(t_k^-))$.

Since we are interested here in systems of equations, we have opted for a vectorial approach based on the use of vector-valued norms, inverse-positive matrices and of a vectorial version of Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem for sums of two operators [116].

4.1 Main result

Before seating the result of this section we consider the following spaces.

$$PC([0, +\infty)) = \{u : [0, +\infty] \to \mathbb{R} \mid u(t) \text{ is continuos at each } t \neq t_k, \}$$

left continous at $t = t_k$, $u'(t_k^+)$ exists, $k = 1, 2, \cdots, \}$.

Consider the space E defined by

$$E = \left\{ u \in PC([0, +\infty)), \ \sup_{t \in [0, +\infty)} \frac{|u(t)|}{1+t} < \infty \right\},\$$

E is a Banach space, equipped with the norm $||u||_E = \sup_{t \in [0,+\infty)} \frac{|u(t)|}{1+t} < \infty$. Then $E \times E$ is a Banach space with the norm $||(u,v)|| = (||u||_E, ||v||_E)$ for $(u,v) \in E \times E$.

Lemma 4.1.1. The vector $(u, v) \in PC([0, \infty)) \times PC([0, \infty))$ is a solution of differential system (4.0.1)-(4.0.6) if and only if

$$\begin{aligned} u(t) &= \int_0^\infty H_1(t,s) f(s,u(s),v(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_1(t,t_k) I_{1.k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1.k}(u(t_k)) \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s) \left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{1.k}(u(t_k))\right) ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s) ds}, \end{aligned}$$

4.1 Main result

$$\begin{aligned} v(t) &= \int_0^\infty H_2(t,s)g(s,u(s),v(s))ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_2(t,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{2,k}(v(t_k)) \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)\left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{2,k}(v(t_k))\right)ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}. \end{aligned}$$

where for i = 1, 2

$$H_i(t,s) = G(t,s) + \frac{1}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_i(s)ds} \int_0^\infty G(\tau,s)h_i(\tau)d\tau$$
$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} t, & 0 \le t \le s \le \infty, \\ s, & 0 \le s \le t \le \infty. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.1)

Proof. First we consider the following problems:

$$-u''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k,$$
(4.1.2)

$$\Delta u(t_k) = J_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad -\Delta u'(t_k) = I_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots, \quad (4.1.3)$$

$$u(0) = \int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds, \quad u'(\infty) = 0. \tag{4.1.4}$$

Let u be a solution of the problem (4.1.8)-(4.1.4), then by integration we have

$$u'(t) = u'(0) - \int_0^t f(s, u(s), v(s)) ds - \sum_{t_k < t} I_{1,k}(u(t_k)), \qquad (4.1.5)$$

Taking limit for $t \to \infty$,

$$u'(0) = \int_0^\infty f(s, u(s), v(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty I_{1,k}(u(t_k)),$$

Integrating (4.1.5), we can get

$$u(t) = u'(0)t + u(0) - \int_0^t (t-s)f(s, u(s), v(s))ds - \sum_{t_k < t} I_{1,k}(u(t_k))(t-t_k) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k))(t-t_k) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k))($$

Systems of impulsive differential equations on un-bounded domain

Thus

$$u(t) = u(0) + \int_0^\infty tf(s, u(s), v(s))ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty tI_{1,k}(u(t_k)) - \int_0^t (t-s)f(s, u(s), v(s))ds - \sum_{t_k < t} I_{1,k}(u(t_k))(t-t_k) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k)).$$

Thus

$$u(t) = u(0) + \int_0^\infty G(t,s)f(s,u(s),v(s))ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty G(t,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k)).$$

Then

$$u(t) = \int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds + \int_0^\infty G(t,s)f(s,u(s),v(s))ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty G(t,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k)). \quad (4.1.6)$$

Thus

$$\begin{split} \int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds &= \int_0^\infty h_1(s) \left(\int_0^\infty h_1(s)u(s)ds + \int_0^\infty G(s,\tau)f(\tau,u(\tau),v(\tau))d\tau \right)ds \\ &+ \int_0^\infty h_1(s) \left(\sum_{k=1}^\infty G(s,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < s} J_{1,k}(u(t_k)) \right)ds. \end{split}$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)u(s)ds &= \frac{1}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds} \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)G(s,\tau)f(\tau,u(\tau),v(\tau))d\tau \right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds} \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s) \left(\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} G(s,t_{k})I_{1,k}(u(t_{k})) \right) ds \\ &+ \frac{1}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds} \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s) \left(\sum_{t_{k} < s} J_{1,k}(u(t_{k})) \right) ds. \end{split}$$

4.1 Main result

Substituting in (4.1.6) we have

$$\begin{split} u(t) &= \int_0^\infty G(t,s)f(s,u(s),v(s))ds + \frac{\int_0^\infty \int_0^\infty h_1(s)G(s,\tau)f(\tau,u(\tau),v(\tau))d\tau}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s)d\tau ds} \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^\infty G(t,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)\left(\sum_{k=1}^\infty G(t,t_k)I_{1,k}(u(t_k))\right)\right)ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds} \\ &+ \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k)) + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)\left(\sum_{t_k < t} J_{1,k}(u(t_k))\right)\right)ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}. \end{split}$$

Then

$$\begin{split} u(t) &= \int_0^\infty H_1(t,s) f(s,u(s),v(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_1(t,t_k) I_{1.k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1.k}(u(t_k)) \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s) \left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{1.k}(u(t_k))\right) ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s) ds}, \end{split}$$

where

$$H_{1}(t,s) = G(t,s) + \frac{1}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds} \int_{0}^{\infty} G(\tau,s)h_{1}(\tau)d\tau,$$
$$G(t,s) = \begin{cases} t, & 0 \le t \le s \le \infty, \\ s, & 0 \le s \le t \le \infty. \end{cases}$$
(4.1.7)

Next, we consider the following problem

$$-v''(t) = f(t, u(t), v(t)), \quad t \in J, \ t \neq t_k,$$
(4.1.8)

$$\Delta v(t_k) = J_{2,k}(v(t_k)), \quad \Delta v'(t_k) = -I_{2,k}(v(t_k)), \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.1.9)

$$v(0) = \int_0^\infty h_2(s)v(s)ds, \quad v'(\infty) = 0, \tag{4.1.10}$$

Systems of impulsive differential equations on un-bounded domain

similarly, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} v(t) &= \int_0^\infty H_2(t,s) f(s,u(s),v(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_2(t,t_k) I_{1.k}(u(t_k)) + \sum_{t_k < t} J_{2.k}(u(t_k)) \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s) \left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{2.k}(u(t_k))\right) ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_2(s) ds}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$H_2(t,s) = G(t,s) + \frac{1}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds} \int_0^\infty G(\tau,s)h_2(\tau)d\tau.$$

Set
$$h_1^* = \left| 1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s) ds \right|$$
 and $h_2^* = \left| 1 - \int_0^\infty h_2(s) ds \right|$.
To establish our main result concerning existence of so

To establish our main result concerning existence of solution (4.0.1)-(4.0.6), we use the assumptions

- (H_1) f, g are L¹-Carathéodory functions.
- (H_2) There exist nonnegative functions $P_i, \bar{P}_i \in L^1[0, +\infty)$ for i = 1, 2, 3 such that:

$$|f(t, u, v)| \le P_1(t)|u| + P_2(t)|v| + P_3(t)$$
, for each $t \in J, (u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$,
and

$$|g(t, u, v)| \le \bar{P}_1(t)|u| + \bar{P}_2(t)|u| + \bar{P}_3(t)$$
, for each $t \in J$, $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$.

(H₃) For all $u, v, \bar{u}, \bar{v} \in \mathbb{R}$, and there exist nonnegative constants $a_{i,k}, b_{i,k} \ge 0$, i = 1, 2 such that

$$\begin{cases} |I_{1,k}(u) - I_{1,k}(\bar{u})| \le a_{1,k}|u - \bar{u}|, & k = 1, 2, \cdots \\ |I_{2,k}(v) - I_{2,k}(\bar{v})| \le a_{2,k}|v - \bar{v}|, & k = 1, 2, \dots \end{cases}$$

and

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} |J_{1,k}(u) - J_{1,k}(\bar{u})| \le b_{1,k} |u - \bar{u}|, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \cdots , \\ |J_{2,k}(v) - J_{2,k}(\bar{v})| \le b_{2,k} |v - \bar{v}|, \quad k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \cdots . \end{array} \right)$$

4.1 Main result

 (H_4) There exist are numbers N_i and C_i , i = 1, 2, 3 where

$$N_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds}{h_{1}^{*}}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} P_{i}(s)(1+s)ds < \infty,$$

$$C_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s)ds}{h_{2}^{*}}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} \bar{P}_{i}(s)(1+s)ds < \infty, \ i = 1, 2,$$

$$K_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{\|h_{i}\|_{L^{1}}}{h_{i}^{*}}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_{i,k} + b_{i,k})(1+t_{k}) < \infty, \ for \ i = 1, 2,$$

$$N_{3} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds}{h_{1}^{*}}\right) \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} P_{3}(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |I_{1,k}(0)| + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |J_{1,k}(0)|\right) < \infty,$$

$$C_{3} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s)ds}{h_{2}^{*}}\right) \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \bar{P}_{3}(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |I_{2,k}(0)| + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |J_{2,k}(0)|\right) < \infty.$$

A mapping is completely continuous if it is continuous and maps bounded sets into relatively compact sets. A set of functions $Y \in E$ is almost equicontinuous if it is equicotinuous on each interval [0,T], $0 \leq T < +\infty$. The following result is an extension of Arzelia-Ascoli compatness criterion to unbounded intervals.

Lemma 4.1.2. [107] Let $N \subseteq E$, Then N is compact in E, if the following conditions hold:

- (a) N is uniformly bounded in E.
- (b) The functions from $\{y : y = \frac{x}{1+t}, x \in N\}$ belonging to N are almost equicontinuous on \mathbb{R}^+ .
- (c) The functions from $\{y : y = \frac{x}{1+t}, x \in N\}$ are equiconvergent at $+\infty$, that is given $\varepsilon > 0$, there corresponds $T(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that $|f(t) f(+\infty)| < \varepsilon$ for any $t \ge 0$ and $f \in M$ for all $t \ge T(\varepsilon)$ and $x \in N$.

The main tool of this part a fixed point theorem due to Krasnoselskii's [93].

Theorem 4.1.3. Assume that (H_1) - (H_4) holds with $N_1 + K_1 < 1$ and $C_2 + K_2 < 1.$ If

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - N_1 - K_1 & -C_2 \\ -C_1 & 1 - C_2 - K_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

and det $\tilde{M} > 0$ then problem (4.0.1)-(4.0.6) has at least one solution.

Proof. Let $N: E \times E \to E \times E$ be operator defined by

$$N(u,v) = F(u,v) + B(u,v), \ (u,v) \in E \times E,$$

where

$$F(u,v) = (F_1(u,v), F_2(u,v)); \ B(u,v) = (B_1(u,v), B_2(u,v)),$$

where

$$F_1(u(t), v(t)) = \int_0^\infty H_1(t, s) f(s, u(s), v(s)) ds,$$

$$F_2(u(t), v(t)) = \int_0^\infty H_2(t, s) g(s, u(s), v(s)) ds,$$

$$B_{1}(u(t), v(t)) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} H_{1}(t, t_{k}) I_{1.k}(u(t_{k})) + \sum_{t_{k} < t} J_{1.k}(u(t_{k})) + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s) \left(\sum_{t_{k} < s} J_{1.k}(u(t_{k}))\right) ds}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s) ds}, \quad (4.1.11)$$

and

$$B_{2}(u(t), v(t)) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} H_{2}(t, t_{k}) I_{2,k}(v(t_{k})) + \sum_{t_{k} < t} J_{2,k}(v(t_{k})) + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s) \left(\sum_{t_{k} < s} J_{2,k}(v(t_{k}))\right) ds}{1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s) ds}.$$
 (4.1.12)

Step 1. B is a generalized contraction

Let $(u, v), (\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \in E \times E$, using the assumption (H_3) , we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \frac{|B_1(u(t), v(t)) - B_1(\bar{u}(t), \bar{v}(t))|}{1+t} &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{|H_1(t, t_k)|}{1+t} |I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) - I_{1,k}(\bar{u}(t_k))| \\ &+ \sum_{t_k < t} |J_{1,k}(u(t_k)) - J_{1,k}(\bar{u}(t_k))| \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^{\infty} h_1(s) \left(\sum_{t_k < s} |J_{1,k}(u(t_k)) - J_{1,k}(\bar{u}(t_k))|\right) ds}{\left|1 - \int_0^{\infty} h_1(s) ds\right|} \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{G_1(t, t_k)}{1+t} a_{1,k} |u(t_k) - \bar{u}(t_k)| \\ &+ \frac{1}{h_1^*} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{\infty} h_1(r) \frac{G_1(r, t_k)}{1+t} dra_{1,k} |u(t_k) - \bar{u}(t_k)| \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_{1,k} |u(t_k) - \bar{u}(t_k)| \\ &+ \frac{\int_0^{\infty} h_1(s) ds}{h_1^*} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} b_{1,k} |u(t_k) - \bar{u}(t_k)| \,. \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\|B_1(u,v) - B_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_E \le \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty (a_{1,k} + b_{1,k})(1+t_k)\|u - \bar{u}\|_E := K_1 \|u - \bar{u}\|_E.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\|B_2(u,v) - B_2(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_E \le \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty (a_{2,k} + b_{2,k})(1+t_k)\|v - \bar{v}\|_E := K_2 \|u - \bar{u}\|_E.$$

Therefore

$$\begin{bmatrix} \|B_1(u,v) - B_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_E \\ \|B_2(u,v) - B_2(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_E \end{bmatrix} \le M \begin{bmatrix} \|u - \bar{u}\|_E \\ \|v - \bar{v}\|_E \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} K_1 & 0\\ 0 & K_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

Since $K_1, K_2 \in [0, 1]$ then M converge to zero this implies that B is contraction operator

Step 2. F is completely continuous operator.

Claim 1. Operator F is a continuous and sends bounded sets into bounded sets .

Let $(u_n, v_n) \to (u, v)$ as $n \to \infty$, then $u_n \to u$ and $v_n \to v$ as $n \to \infty$. Then

$$\frac{|F_1(u_n(t), v_n(t)) - F_1(u(t), v(t))|}{1+t} \le \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_1(t, s)|}{1+t} |f(s, u_n(s), v_n(s)) - f(s, u(s), v(s))| ds$$

Thus

$$\|F_1(u_n, v_n) - F_1(u, v)\|_E \le \sup_{t \in [0, +\infty[} \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_1(t, s)|}{1+t} |f(s, u_n(s), v_n(s)) - f(s, u(s), v(s))| ds$$

Since f is L^1 -Carathéodory, then we have by the lebesgue dominated convergence theorem,

$$||F_1(u_n, v_n) - F_1(u, v)||_E \to 0, \ n \to 0,$$

Similarly

$$||F_2(u_n, v_n) - F_2(u, v)||_E \to 0, \ n \to 0.$$

Therefore F is continuous.

Let D be a bounded subsets of E, then there exists q > 0 such that $||u||_E \leq q$ and $||v||_E \leq q$ for all $(u, v) \in D$. Let $(u, v) \in D$. Then for each $t \in [0, +\infty]$, we have

$$\frac{|F_1(u(t), v(t))|}{1+t} \le \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_1(t, s)|}{1+t} |f(s, u(s), v(s))| ds$$

Since f, g be are Carathédory function, there exist nonnegative function $\phi_{M_0,M_1} \in L^1[0,\infty[$ such that

$$|f(t, u(t), v(t))| \le \phi_{r_1, r_2}(t) \text{ and } |g(t, u(t), v(t))| \le \phi_{r_1, r_2}(t) \ t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

4.1 Main result

So, we have that

$$||F_1(u,v)||_E \le \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \int_0^\infty \phi_{r_1,r_2}(s)ds.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\|F_2(u,v)\|_E \le \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \int_0^\infty \phi_{r_1,r_2}(s)ds.$$

So F maps bounded sets into bounded sets in EClaim 2. F maps bounded sets in E into almost equicontinuous sets.

For any $T \in [0, +\infty[$ and $\tau_1, \tau_2 \in [0, T], \tau_1 < \tau_2$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{F_1(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F_1(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1} \right| &\leq \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{H_1(\tau_2, s)}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{H_1(\tau_1, s)}{1 + \tau_1} \right| |f(s, u(s), v(s))| ds \\ &\leq \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{H_1(\tau_2, s)}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{H_1(\tau_1, s)}{1 + \tau_1} \right| \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &\to 0 \ as \ \tau_1 \to \tau_2, \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we obtain

$$\left| \frac{F_2(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F_2(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1} \right| \leq \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{H_2(\tau_2, s)}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{H_2(\tau_1, s)}{1 + \tau_1} \right| \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds$$

 $\rightarrow 0 \ as \ \tau_1 \rightarrow \tau_2.$

Then F is equicontinuous on any compact interval of $[0, +\infty)$. Claim 3. We now show that set F is equiconvergent at ∞ , i.e., for every $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists sufficiently large $T(\varepsilon) = \max(T_1(\varepsilon), T_2(\varepsilon))$ such that

$$\left|\frac{F(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1}\right| \le \varepsilon, \ \forall \ \tau_1, \tau_2 \ge T(\varepsilon), (u, v) \in E.$$
(4.1.13)

(4.1.13) Since $\phi_{r_1,r_2} \in L^1[0,+\infty)$ then $\int_0^\infty \frac{|H_i(t,s)|}{1+t} \phi_{r_1,r_2}(s) ds < \infty$ for i = 1, 2, we can choose $T_1(\varepsilon), T_2(\varepsilon)$ such that

$$\int_0^\infty \frac{|H_i(t,s)|}{1+t} \phi_{r_1,r_2}(s) ds \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2}, \text{ for } i = 1,2.$$
(4.1.14)
Then, for every $\tau_1, \tau_2 \geq T_1(\varepsilon_1)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{F_1(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F_1(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1} \right| &\leq \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{H_1(\tau_2, s)}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{H_1(\tau_1, s)}{1 + \tau_1} \right| \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &\leq \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_1(\tau_2, s)|}{1 + \tau_2} \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &\quad + \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_1(\tau_1, s)|}{1 + \tau_1} \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Then, for every $\tau_1, \tau_2 \geq T_2(\varepsilon)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{F_2(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F_2(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1} \right| &\leq \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_2(\tau_2, s)|}{1 + \tau_2} \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &+ \int_0^\infty \frac{|H_2(\tau_1, s)|}{1 + \tau_1} \phi_{r_1, r_2}(s) ds \\ &\leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} = \varepsilon. \end{aligned}$$

Thus, for every $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ there exists $(T_1(\varepsilon), T_2(\varepsilon))$ such that for all $\tau_1, \tau_2 \ge \max(T_1(\varepsilon), T_2(\varepsilon))$

$$\left|\frac{F(u(\tau_2), v(\tau_2))}{1 + \tau_2} - \frac{F(u(\tau_1), v(\tau_1))}{1 + \tau_1}\right| \le (\varepsilon, \varepsilon) \quad \forall (u, v) \in D.$$

Step 3. A priori bounds for solutions. We show that the following set

 $B = \left\{ (u, v) \in E \times E : \lambda F(u, v) + \lambda B(\frac{u}{\lambda}, \frac{v}{\lambda}) = (u, v) \right\} \text{ is bounded for } 0 < \lambda < 1. \text{ Let } (u, v) \in B, \text{ then}$

$$u(t) = \lambda \int_0^\infty H_1(t,s) f(s,u(s),v(s)) ds + \lambda \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_1(t,t_k) I_{1.k}\left(\frac{u(t_k)}{\lambda}\right) + \lambda \sum_{t_k < t} J_{1.k}\left(\frac{u(t_k)}{\lambda}\right) + \lambda \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)\left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{1.k}\left(\frac{u(t_k)}{\lambda}\right)\right) ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_1(s) ds},$$

4.1 Main result

$$\begin{aligned} v(t) &= \lambda \int_0^\infty H_2(t,s)g(s,u(s),v(s))ds + \lambda \sum_{k=1}^\infty H_2(t,t_k)I_{2.k}\left(\frac{v(t_k)}{\lambda}\right) \\ &+ \lambda \sum_{t_k < t} J_{2.k}\left(\frac{v(t_k)}{\lambda}\right) + \lambda \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)\left(\sum_{t_k < s} J_{2.k}\left(\frac{v(t_k)}{\lambda}\right)\right)ds}{1 - \int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|u(t)|}{1+t} &\leq \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \int_0^\infty P_1(s)(1+s)ds \|u\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \int_0^\infty P_2(s)(1+s)ds \|v\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \int_0^\infty P_3(s)(1+s)ds \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty (a_{1,k} + b_{1,k})(1+t_k) \|u\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty |I_{1,k}(0)| + \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_1(s)ds}{h_1^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty |J_{1,k}(0)|. \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{|v(t)|}{1+t} &\leq \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \int_0^\infty \bar{P}_1(s)(1+s)ds \|u\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \int_0^\infty \bar{P}_2(s)(1+s)ds \|v\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \int_0^\infty \bar{P}_3(s)(1+s)ds \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty (a_{2,k} + b_{2,k})(1+t_k) \|v\|_E \\ &+ \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty |I_{2,k}(0)| + \left(1 + \frac{\int_0^\infty h_2(s)ds}{h_2^*}\right) \sum_{k=1}^\infty |J_{2,k}(0)|. \end{aligned}$$

This implies that

$$||u||_{E} \leq N_{1}||u||_{E} + K_{1}||u||_{E} + N_{2}||v||_{E} + N_{3}.$$

$$||v||_E \le C_1 ||u||_E + K_2 ||v||_E + C_2 ||v||_E + C_3.$$

Then, we have that

$$\begin{pmatrix} 1-N_1-K_1 & -C_2 \\ -C_1 & 1-C_2-K_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \|u\|_E \\ \|v\|_E \end{pmatrix} \leq \begin{pmatrix} N_3 \\ C_3 \end{pmatrix},$$

Therefore

$$\tilde{M}\left(\begin{array}{c} \|u\|_E\\ \|v\|_E\end{array}\right) \le \left(\begin{array}{c} N_3\\ C_3\end{array}\right). \tag{4.1.15}$$

Since \tilde{M} satisfies the hypotheses of lemma (1.4.5) thus $(\tilde{M})^{-1}$ is order preserving.

We apply $(\tilde{M})^{-1}$ to both sides of the inequality (4.1.15) we obtain

$$\left(\begin{array}{c} \|u\|_E\\ \|v\|_E\end{array}\right) \leq (\tilde{M})^{-1} \left(\begin{array}{c} N_3\\ C_3\end{array}\right).$$

Then the set $B = \{(u, v) \in E \times E : \lambda F(u, v) + \lambda B(\frac{u}{\lambda}, \frac{v}{\lambda}) = (u, v)\}$ is bounded, hence we deduce from lemma 1.4.14 that the equation x = F(x) + B(x), $x \in E \times E$ has solution.

4.2 Example

In this section, we present a simple example to explain our result. Consider the problem:

$$-u'' = \frac{e^{-t}}{100} (1+u+v)^{\frac{2}{3}}, \quad t \in J, \ t \neq k,$$
(4.2.1)

$$-v'' = \frac{e^{-t}}{200} (1+u+v)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \quad t \in J, \ t \neq k,$$
(4.2.2)

$$\Delta u(k) = \frac{1}{8^k} \sqrt{u(k)}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.2.3)

$$-\Delta u'(k) = \frac{1}{10^k} \sqrt{u(k)}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.2.4)

$$\Delta v(k) = e^{-2k} \frac{v(k)}{(1+v(k))}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.2.5)

$$-\Delta v'(t_k) = e^{-3k} \frac{v(k)}{(1+v(k))}, \quad k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
(4.2.6)

$$u(0) = \int_0^\infty e^{-4s} u(s) ds, \quad u'(\infty) = 0, \tag{4.2.7}$$

$$v(0) = \int_0^\infty e^{-5s} v(s) ds, \quad v'(\infty) = 0.$$
(4.2.8)

Let

$$f(t, u, v) = \frac{e^{-t}}{100} (1 + u + v)^{\frac{2}{3}},$$

$$g(t, u, v) = \frac{e^{-t}}{200} (1 + u + v)^{\frac{1}{2}},$$

$$J_{1,k}(u(t_k)) = \frac{1}{8^k} \sqrt{u(k)} \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$I_{1,k}(u(t_k)) = \frac{1}{10^k} \sqrt{u(k)} \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$J_{2,k}(v'(t_k)) = e^{-2k} \ \frac{v(k)}{(1 + v(k))}, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$I_{2,k}(v'(t_k)) = e^{-3k} \ \frac{v(k)}{(1 + v(k))}, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$h_1(s) = e^{-4s} \ and \ h_2(s) = e^{-5s}.$$

Let $u, v \in [0, \infty]$ et $t \in J$ it is clear that $\int_0^\infty e^{-5s} ds = \frac{1}{5} \neq 1$ and $\int_0^\infty e^{-4s} ds = \frac{1}{4} \neq 1$. By the inequality $(1 + x + y)^\gamma \leq 1 + \gamma x + \gamma y$, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^+$, $0 \leq \gamma \leq 1$, we see that

$$|f(t, u, v)| = \frac{e^{-t}}{100} \left(1 + \frac{2}{3}|u| + \frac{2}{3}|v| \right)$$

and

$$|g(t, u, v)| = \frac{e^{-t}}{200} \left(1 + \frac{1}{2}|u| + \frac{1}{2}|v| \right)$$

Hence the condition (H_2) holds with $P_i(t) = \frac{e^{-t}}{150}$ and $\bar{P}_i(t) = \frac{e^{-t}}{400}$ for i=1,2, $P_3(t) = \frac{e^{-t}}{100}, \ \bar{P}_3(t) = \frac{e^{-t}}{200}.$ Also for all $u, \bar{u}, v, \bar{v} \in \mathbb{R}^+$, we have

$$|I_{1,k}(u) - I_{1,k}(\bar{u})| \le \frac{1}{10^k} |u - \bar{u}|, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

and

$$I_{2,k}(v) - I_{2,k}(\bar{v})| \le e^{-3k}|v - \bar{v}|, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$|J_{1,k}(u) - J_{1,k}(\bar{u})| \le \frac{1}{8^k} |u - \bar{u}|, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

and

$$|J_{2,k}(v) - J_{2,k}(\bar{v})| \le e^{-2k} |v - \bar{v}|, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

Thus (H_3) holds with

$$a_{1,k} = \frac{1}{10^k}, b_{1,k} = \frac{1}{8^k}, a_{2,k} = e^{-3k}, b_{2,k} = e^{-2k}, k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

Then, we easily obtain:

$$N_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds}{h_{1}^{*}}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} P_{i}(s)(1+s)ds = \frac{4}{225} < \infty, \ i = 1, 2;$$

$$C_{i} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s)ds}{h_{2}^{*}}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} \bar{P}_{i}(s)(1+s)ds = \frac{1}{160} < \infty, \ i = 1, 2;$$

$$K_{1} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds}{h_{1}^{*}}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_{1,k} + b_{1,k})(1+t_{k}) = \frac{1073}{1327} < \infty,$$

4.2 Example

$$K_{2} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s)ds}{h_{2}^{*}}\right) \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (a_{2,k} + b_{2,k})(1+t_{k}) \simeq 0, 41 < \infty,$$

$$N_{3} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{1}(s)ds}{h_{1}^{*}}\right) \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} P_{3}(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |I_{1,k}(0)| + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |J_{1,k}(0)|\right) = \frac{1}{75} < \infty,$$

$$C_{3} = \left(1 + \frac{\int_{0}^{\infty} h_{2}(s)ds}{h_{2}^{*}}\right) \left(\int_{0}^{\infty} \bar{P}_{3}(s)ds + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |I_{2,k}(0)| + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |J_{2,k}(0)|\right) = \frac{1}{160} < \infty.$$

Thus $N_1 + K_1 \simeq 0, 83 < 1$ and $C_2 + K_2 \simeq 0, 6 < 1$ For this example

$$\tilde{M} \simeq \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 - 0,83 & -\frac{4}{225} \\ -\frac{1}{160} & 1 - 0,6 \end{array} \right).$$

 $\det \tilde{M}\simeq 0,07>0.$ By Theorem 4.1.3, it follows that Problem (4.2.1)-(4.2.8) has at least one solution.

CHAPTER 5

Implicit impulsive differential equations with non local conditions

In this chapter, our main objective is to establish sufficient conditions for the existence of solutions for systems of implicit impulsive differential equations with non local conditions. Our approach based on vectorial version of Krasnoselskii's theorem. Consider the problem following

$$x'(t) = g_1(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_1(t, x'(t), y'(t)), \quad t \in J',$$
(5.0.1)

$$y'(t) = g_2(t, x(t), y(t)) + h_2(t, x'(t), y'(t)), \ t \in J',$$
(5.0.2)

$$\Delta x(t_k) = I_k(x(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{5.0.3}$$

$$\Delta y(t_k) = J_k(y(t_k)), \ k = 1, 2, \dots, m, \tag{5.0.4}$$

$$x(0) = \alpha[x], \tag{5.0.5}$$

$$y(0) = \beta[y],$$
 (5.0.6)

where $J = [0,1], 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_m < 1, J' = J \setminus \{t_1, t_2, \dots, t_m\},$ $h_i, g_i : [0,1] \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ are continuous functions for $i = 1, 2, 0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_m < 1, J_k, I_k \in C(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}) \ k \in \{1, 2, \cdots, m\}. \ \Delta x(t_k) = x(t_k^+) - x(t_k^-)$ and $\Delta y(t_k) = y(t_k^+) - y(t_k^-)$ in which $x(t_k^+)$ and $x(t_k^+) (x(t_k^-), y(t_k^-))$ denote the righ and left hand limit of x(t) and y(t) at $t = t_k$, respectively. Next α , β are linear functionals given by Stieltjes integrals

$$\begin{split} \alpha[v] &= \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dA(s), \\ \beta[v] &= \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dB(s), \end{split}$$

where $\tilde{t} \in [t_m, 1]$ is fixed.

5.1 An existence result

We consider the space

$$PC(J, \mathbb{R}) = \{ y : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R} : y_k \in C(J', \mathbb{R}), k = 1, \cdots, m, \\ y(t_k^-) \text{ and } y(t_k^+) \text{ exist } k = 1, ..., m, \text{ and } y(t_k^-) = y(t) \}.$$

We use in $PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$ the norm

$$\|(x,y)\|_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} := \left(\|x\|_{PC[0,1]}, \|y\|_{PC[0,1]}\right),$$

where

$$\|v\|_{PC[0,1]} := \max\{\|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]}, \|v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}\}$$

and the notation $||v||_{[0,\tilde{t}]}$ stands for sup-norm on $[0,\tilde{t}]$:

$$|v||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} = \sup_{[0,\tilde{t}]} |v(t)|,$$

while $||v||_{[\tilde{t},1]}$ denote Bielecki-type norm on $[\tilde{t},1]$:

$$\|v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} = \sup_{[0,\tilde{t}]} |v(t)| e^{-\tau(t-\eta)},$$

Here $\eta < \tilde{t}$ and $\tau > 0$ are given numbers. As we shall see, the joint role of the parameters η (any fixed number with $\eta < \tilde{t}$) and τ (chosen large enough) is to weaken the assumptions on $g_1(t, x, y)$, $g_2(t, x, y)$ when $t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]$. Then the norm of the functional α , $\beta : PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$, is given by

$$\|\alpha\| = \sup_{\|v\|=1} \left| \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dA(s) \right|,$$

$$\|\beta\| = \sup_{\|v\|=1} \left| \int_0^{\tilde{t}} v(s) dB(s) \right|.$$

In order to obtain the equivalent integral form of the problem (5.0.1)-(5.0.5), de note

$$u(t) = x'(t), \quad v(t) = y'(t), \quad t \neq t_k, \ k = 1, 2, \cdots, m.$$
 (5.1.1)

Integrating (5.1.1) from 0 to t, we have

$$x(t) = x(0) + \int_0^t u(s)ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} I_k(x(t_k)),$$

and

$$y(t) = y(0) + \int_0^t v(s)ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(y(t_k)).$$

The conditions $x(0) = \alpha[x]$ and $y(0) = \beta[x]$ gives

$$x(0) = \alpha \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} I_k(x(t_k)) + \int_0^{\cdot} u(s) ds \right] + \alpha[x(0)],$$

and

$$y(0) = \beta \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} J_k(y(t_k)) + \int_0^{.} v(s) ds \right] + \alpha[y(0)].$$

Hence

$$x(0) = \alpha \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} I_k(x(t_k)) + \int_0^{\cdot} u(s) ds \right] + \alpha [1] x(0),$$

and

$$y(0) = \alpha \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} J_k(y(t_k)) + \int_0^{.} u(s) ds \right] + \alpha[1]y(0).$$

Therefore

$$x(t) = (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} I_k(x(t_k)) + \int_0^{\cdot} u(s) ds \right] + \int_0^t u(s) ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} I_k(x(t_k)),$$

$$y(t) = (1 - \beta[1])^{-1} \beta \left[\sum_{0 < t_k < .} J_k(y(t_k)) + \int_0^{\cdot} v(s) ds \right] + \int_0^t v(s) ds + \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k(y(t_k)).$$

In the other hand, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} x(t_1) &= (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \alpha \left[\int_0^{t_1} u(s) ds \right] + \int_0^{t_1} u(s) ds = (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \int_0^{t_1} u(s) ds \\ x(t_2) &= (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(I_1(x(t_1)) + \int_0^{t_2} u(s) ds \right) \\ x(t_3) &= (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(I_1(x(t_1)) + I_2(x(t_2)) + \int_0^{t_3} u(s) ds \right) \\ &\vdots \\ \vdots \end{aligned}$$

$$x(t_k) = (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u(s) ds \right).$$

Similarly, we have

$$y(t_k) = (1 - \beta[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} J_i(y(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} v(s) ds \right).$$

with

$$y(t_1) = (1 - \beta[1])^{-1} \int_0^{t_1} v(s) ds.$$

Let

$$G_1(u,v)(t) = g_1(t,(1-\alpha[1])^{-1}\alpha[h_1] + h_1(t),(1-\beta[1])^{-1}\beta[h_2] + h_2(t)),$$

$$G_2(u,v)(t) = g_2(t,(1-\alpha[1])^{-1}\alpha[h_1] + h_1(t),(1-\beta[1])^{-1}\beta[h_2] + h_2(t)).$$

where

$$h_1(t) = \sum_{0 < t_k < t} I_k \left((1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u(s) ds \right) \right) + \int_0^t u(s) ds$$

$$h_2(t) = \sum_{0 < t_k < t} J_k \left((1 - \beta[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} J_i(y(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} v(s) ds \right) \right) + \int_0^t v(s) ds.$$

Also we define

$$H_1(u, v)(t) = h_1(t, u(t), v(t)),$$

$$H_2(u, v)(t) = h_2(t, u(t), v(t)).$$

Then the problem (5.0.1)-(5.0.5) is equivalent to the system

$$\begin{cases} u = G_1(u, v) + H_1(u, v), \\ v = G_2(u, v) + H_2(u, v). \end{cases}$$
(5.1.2)

In this section we study the existence of solutions for systems (5.0.1)-(5.0.5) with two impulses. We need the following assumptions:

 $({\cal H}_1) \ g_1$ and g_2 are jointly continuous functions, there exists nonnegative coefficients

 $a_i b_i c_i A_i B_i C_i$ such that:

$$\begin{aligned} |g_1(t, u, v)| &\leq \begin{cases} a_1|u| + b_1|v| + c_1, & \text{if } t \in [0, \tilde{t}];\\ A_1|u| + B_1|v| + C_1, & \text{if } t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]; \end{cases} \\ |g_2(t, u, v)| &\leq \begin{cases} a_2|u| + b_2|v| + c_2, & \text{if } t \in [0, \tilde{t}];\\ A_2|u| + B_2|v| + C_2, & \text{if } t \in [\tilde{t}, 1], \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

for all $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$.

 (H_2) h_1 , h_2 satisfy the Lipschitz conditions

$$\begin{aligned} |h_1(t, u, v) - h_1(t, \bar{u}, \bar{v})| &\leq \bar{a}_1 |u - \bar{u}| + \bar{a}_2 |v - \bar{v}|, \\ |h_2(t, u, v) - h_2(t, \bar{u}, \bar{v})| &\leq \bar{b}_1 |u - \bar{u}| + \bar{b}_2 |v - \bar{v}|, \end{aligned}$$

for all $(u, v), (\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $t \in J$. Here for $i = 1, 2, \bar{a}_i, \bar{b}_i$ are non negative numbers.

 (H_3) There exist d_k, \bar{d}_k, D_k and $\bar{D}_k \in \mathbb{R}^+$ such that for every $v \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$|I_k(v)| \le d_k |u| + \bar{d}_k, \ k = 1, 2.$$
(5.1.3)

and

$$|J_k(v)| \le D_k |u| + \bar{D}_k, \ k = 1, 2.$$
(5.1.4)

Define a square matrices

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{pmatrix} a_1 \tilde{t} A_\alpha \bar{A} & b_1 \tilde{t} B_\beta \bar{B} \\ a_2 \tilde{t} A_\alpha \bar{A} & b_2 \tilde{t} B_\beta \bar{B} \end{pmatrix}, \quad \bar{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{a}_1 & \bar{a}_2 \\ \bar{b}_1 & \bar{b}_2 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$M_1 = \begin{pmatrix} A_1 & B_1 \\ A_2 & B_2 \end{pmatrix}.$$

where

$$\bar{A} = 1 + |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \left(d_1 + d_2 + d_2 d_1 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \right),$$

$$\bar{B} = 1 + |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1} \left(D_1 + D_2 + D_2 D_1 |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1} \right).$$

and

$$A_{\alpha} = 1 + |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} ||\alpha||, \quad B_{\beta} = 1 + |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1} ||\beta||.$$

Now we define

$$D = \left\{ u : PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R}) : \| (u, v) \|_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]} \leq R \right\},$$

with $R = \begin{bmatrix} R_1 \\ R_2 \end{bmatrix}$, $R_1 \ge 0$, $R_2 \ge 0$ and $R \ge (I - \bar{M} - \tilde{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1)^{-1}(P + K)$,
where
$$P = \| H(0, 0) \|_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]}, \quad K = \begin{bmatrix} K_1 \\ K_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

with

$$H(0,0) = \begin{bmatrix} H_1(0,0) \\ H_2(0,0) \end{bmatrix}, \quad K_1 = c_1 + a_1 \tilde{C} + b_1 \bar{C} \text{ and } K_2 = c_2 + a_2 \tilde{C} + b_2 \bar{C},$$

where

$$\bar{C} = \bar{d}_1 + \bar{d}_2 + \bar{d}_1 d_2 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1}, \quad \tilde{C} = \bar{D}_1 + \bar{D}_2 + \bar{D}_1 D_2 |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1}$$

It is obvious that D is a non empty, bounded, closed and convex subset of $PC(J,\mathbb{R}) \times PC(J,\mathbb{R}).$

Theorem 5.1.1. Suppose that the hypotheses $(H_1) - (H_3)$ hold, if the spectral raduis of the matrix $\overline{M} + \widetilde{M}$ is less one, then the problem (5.0.1)-(5.0.5) has at least one solution.

Proof. Consider the operator

$$T: PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \rightarrow PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$$

defined by

$$T(u, v) = G_1(u, v) + H_1(u, v),$$

with

$$T_1(u, v) = G_1(u, v) + H_1(u, v),$$

avec

$$T_2(u, v) = G_2(u, v) + H_2(u, v).$$

Therefore, the system (5.1.2) can be regarded as a fixed point problem for the operator T.

Step 1:We, verify that H is a generalized contraction mapping In, fact for all (u, v), $(\bar{u}, \bar{v}) \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$ using (H_2) and (H_3) , for $t \in [0, \tilde{t}]$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |H_1(u,v)(t) - H_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})(t)| &= |h_1(t,u(t),v(t)) - h_1(t,\bar{u}(t),\bar{v}(t))| \\ &\leq \bar{a}_1 |u(t) - \bar{u}(t)| + \bar{b}_1 |v(t) - \bar{v}(t)| \\ &\leq \bar{a}_1 ||u - \bar{u}||_{[0,\bar{t}]} + \bar{b}_1 ||v - \bar{v}||_{[0,\bar{t}]}. \end{aligned}$$

Taking super norm, we obtain that

$$\|H_1(u,v) - H_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \le \bar{a}_1 \|u - \bar{u}\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \bar{b}_1 \|v - \bar{v}\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]}.$$
 (5.1.5)

For $t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |H_{1}(u,v)(t) - H_{1}(\bar{u},\bar{v})(t)| &\leq \bar{a}_{1}|u(t) - \bar{u}(t)| + \bar{b}_{1}|v(t) - \bar{v}(t)| \\ &= \bar{a}_{1}|u(t) - \bar{u}(t)|e^{-\tau(t-\eta)}e^{\tau(t-\eta)} \\ &\quad + \bar{b}_{1}|v(t) - \bar{v}(t)|e^{-\tau(t-\eta)}e^{\tau(t-\eta)} \\ &\leq \bar{a}_{1}e^{\tau(t-\eta)}||u - \bar{u}||_{\tilde{t},1]} + \bar{b}_{1}e^{\tau(t-\eta)}||v - \bar{v}||_{\tilde{t},1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Dividing by $e^{\tau(t-\eta)}$ and taking super norm when $t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]$, we obtain that :

$$\|H_1(u,v) - H_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} \le \bar{a}_1 \|u - \bar{u}\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} + \bar{b}_1 \|v - \bar{v}\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}.$$
 (5.1.6)

The inequalities (5.1.5) and (5.1.6) will imply that

$$||H_1(u,v) - H_1(\bar{u},\bar{v})||_{PC[0,1]} \le \bar{a}_1 ||u - \bar{u}||_{PC[0,1]} + \bar{b}_1 ||v - \bar{v}||_{PC[0,1]}.$$
 (5.1.7)

Similarly, we obtain

$$\|H_2(u,v) - H_2(\bar{u},\bar{v})\|_{PC[0,1]} \le \bar{a}_2 \|u - \bar{u}\|_{PC[0,1]} + \bar{b}_2 \|v - \bar{v}\|_{PC[0,1]}.$$
 (5.1.8)

Using the vector norm we can put both inequalities (5.1.7) and (5.1.9) under the vector inequality

$$\|H(U) - H(\bar{U})\|_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]} \le \bar{M} \|U - \bar{U}\|_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]}.$$
 (5.1.9)

for U = (u, v), $\overline{U}(\overline{u}, \overline{v})$, according to $\rho(\tilde{M} + \overline{M}) < 1$ and $\overline{M} = \tilde{M} + \overline{M}$, we have $\rho(\overline{M}) < 1$. Hence H is generalized contraction. Step 2: G is continuous.

Let (u_n, v_n) be a sequence such that $(u_n, v_n) \to (u, v)$ in $PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$, then for each $t \in [0, \tilde{t}]$

 $|G_1(u_n, v_n)(t) - G_1(u, v)(t)| \le$

$$\left\|g_1\left(.,\frac{\alpha[h_{1,n}]}{1-\alpha[1]}+h_{1,n}(.),\frac{\beta[h_{2,n}]}{1-\beta[1]}+h_{2,n}(.)\right)-g_1\left(.,\frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1-\alpha[1]}+h_1(.),\frac{\beta[h_2]}{1-\beta[1]}+h_2(.)\right)\right\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]}$$

Note that

$$|h_{1,n}(t) - h_1(t)| \le \sum_{k=1}^2 \left| I_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x_n(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u_n(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) - I_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) \right| + \tilde{t} ||u_n - u||_{[0,\tilde{t}]},$$

Similarly, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_{2,n}(t) - h_2(t)| &\leq \sum_{k=1}^2 \left| J_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} J_i(y_n(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} v_n(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) - \right. \\ & \left. J_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} J_i(y(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} v(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) \right| + \tilde{t} ||v_n - v||_{[0,\tilde{t}]}. \end{aligned}$$

Hence $h_{1,n} \to h_1$ as $n \to \infty$ and $h_{2,n} \to h_2$ as $n \to \infty$. So, we obtain

$$||G_1(u_n, v_n) - G_1(u, v)||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \to 0 \ asn \to \infty.$$

For $[\tilde{t}, 1]$, and any $\tau > 0$, we have $e^{-\tau(t-\eta)} |G_1(u_n, v_n)(t) - G_1(u, v)(t)| \leq$

$$\left\|g_1\left(.,\frac{\alpha[h_{1,n}]}{1-\alpha[1]} + h_{1,n}(.),\frac{\beta[h_{2,n}]}{1-\alpha[1]} + h_{2,n}(.)\right) - g_1\left(.,\frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1-\alpha[1]} + h_1(.),\frac{\beta[h_2]}{1-\alpha[1]} + h_2(.)\right)\right\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}$$

Note that

$$\begin{split} |h_{1,n}(t) - h_1(t)| &\leq \sum_{k=1}^2 \left| I_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x_n(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u_n(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) \right. \\ &- \left. I_k \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_i < t_k} I_i(x(t_i)) + \int_0^{t_k} u(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) \right| \\ &+ \tilde{t} ||u_n - u||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \frac{e^{\tau(1-\eta)}}{\tau} ||u_n - u||_{[\tilde{t},1]}, \end{split}$$

Similarly, we have that

$$|h_{2,n}(t) - h_{2}(t)| \leq \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left| J_{k} \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_{i} < t_{k}} J_{i}(y_{n}(t_{i})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} v_{n}(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) - J_{k} \left(\frac{\sum_{0 < t_{i} < t_{k}} J_{i}(y(t_{i})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} v(s) ds}{1 - \alpha[1]} \right) + \tilde{t} \|v_{n} - v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \frac{e^{\tau(1-\eta)}}{\tau} \|v_{n} - v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}$$

Then

$$||G_1(u_n, v_n) - G_1(u, v)||_{[\tilde{t}, 1]} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Furthermore:

$$||G_1(u_n, v_n) - G_1(u, v)||_{PC[0,1]} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Similarly, we can obtain

$$||G_2(u_n, v_n) - G_2(u, v)||_{PC[0,1]} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

Step 3: G maps bounded sets into bounded sets in D. Indeed, it is enough to show that for any r > 0 there exists a positive constant l such that for each $(u, v) \in D$, we have

$$|G(u,v)||_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} \le l = (l_1, l_2).$$

Then for each $t \in [0, \tilde{t}]$, we find that

$$\begin{aligned} |G_{1}(u,v)(t)| &= \left| g_{1}(t,(1-\alpha[1])^{-1}\alpha[h_{1}]+h_{1}(t),(1-\beta[1])^{-1}\beta[h_{2}]+h_{2}(t)) \right| \\ &\leq a_{1} \left| (1-\alpha[1])^{-1}\alpha[h_{1}]+h_{1}(t) \right| + b_{1} \left| (1-\beta[1])^{-1}\beta[h_{2}]+h_{2}(t)) \right| + c_{1} \\ &\leq a_{1} \left| 1-\alpha[1] \right|^{-1} \|\alpha\| \|h_{1}\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + a_{1} \|h_{1}\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + b_{1} \left| 1-\beta[1] \right|^{-1} \|\beta\| \|h_{2}\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &+ \|h_{2}\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + c_{1} \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$|G_{1}(u,v)(t)| \leq a_{1} \left(1 + |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \|\alpha\|\right) \|h_{1}\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + b_{1} \left(1 + |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1} \|\beta\|\right) \|h_{2}\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + c_{1}$$
(5.1.10)

Note that

$$\begin{split} |h_{1}(t)| &= \left| \sum_{0 < t_{k} < t} I_{k} \left((1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_{i} < t_{k}} I_{i}(x(t_{i})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} u(s)ds \right) \right) + \int_{0}^{t} u(s)ds \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left| I_{k} \left((1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(\sum_{0 < t_{i} < t_{k}} I_{i}(x(t_{i})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} u(s)ds \right) \right) \right| + \int_{0}^{t} |u(s)|ds \\ &\leq d_{1} \left| (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} u(s)ds \right| + d_{2} \left| (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(I_{1}(x(t_{1})) + \int_{0}^{t_{2}} u(s)ds \right) \right| \\ &\quad + \bar{d}_{1} + \bar{d}_{2} + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\leq d_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} |u(s)|ds + d_{2}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \left(|I_{1}(x(t_{1}))| + \int_{0}^{t_{2}} |u(s)|ds \right) \\ &\quad + \bar{d}_{1} + \bar{d}_{2} + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\leq \tilde{t}d_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + d_{2}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \left(d_{1}|x(t_{1})| + \bar{d}_{1} + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \right) + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\leq \tilde{t}d_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} d_{2} \left(d_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \int_{0}^{t_{1}} |u(s)|ds + \bar{d}_{1} + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \right) \\ &\quad + \tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} + \bar{d}_{1} + \bar{d}_{2} \\ &\leq \tilde{t} \left(1 + |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \left(d_{1} + d_{2} + d_{2}d_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \right) \right) \|u\|_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\quad + \bar{d}_{1} + \bar{d}_{2} + \bar{d}_{1}d_{2}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1}, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$\|h_1\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \le \tilde{t}\bar{A}\|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \bar{C}.$$
(5.1.11)

Similarly, we have that

$$\|h_2\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \le \tilde{t}\bar{B}\|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \tilde{C}.$$
(5.1.12)

Submitting (5.1.11) and (5.1.12) to (5.1.10), we have

 $\|G_1(u,v)\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \le a_1 A_\alpha \bar{A}\tilde{t} \|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + a_1 \bar{C} + b_1 B_\beta \bar{B}\tilde{t} \|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + b_1 \tilde{C} + c_1.$ (5.1.13)

On the other hand, one can obtain that for any $(u, v) \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R}), t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]$ and any $\tau > 0$, one can obtain that

$$|G_{1}(u,v)(t)| \leq A_{1} |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} ||\alpha|| ||h_{1}||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + A_{1} |h_{1}(t)| + B_{1} |1 - \beta[1]|^{-1} ||\beta|| ||h_{2}||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + B_{1} |h_{2}(t)| + C_{1} \quad (5.1.14)$$

Clearly, that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_1(t)| &\leq \tilde{t}\bar{A} \|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \bar{C} + \int_{\tilde{t}}^t |u(s)| ds \\ &:= \tilde{t}\bar{A} \|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \bar{C} + \int_{\tilde{t}}^t e^{\tau(s-\eta)} e^{-\tau(s-\eta)} |u(s)| ds \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$h_1(t) \le \tilde{t}\bar{A} \|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \bar{C} + \frac{e^{\tau(t-\eta)}}{\tau} \|u\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}.$$
(5.1.15)

Similarly, we have that

$$|h_2(t)| \le \tilde{t}\bar{B} \|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \tilde{C} + \frac{e^{\tau(t-\eta)}}{\tau} \|v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}.$$
(5.1.16)

Submitting (5.1.11), (5.1.12), (5.1.15) and (5.1.16) to (5.1.14), we have

$$|G_{1}(u,v)(t)| \leq A_{1}\bar{A}A_{\alpha}\tilde{t}||u||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + B_{1}\bar{B}B_{\beta}\tilde{t}||v||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + \frac{A_{1}e^{\tau(t-\eta)}}{\tau}||u||_{[\tilde{t},1]} + \frac{B_{1}e^{\tau(t-\eta)}}{\tau}||v||_{[\tilde{t},1]} + C_{1} + A_{1}\tilde{C} + B_{1}\bar{C}.$$

Dividing by $e^{\tau(t-\eta)}$ and taking the super mum when $t\in[\tilde{t},1],$ we obtain obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|G_1(u,v)\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} &\leq \left(A_1\bar{A}A_{\alpha}\tilde{t}\|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + A_1\tilde{C} + B_1\bar{B}B_{\beta}\tilde{t}\|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + B_1\bar{C} + C_1\right)e^{-\tau(\tilde{t}-\eta)} \\ &+ \frac{A_1}{\tau}\|u\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} + \frac{B_1}{\tau}\|v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Now we can take advantage from the special choice of the norm $\|.\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]}$, more exactly from the choice of $\eta < \tilde{t}$, to assume (choosing large enough $\tau > 0$) that

$$A_1 e^{-\tau(\tilde{t}-\eta)} \le a_1, \quad B_1 e^{-\tau(\tilde{t}-\eta)} \le b_1, \quad C_1 e^{-\tau(\tilde{t}-\eta)} \le c_1.$$

By deduction, one can obtain that

$$\|G_{1}(u,v)\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} \leq a_{1}\tilde{t}\bar{A}A_{\alpha}\|u\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + b_{1}\tilde{t}\bar{B}B_{\beta}\|v\|_{[0,\tilde{t}]} + c_{1} + a_{1}\tilde{C} + b_{1}\bar{C} + \frac{B_{1}}{\tau}\|v\|_{[\tilde{t},1]} + \frac{A_{1}}{\tau}\|u\|_{[\tilde{t},1]}.$$
 (5.1.17)

Now (5.1.13) and (5.1.17) imply that

$$\|G_1(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]} \le \left(a_1 \tilde{t} \bar{A} A_\alpha + \frac{A_1}{\tau}\right) \|u\|_{PC[0,1]} + \left(b_1 \tilde{t} B_\beta \bar{B} + \frac{B_1}{\tau}\right) \|v\|_{PC[0,1]} + c_1 + a_1 \tilde{C} + b_1 \bar{C} := l_1. \quad (5.1.18)$$

Similarly

$$\|G_{2}(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]} \leq \left(a_{2}\tilde{t}A_{\alpha}\bar{A} + \frac{A_{2}}{\tau}\right)\|u\|_{PC[0,1]} + \left(b_{2}\tilde{t}B_{\beta}\bar{B} + \frac{B_{2}}{\tau}\right)\|v\|_{PC[0,1]} + c_{2} + a_{2}\tilde{C} + b_{2}\bar{C} := l_{2}.$$
 (5.1.19)

Step 4: G maps bounded sets into equicontinuous sets of $PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times$

 $PC(J, \mathbb{R})$ Let D the bounded sets. Let $r_1, r_2 \in [0, \tilde{t}], r_1 < r_2$ and $(u, v) \in D$, thus we

$$\begin{aligned} |G_1(u,v)(r_2) - G_1(u,v)(r_1)| &= \left| g_1 \left(r_2, \frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1 - \alpha[1]} + h_1(r_2), \frac{\beta[h_2]}{1 - \beta[1]} + h_2(r_2) \right) \right. \\ &- g_1 \left(r_1, \frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1 - \alpha[1]} + h_1(r_1), \frac{\beta[h_2]}{1 - \beta[1]} + h_2(r_1) \right) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

Note that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_{1}(r_{2}) - h_{1}(r_{1})| \\ &\leq \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} \left| I_{k} \left((1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(I_{1}(x(t_{1})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} u(s)ds \right) \right) \right| + \int_{r_{2}}^{r_{1}} |u(s)|ds \\ &\leq \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} d_{k} \left| (1 - \alpha[1])^{-1} \left(I_{1}(x(t_{1})) + \int_{0}^{t_{k}} u(s)ds \right) \right| + \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} \bar{d}_{k} \\ &+ (r_{2} - r_{1}) ||u||_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\leq |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} d_{k} \left(d_{1}|x(t_{1})| + \bar{d}_{1} + \tilde{t}||u||_{[0,\bar{t}]} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} \bar{d}_{k} + (r_{2} - r_{1}) ||u||_{[0,\bar{t}]} \\ &\leq |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \tilde{t}||u||_{[0,\bar{t}]} \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} d_{k} \left(|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} d_{1} + 1 \right) + \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} \bar{d}_{k} \\ &+ \bar{d}_{1}|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} d_{k} + (r_{2} - r_{1}) ||u||_{[0,\bar{t}]}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_2(r_2) - h_1(r_1)| &\leq |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \tilde{t} ||u||_{[0,\tilde{t}]} \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} D_k \left(|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} D_1 + 1 \right) \\ &+ \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} \bar{D}_k + \bar{D}_1 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} D_k + (r_2 - r_1) ||u||_{[0,\tilde{t}]}. \end{aligned}$$

Then

$$|h_1(r_2) - h_1(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1,$$

and

$$|h_2(r_2) - h_2(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1.$$

This follows from the continuity of g_1, g_2 , we get

$$|G_1(u,v)(r_2) - G_1(u,v)(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1 \text{ for } t \in [0,\tilde{t}].$$

Similarly, we have

$$|G_2(u,v)(r_2) - G_2(u,v)(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1 \text{ for } t \in [0,\tilde{t}].$$

Secondly, for $r_1, r_2 \in [\tilde{t}, 1], r_1 < r_2$ and $(u, v) \in D$, we obtain

$$\left| e^{-\tau(r_2 - \eta)} G_1(u, v)(r_2) - e^{-\tau(r_1 - \eta)} G_1(u, v)(r_1) \right| = \left| e^{-\tau(r_2 - \eta)} g_1\left(r_2, \frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1 - \alpha[1]} + h_1(r_2), \frac{\beta[h_2]}{1 - \beta[1]} + h_2(r_2)\right) - e^{-\tau(r_1 - \eta)} g_1\left(r_1, \frac{\alpha[h_1]}{1 - \alpha[1]} + h_1(r_1), \frac{\beta[h_2]}{1 - \beta[1]} + h_2(r_1)\right) \right|.$$

Note that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_1(r_2) - h_1(r_1)| &\leq |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \frac{e^{\tau(r_2 - \eta)}}{\tau} \|u\|_{[\tilde{t}, 1]} \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} d_k \left(|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} d_1 + 1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} \bar{d}_k + \bar{d}_1 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \sum_{r_1 < t_k < r_2} d_k + \frac{e^{\tau(r_2 - \eta)} - e^{\tau(r_1 - \eta)}}{\tau} \|u\|_{[\tilde{t}, 1]}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} |h_{2}(r_{2}) - h_{1}(r_{1})| &\leq |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \frac{e^{\tau(r_{2} - \eta)}}{\tau} \|u\|_{[\tilde{t}, 1]} \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} D_{k} \left(|1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} D_{1} + 1\right) \\ &+ \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} \bar{D}_{k} + \bar{D}_{1} |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} \sum_{r_{1} < t_{k} < r_{2}} D_{k} + \frac{e^{\tau(r_{2} - \eta)} - e^{\tau(r_{1} - \eta)}}{\tau} \|u\|_{[\tilde{t}, 1]}, \end{aligned}$$

which implies that

$$|h_1(r_2) - h_1(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1,$$

and

$$|h_2(r_2) - h_2(r_1)| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1.$$

This follows from the continuity of g_1, g_2 , we have

$$\left| e^{-\tau(r_2 - \eta)} G_1(u, v)(r_2) - e^{-\tau(r_1 - \eta)} G_1(u, v)(r_1) \right| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1 \text{ for } t \in [\tilde{t}, 1]$$

Similarly, we have

$$\left| e^{-\tau(r_2-\eta)} G_2(u,v)(r_2) - e^{-\tau(r_1-\eta)} G_2(u,v)(r_1) \right| \to 0 \text{ as } r_2 \to r_1 \text{ for } t \in [\tilde{t},1]$$

So by step 2-4 we prove that G is completely continuous. **Step 5** We show for non empty, bounded, closed and convex subset D of $PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$ such that $G(D) + H(D) \subseteq D$.

The inequalities (5.1.18) and (5.1.19) imply that

$$\begin{bmatrix} \|G_1(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]} \\ \|G_2(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]} \end{bmatrix} \leq \left(\tilde{M} + \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right) \begin{bmatrix} ||u||_{PC[0,1]} \\ ||v||_{PC[0,1]} \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} K_1 \\ K_2 \end{bmatrix},$$

where

$$K_1 = c_1 + a_1 \tilde{C} + b_1 \bar{C},$$

and

$$K_2 = c_2 + a_2 \tilde{C} + b_1 \bar{C},$$

Using the vector-valued norm, equivalently,

$$\|G(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} \le \left(\tilde{M} + \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right) \|(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} + K, \quad (5.1.20)$$

where $K = \begin{bmatrix} K_1 \\ K_2 \end{bmatrix}$. On the other hand, it follows from (5.1.9)

$$\|H(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} \le \bar{M}\|(u,v)\|_{PC[0,1]\times PC[0,1]} + P,$$
(5.1.21)

For every $(u, v) \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$, where $P = ||H(0, 0)||_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]}$. Now we look for $R = (R_1, R_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$ such that $||H(u, v) + G(u, v)||_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]} \leq R$ for $(u, v) \in PC(J, \mathbb{R}) \times PC(J, \mathbb{R})$ with

5.1 An existence result

 $||(u, v)||_{PC[0,1] \times PC[0,1]} \leq R$. To this end, according to (5.1.20) and (5.1.21), it is sufficient that

$$\left(I - \bar{M} - \tilde{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right)R + P + K \le R.$$

Or equivalently

$$P + K \le \left(I - \bar{M} - \tilde{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right)R.$$
 (5.1.22)

Since $\rho(\bar{M} + \tilde{M}) < 1$ and the entries of $\frac{1}{\tau}$ are as small as desired for $\tau > 0$ large enough, according to Lemma 1.4.6, we can choose τ such that

$$\rho\left(\bar{M} + \tilde{M} + \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right) < 1.$$

Then, $I - \bar{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1 - \tilde{M}$ is invertible and its inverse $\left(I - \bar{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1 - \tilde{M}\right)^{-1}$ is a nonnegative matrix, (5.1.22) is equivalent to

$$R \ge \left(I - \bar{M} - \tilde{M} - \frac{1}{\tau}M_1\right)^{-1} (P + K).$$
 (5.1.23)

Therefor, $G(D) + F(D) \subseteq D$ Thus problem (5.0.1)-(5.0.5) with k = 1, 2 have at least one solution . \Box

5.2 An example

Consider the problem

$$x' = \frac{1}{10}(x + \sin y) + f_1(t) + \frac{1}{2}y' \left[1 + e^{-\frac{4}{5}(x'-1)}\right]^{-1}, \ t \in J, \ t \neq \frac{1}{3}, \quad (5.2.1)$$

$$y' = \cos\left(\frac{x+y}{4}\right) + f_2(t) + \frac{1}{10}x' \left[1 + e^{-\frac{2}{5}(y'-1)}\right] \quad , \ t \neq \frac{1}{3}, \quad (5.2.2)$$

$$\Delta x(\frac{1}{3}) = \frac{1}{6} \sin\left(x\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\right), \qquad (5.2.3)$$

$$\Delta x(\frac{1}{3}) = \frac{1}{5} \cos\left(y\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\right), \qquad (5.2.4)$$

$$x(0) = \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} x(s)ds, \quad y(0) = \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} y(s)ds, \quad (5.2.5)$$

where $f_1, f_2 \in C(J, \mathbb{R})$. This problem can be regarded as the form (5.0.1)-(5.0.5). In this case.

$$g_{1}(t, u, v) = \frac{1}{10}(u + \sin v) + f_{1}(t),$$

$$g_{2}(t, u, v) = \cos\left(\frac{u+v}{4}\right) + f_{2}(t),$$

$$h_{1}(t, u, v) = \frac{1}{2}v\left[1 + e^{-\frac{4}{5}(u-1)}\right]^{-1},$$

$$h_{2}(t, u, v) = \frac{1}{10}u\left[1 + e^{-\frac{2}{5}(v-1)}\right]^{-1}$$

$$I_{1}(u) = \frac{1}{6}\sin\left(x\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\right),$$

$$J_{1}(v) = \frac{1}{5}\cos\left(y\left(\frac{1}{3}\right)\right).$$

We have $\tilde{t} = \frac{1}{2}$, we have that

$$\alpha[1] = \beta[1] = \|\alpha\| = \|\beta\| = \frac{1}{2}.$$

Consequently, $A_{\alpha} = B_{\beta} = 2$. For any $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in J$:

$$|g_1(t, u, v)| \le \frac{1}{10}|u| + \frac{1}{10}|v| + |f_1(t)|,$$

$$|g_2(t, u, v)| = \frac{1}{4}|u| + \frac{1}{4}|v| + |f_2(t)|.$$

Hence condition (H_1) is satisfied with

$$a_{1} = A_{1} = \frac{1}{10}, \quad c_{1} = \|f_{1}\|_{\left[0, \frac{1}{2}\right]},$$

$$b_{1} = B_{1} = \frac{1}{10}, \quad C_{1} = \|f_{1}\|_{\left[\frac{1}{2}, 1\right]},$$

$$a_{2} = A_{2} = \frac{1}{4}, \quad c_{2} = \|f_{2}\|_{\left[0, \frac{1}{2}\right]},$$

$$b_{2} = B_{2} = \frac{1}{4}, \quad C_{2} = \|f_{2}\|_{\left[\frac{1}{2}, 1\right]}.$$

For any $u, v, \bar{u}, \bar{v} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $t \in J$

$$|h_1(t, u, v) - h_1(t, \bar{u}, \bar{v})| \le \frac{1}{10}|u - \bar{u}| + \frac{1}{2}|v - \bar{v}|,$$

and

$$|h_2(t, u, v) - h_2(t, \bar{u}, \bar{v})| \le \frac{1}{10}|u - \bar{u}| + \frac{1}{10}|v - \bar{v}|.$$

Hence condition (H_3) satisfy with $\bar{a}_1 = \bar{a}_2 = \bar{b}_2 = \frac{1}{10}$ and $\bar{b}_1 = \frac{1}{2}$, consequently

$$\bar{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{10} & \frac{1}{2} \\ \\ \frac{1}{10} & \frac{1}{10} \end{pmatrix}.$$

we have for each $u, v \in \mathbb{R}$.

$$|I_1(u)| \le \frac{1}{6}|u| + 1,$$

$$|J_1(u)| \le \frac{1}{5}|u| + 1.$$

Thus condition (H_5) satisfied with $d_1 = \frac{1}{6}$, $D_1 = \frac{1}{5}$, $\bar{d}_1 = \bar{D}_1 = 1$ Then we have that

$$\bar{A} = 1 + d_1 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} = 1 + \left(\frac{1}{6}\right) \times 2 = \frac{4}{3}$$
$$\bar{B} = 1 + d_1 |1 - \alpha[1]|^{-1} = 1 + \left(\frac{1}{5}\right) \times 2 = \frac{7}{5}$$

For this Example

$$\tilde{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2}{15} & \frac{7}{50} \\ \frac{1}{3} & \frac{7}{20} \end{pmatrix}.$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{7}{30} & \frac{16}{25} \end{pmatrix}$$

Then

$$\tilde{M} + \bar{M} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{7}{30} & \frac{16}{25} \\ \frac{13}{30} & \frac{9}{20} \end{pmatrix},$$

which is convergent to zero because its eigenvalues are $\lambda_1 = 0,88 < 1$, $|\lambda_2| = 0, 2 < 1$. From Theorem (5.1.1), the problem (5.2.1)-(5.2.5) has at least one solution.

Conclusion and Perspectives

The object of this thesis is to study the existence of solutions for impulsive differential equations and systems of impulsive differential equations with local and non local conditions, we have also considerd the systems of implicite impulsive differential equation with non local conditions. We plan to look for the differential inclusions with delay and impulsive differential equations.

Abstract

In this work we discuss existence results for impulsive differential equation with non local conditions and systems of impulsive differential equations with local and non local conditions. Sufficient conditions are considered to prove the existence of solutions. Our results will be obtained by means of technique of fixed point theorems in generalized metric spaces, Leray Schauder continuation theorem and the vector version of Kras-nosel'skii's cone fixed point theorem.

Key words and phrases : Impulsive differential equations, matrix convergent to zero, generalized Banach space, fixed point, implicit differential equation, Leray Schauder degree.

Résumé

L'objectif de cette thèse est de présenter des résultats d'existence des solutions des systèmes d'équations différentielles avec impulsions. On a considéré des équations différentielles impulsives avec des conditions non locales et des systèmes d'équations différentielles impulsives avec des conditions locales et non locales et sur un intervalle non borné. Nos résultats sont basés sur les théorèmes du point fixe dans les espace de Banach généralisés et la théorie de degrée de Laray Schauder .

Mots et phrases clefs: Systèmes des équations différentielles impulsives, espace de Banach généralises, les équations différentielle implicite, théorème de continuation.

Bibliography

- R.P. Agarwal and D.O'Regan, Multiple nonnegative solutions for second order impulsive differential equations, *Appl. Math. Comput.*, **114** (2000), 51-59.
- [2] R.P. Agarwal and D. O Regan, A Multiplicity results for second order impulsive differential equations via the Leggett Williams fixed point theorem, *Appl. Math. Comput.* 161(2005), 433-439.
- [3] I. Altun and C.cevik, Some common fixed point theorems in vector metric spaces, *Filomat.*, 25(2011), 105-113.
- [4] C.D. Apliprantis and K.C. Border, *Infinite Dimensional Analysis*, Springer Berlin, 1999.
- [5] R.I. Avery and A.C. Peterson, Three positive fixed points of nonlinear operators on order Banach spaces, *Comput. Math. Appl.* **42**(2001) 313-322.
- [6] D. Bainov and P. Simeonov, Systems with Impulse Effect, Ellis Horwood, Chichister, 1989.
- [7] M. Benchohra, F. Berhoun and J. Henderson, Multiple positive solutions for impulsive bound- ary value problem with integral boundary conditions, *Math. Sci. Res. J*, **11** (12) (2007), 614-626.

- [8] M. Benchohra, E. P. Gatsori, L. G órniewicz and S. K. Ntouyas, defined evolution impulsive differential equations with non local conditions. *Fixed Point Theory*, 4(2):185-204, 2003.
- [9] M. Benchohra, J. Henderson, and S. K. Ntouyas, *Impulsive Differential Equations and Inclusions*, Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Vol.2, New York, 2006.
- [10] H. Berrezoug, J. Henderson, and A. Ouahab, Existence and uniqueness of solutions for a system of impulsive differential equations on the halfline, *J. Nonlinear Functional Analysis*, **2017** (2017), Article ID 38, pp. 1-16.
- [11] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled non local initial conditions, *Nonlinear Anal.* 4 (2014), 231–242.
- [12] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and P. Pietramala, Existence results for impulsive systems with initial nonlocal conditions, *Math. Model. Anal.*, 18 (2013), 599-611.
- [13] O. Bolojan and R. Precup, Implicit first order differential systems with nonlocal conditions, *Electron. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.*, **69** (2014), 1-13.
- [14] A. Boucherif. Nonlocal Cauchy problems for first-order multivalued differential equations, *Electron. J. Differential Equations*, pp. 47, 9 pp. (electronic), 2002.
- [15] A. Boucherif and R. Precup. On the nonlocal initial value problem for first order differential equations, *Fixed Point Theory*, 4(2)(2003), 205-212.
- [16] C. Çevik, I. Altun, Vector metric spaces and some properties, *Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal*, **34** (2009), 375-382.
- [17] X. Chen, X. Zhang, Existence of positive solutions for singular impulsive differential equations with integral boundary conditions on an infinite interval in Banach spaces, *Electronic. J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.* 28, 1-18.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [18] J. Chu and Z. Zhou, Positive solutions and eigenvalues of nonlocal boundary value problems, *Electron. J. Differential Equations*, No 89, 9 pp (2005).
- [19] B. Dai, H. Su and D. Hu, Periodic solution of a delayed ratio-dependent predator-prey model with monotonic functional response and impulse, *Nonlinear Anal.* **70** (2009), 126-134.
- [20] K. Deng, Exponential decay of solutions of semilinear parabolic equations with nonlocal initial conditions, *Math. Anal. Appl.* **179** (1993), 630-637.
- [21] S. Djebali and K. Mebarki, System of singular second-order differential equations with integral condition on the positive half-line, *Electron. J. Qual. Theory Dier. Equ.***50** (2013).
- [22] S. Djebali and K. Mebarki, Semi-positone sturm-liouville differential systems on unbounded intervals, Acta Math. Univ. Comenianae. 2 (2016), 231-259.
- [23] S.Djebali, T.Moussaoui and R. Precup, Fourth-order p-Laplacian nonlinear systems via the vector Version of Krasnoselskii's fixed point theorem, *Mediterr. J. Math*, 6 (2009), 447-460.
- [24] Y. Donghui and Y.changjum, Multiple positive solution to boundary value problems for a coupled systems of nonlinear semi positone fractional differential equations, *Chinese control and decision conference*. 1343-1348.
- [25] I. Ekeland and Roger Témam, Convex Analysis and Variational Problems, Corrected reprint of the 1976 English edition, Classics in Applied Mathematics, 28, Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, PA, 1999. Translated from the French.
- [26] A. M. A. El-Sayed, E. M. Hamdallah and Kh. W. Elkadeky, Internal nonlocal and integral condition problems of the differential equation x' = f(t, x, x'), J. Nonlinear Sci. Appl. 4(2003), No. 3, 193-199.
- [27] M. Feng, B. Du and W. Ge, Impulsive boundary value problems with integral boundary conditions and one-dimensional p-Laplacian, *Nonlinear Anal.*, **70** (2009), 3119-3126.
- [28] M. Feng and D. Xie, Multiple positive solutions of multi-point boundary value problem for second- order impulsive differential equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 223 (2009), 438-448.
- [29] M. Feng and X. Zhang, Existence result of second-order differential equations with integral boundary conditions at resonance, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 353 (2009), 311–319.
- [30] P. Fitzpatrick, M. Martelli, J. Mawhin and R. Nussbaum, topological methods for ordinary differential equations, Springer-Verlag, Berlin Heidelberg, 1993.
- [31] P. Georgescu and G. Morosanu, Pest regulation by means of impulsive controls, Appl. Math. Comput. 190 (2007), 790-803.
- [32] J. R. Graef, J. Henderson and A. Ouahab, Impulsive Differential Inclusions: A Fixed Point Approach, *De Gruyter Series in Nonlinear Analysis and Applications*, 20, de Gruyter, Berlin, 2013.
- [33] J. R. Graef, J. Henderson and A. Ouahab, Topological Methods for Differential Equations and Inclusions, *Monographs and Research Notes* in *Mathematics*, CRC Press, 2019.
- [34] J. R. Graef and A. Ouahab, Some existence results for impulsive dynamic equations on time scales with integral boundary conditions, *Dyn. Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst. Ser. A Math. Anal.*, **13B** (2006), 11-24.
- [35] A. Granas and J. Dugundji, *Fixed Point Theory*, Springer, New York, 2003.
- [36] D. Guo, Second order impulsive integro-differential equations on unbounded domains in Banach spaces, Nonlinear Analysis Theory, Methods Applications, 35, No.4, (1999). 413 423.
- [37] D. Guo, Multiple positive solutions of a boundary value problem for nth-order impulsive integro- differential equations in Banach spaces, *Nonlinear Anal*, 63(2005), 618-641.
- [38] D. Guo and X. Liu, Multiple positive solutions of boundary-value problems for impulsive differential equations, *Nonlinear Anal.* 25(1995), 327-337.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [39] C. P. Gupta, A second order m-point boundary value problem at resonance, Nonlinear Anal. 24 (1995), 1483–1489.
- [40] C. P. Gupta, Existence theorems for a second order m-point boundary value problem at resonance, *Internat. J. Math. Math. Sci.* 18 (1995), 705–710.
- [41] C. P. Gupta, S. K. Ntouyas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, Existence results for *m*-point boundary value problems, *Differ. Equ. Dynam. Syst.* 2 (1994), 289–298.
- [42] C. P. Gupta and S. Trofimchuk, Solvability of a multi-point boundary value problem of Neumann type, Abstr. Appl. Anal. 4 (1999), 71–81.
- [43] G. B. Gustafson and K. Schmitt, A note on periodic solutions for delaydifferential systems, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 42 (1974), 161–166.
- [44] A. Halanay and D. Wexler, Teoria Calitativa a Systeme cu Impulduri, Editura Republicii Socialiste Romania, Bucharest, 1968.
- [45] Y.He, Existence of positive solutions to second-order periodic boundary value problems with impulse actions, *Theoretical Mathematics and Applications*, 4, no.2, (2014), 79-91.
- [46] J. Henderson and R.Luca, Positive solutions for system of higher-order multi-points boundary value problems. *Computers and mathematics* with Applications, 62 (2011), 3920-3932.
- [47] J. Henderson and S.K. Ntouyas, Positive solutions for systems of nth Order three-point nonlocal boundary value problems, *Electronic J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.*,(2007).1-12.
- [48] D.Herlea, Existence and localization of positive solutions to first order differential systems with nonloca conditions, *Babes-Bolyai Math.***59**(2014), 221-231.
- [49] L.Hu and L.wang, Multiple positive solutions of boundary value problems for systems of nonlinear second-order differential equation, J. Math.Anal.Appl., 335(2007) 1052-1060.

- [50] G. Infante, F.M. Minhós and P. Pietramala, Non-negative solutions of systems of ODEs with coupled boundary conditions. *Commun. Nonlinear Sci. Numer. Simul.*, **17** (12):4952-4960, 2012.
- [51] G. Infante and P. Pietramala. Eigenvalues and non-negative solutions of a system with nonlocal BCs. *Nonlinear Stud.*, **16**(2):187-196, 2009.
- [52] G. Infante and P. Pietramala. Nonlocal impulsive boundary value problems with solutions that change sign. In Mathematical Models in Engineering, Biology and Medicine, volume 1124 of AIP Conf. Proc., pp. 205-213. Amer. Inst. Phys., Melville, NY, 2009.
- [53] T. Jankowski, Positive solutions for second order impulsive differential equations involving Stieltjes integral condition. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 74(11)(2011), 3775-3785.
- [54] T. Jankowski, Positive solutions to second order four-point boundary value problems for impulsive differential equations, *Appl. Math. Comput.*, **202** (2008), 550-561.
- [55] T. Jankowski, Positive solutions of three-point boundary value problems for second order impulsive differential equations with advanced arguments, Appl. Math. Comput., 197(2008), 179-189.
- [56] W. Jiang, Q. Zhang and W. Guo, Multiple positive solutions for second order impulsive differential equation, *Electronic J. Qual. Theory Differ. Equ.* 2013, 1-11.
- [57] G. L. Karakostas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, On a nonlocal boundary value problem at resonance, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 259 (2001), no. 1, 209-218.
- [58] G. L. Karakostas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, Sufficient conditions for the existence of nonnegative solutions of a nonlocal boundary value problem, *Appl. Math. Lett.* **15** (2002), no. 4, 401-407.
- [59] L. Karakostas and P. Ch. Tsamatos, Positive solutions for a nonlocal boundary-value problem with increasing response, *Electron. J. Differential Equations* **2000** (2000), 8 pp.
- [60] G. L. Karakostas and P. Ch.Tsamatos, Existence of multiple positive solutions for a nonlocal boundary value problem, *Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal.* 19(2002), 109-121.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [61] V. Lakshmikantham, D. D. Bainovo, and P. S. Simeonov, *Theory of Impulsive Differential Equations*, World Scientific, Singapore, 1989.
- [62] J. Leray and J. Schauder, Topologie et equations fonctionnelles (French), Ann. Sci. Ecole Norm. Sup. 3, (1934), 45–78.
- [63] E. K. Lee and Y. H. Lee, Multiple positive solutions of a singular Emden-Fowler type problem for second-order impulsive differential systems, *Bound. Value Probl.*, **2011** (2011), Art. ID 212980, 22 pp.
- [64] X.Liu, Y. Li, Positive Solutions for Neumann Boundary Value Problems of Second-Order Impulsive Differential Equations in Banach Spaces, Abstract and Applied Analysis, (2012), 1-14.
- [65] X. Lin, Existence of solutions to a nonlocal boundary value problem with nonlinear growth, *Bound. Value Probl*, **2011** (2011), Art. ID 416416, 15 pp.
- [66] J. Li and J. J. Nieto, Existence of positive solutions for multipoint boundary value problem on the half-line with impulses, Boundary Value Problems, Vol. 2009, Article ID 834158, 12 pages, 2009.
- [67] B. Liu and J. Yu, Existence of solution of the *m*-point boundary value problems for second-order differential systems with impulses, *Applied Math. Comput.* **125** (2002) 155–175.
- [68] L.Liu, Li. Hu and Y.Wu, Multiple positive solutions of Dirichlet boundary value problems for second order impulsive differential equations, *Nonlinear Anal*, **69** (2008), 3774-3789.
- [69] L.Liu, L.Hu and Y.Wu, Positive solutions of nonlinear singular twopoint boundary value problems for second-order impulsive differential equations, *App.Math.Comput.*196 (2008), 550-562.
- [70] L.Liu, L.Hu, Y.Wu, Positive solutions of two-point boundary value problems for systems of nonlinear second-order singular and impulsive differential equations, J.Math. Nonlinear Anal, 69 (2008), 3774-3789.
- [71] J.Mawhin, Leray-Schauder continuation theorems in the absence of a prior bounds, *Journal of the Juliusz Schauder Center*, vol 09 (1997), 179-200.

- [72] Y.Li and H.Zhang, Solvability for system of nonlinear singular differential equations with integral boundary conditions, *Bound. Value Prob* 2014.
- [73] J. Mawhin and K. Szymańska-de Bowska, Convex sets and second order systems with nonlocal boundar conditions at resonance, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 145 (2017), 2023–2032.
- [74] V.D. Milman and A.A. Myshkis, On the stability of motion in the presence of impulses, Sib. Math. J. (in Russian), 1 (1960), 233–237.
- [75] V.D. Milman and A.A. Myshkis, Randorn impulses in linear dynamical systems, in "Approximante Methods for Solving Differential Equations, *Publishing house of the Academy of Sciences of Ukainian SSR*, (1963) 64-81.
- [76] J. J. Nieto and R. Rodriguez-Lopez, New comparison results for impulsive integro-differential equations and applications, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 328 (2007), 1343-1368.
- [77] J. J. Nieto and R. Rodriguez-Lopez, Boundary value problems for a class of impulsive functional equations, *Comput. Math. Appl.* 55 (2008), 2715–2731.
- [78] O. Nica, Existence results for second order three point boundary value problems, *Differ. Equ. Appl.* 4 (2012), 547–570.
- [79] O. Nica, Initial-value problems for first-order differential systems with general nonlocal conditions, *Electron. J. Differ. Equ.*, **2012** (2012), No. 74, pp. 1–15.
- [80] O. Bolojan-Nica, G. Infante and R. Precup, Existence results for systems with coupled nonlocal initial conditions, *Nonlinear Anal*, 4 (2014), 231–242.
- [81] O. Nica and R. Precup, On the nonlocal initial value problem for first order differential systems, *Stud. Univ. Babes-Bolyai Math.* 56 (2011), No. 3, 125–137.
- [82] S.K. Ntouyas. Nonlocal initial and boundary value problems: a survey. In Handbook of Differential Equations: Ordinary Differential Equations, II (2005), 461–557.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [83] N. Nyamoradi and T.Bashiri, Multiple positive solutions for nonlinear fractional differential systems, *Fractional Differential Calculus*, 2 (2012), 119–128.
- [84] D. O'Regan and R. Precup, *Theorems of Leray-Schauder Type and* Applications, Gordon and Breach, Amsterdam, 2001.
- [85] R.Precup, A vector version of Krasnosel'skii's fixed point theorem in cones and positive periodic solutions on nonlinear systems, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl, 2(2007), 141–151.
- [86] A.I. Perov, On the Cauchy problem for a system of ordinary differential equations, *Pribliz. Met. Reshen. Differ. Uravn.* 2 (1964), 115–134 (in Russian).
- [87] R. Precup, Methods in Nonlinear Integral Equations, Kluwer Dordrecht, 2000.
- [88] R. Precup and D. Trif. Multiple positive solutions of non-local initial value problems for first order differential systems, *Nonlinear Anal*, **75**(15) (2012), 5961-5970.
- [89] R. Precup, Positive Solutions of Nonlinear Systems via the Vector Version of Krasnoselskii's Fixed Point Theorem in Cones, *Babes-Bolyai* Math,(2007),1–7.
- [90] B. Radhakrishnan and K. Balachandran, Controllability results for second order neutral impulsive integrodifferential systems, J. Optim. Theory Appl., 151 (2011), 589–612.
- [91] K. Rajendra Prasad and B. muralee Bala krushna, Existence of multiple positive solutions for a coupled system of iterative type fractional order boundary value problems, *J. Nonlinear Funct. Anal*, 2015.
- [92] S.N. Rao, Existence of multiple positive solutions for the system of nonlinear fractional order boundary value problem, International Journal of Analysis and Applications. 11 (2016), 81–92.
- [93] I. A. Rus, The theory of a metrical fixed point theorem: theoretical and applicative relevances, *Fixed Point Theory*, 9 (2008), 541–559.

- [94] I. A. Rus, Generalized Contractions and Application, Cluj University Press, Cluj Napoca, 2008.
- [95] A. M. Samoilenko and N. A. Perestyuk, *Impulsive Differential Equa*tions, World Scientific, Singapore, 1995.
- [96] J. H. Shen and J. L. Li, Existence and global attractivity of positive periodic solutions for impulsive predator-prey model with dispersion and time delays, *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.* **10** (2009), 227– 243.
- [97] J. Sun, H. Chen, J. J. Nieto and M. Otero-Novoa, The multiplicity of solutions for perturbed second-order Hamiltonian systems with impulsive effects, *Nonlinear Anal.*, 72 (2010), 4575–4586.
- [98] K. Szymaáska-Debowska, The solvability of a nonlocal boundary value problem, Math. Slovaca 65 (2015), 1027–1034.
- [99] W. Tong Li and H.R.Sum, Multiple positive solution for non linear dynamical systems on a measure chain, Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics. 162(2004), 421–430.
- [100] R. S. Varga, *Matrix Iterative Analysis*, Second revised and expanded edition, Springer Series in Computational Mathematics, 27, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000.
- [101] J. R. Wang, X. Li, and Y. Zhou, Nonlocal Cauchy problems for fractional order nonlinear differential systems, *Cent. Eur. J. Phys.* 11, (2013), 1399–1413.
- [102] W.B. Wang, J.H. Shen and J.J. Nieto, Permanence periodic solution of predator prey system with Holling type functional response and impulses, *Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc.* 2007, Art. ID 81756, **15** pp.
- [103] J. Wang and Y. Zhang, Solvability of fractional order differential systems with general nonlocal conditions, J. Appl. Math. Comput. 45 (2014), 199–222.
- [104] J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante. Positive solutions of nonlocal boundary value problems: a unified approach. London Math. Soc. (2), 74 (3), 673–693, 2006.

- [105] J.R.L. Webb and G. Infante. Non-local boundary value problems of arbitrary order. Lond. Math. Soc., (2) 79(1), 238-258, 2009.
- [106] X. Lin, Existence of solutions to a nonlocal boundary value problem with nonlinear growth, *Bound. Value Probl.* (2011), Art. ID 416416, 15 pp.
- [107] S. L. Xi, M.Jia and H. P. Ji, Positive solutions of boundary value problem for systems of second-order differential equations with integral boundary condition on the half line, *Electron. J. Qual. Theory Difer. Equ.* **31** (2009), 13pp.
- [108] W. Yang, Three-point boundary value problems for a coupled system of nonlinear fractional differential equations, *App.Math et Informatics*, **30**(2012), 773–785.
- [109] W. Yang, Positive solutions for a coupled system of nonlinear fractional differential equations with integral boundary conditions, Computers and Mathematics with Applications, 63(2012), 288–297.
- [110] P.P. Zabrejko, K-metric and k-normed lineair spaces: survey, collect Math, 48, No. 4-6, (1997), 825–859.
- [111] S. T. Zavalishchin and A. N. Sesekin, *Dynamic Impulse Systems, Theory and Applications*, Mathematics and its Applications, **394**, Kluwer, Dordrecht, 1997.
- [112] E. Zeidler, Nonlinear Functional Analysis, Vol.I, Fixed point theorems, Springer, Berlin, 1993.
- [113] G. Zeng, F. Wang, and J. J. Nieto, Complexity of a delayed predatorprey model with impulsive harvest and Holling-type II functional response, Adv. Complex Syst, 11 (2008), 77–97.
- [114] X. Q. Zhang, Positive solutions of singular multipoint boundary value problem for systems of nonlinear second-order differential equations on infnite intervals in Banach spaces, *Bound. Value Probl.* (2009), Art. ID 978605, 22 pp.
- [115] H. Zhang, L. S. Chen, and J. J. Nieto, A delayed epidemic model with stage structure and pulses for management strategy, *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.* 9 (2008), 1714–1726.

- [116] M. Zhang and Y. Liu, Existence of solutions for implicit fractional differential systems with coupled nonlocal conditions, *advances in analy*sis, 2, No. 1,(2017).
- [117] H. Zhang, W. Xu, and L. Chen, A impulsive infective transmission SI model for pest control, *Math. Methods Appl. Sci*, **30** (2007), 1169–1184.
- [118] Y. Zhang and R. Wang, Nonlocal Cauchy problems for a class of implicit impulsive fractional relaxation differential systems, J. Appl. Math. Comput, 52 (2016), 323–343.
- [119] X. M. Zhang, X. Z. Yang and M. Q. Feng, minimal nonnegative solution of nonlinear impulsive differential equations on infinite interval, *Bound Value Prob*, **2011**, Article ID 684542, 15 pages.